



Rate Study of KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT and WESTAR ENERGY for the years 2008 to 2018

**DECEMBER 2018** 

We serve the people of Kansas...

# Table of Contents

I.	Exe	ecutive Summary	1
А		Background	1
В		Purpose of Rate Study	2
С		Method of Data Gathering and Analysis	4
D	).	Overview of Findings and Conclusions	6
E	•	The Future of Electric Rates for Westar and KCP&L in Kansas:	8
II.	The	Regulatory Compact	9
А		The Utility-Regulator Relationship	9
В		Management Discretion	10
С	•	Reasonable Management Presumed	11
III.		Statutory Provisions, Case Law, and Policy Decisions	12
А	<b>.</b> .	Statutory Provisions	12
	i.	Balancing of Interests	.13
	ii.	Public Interest Standard	.15
В	•	Case Law	15
С		Commission Precedential Orders and Policy Decisions	16
D.	Bas	ics of Ratemaking	17
А	<b>.</b> .	Just and Reasonable Rates	17
В		The Rate Case Process	18
С	•	The Test Year	21
D	).	Revenue Requirement Calculation	22
E	•	Determining the Rate Structure	28
	i. B	illing Determinants	.29
	ii.	Class Cost of Service	.29
	iii.	Rate Design	.32
	iv.	Rate Comparisons among Utilities	.34
E.	Imp	pacts of State and Federal Mandates on Electric Utility Capital Investment	35
A.		Capital Investments	35
В		State and Federal Mandates Impacts on Utility Capital Investment	36
	i.	United States Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Mandates	.36

ii.	Renewable Energy Standard – K.S.A. 66-1258
VI.	Impact of Capital Costs on Rates
A.	Regulatory Treatment of Capital Investment
B. treatm	Statutory Provisions Regarding Valuation and Predetermining the ratemaking nent of investments
i. seq	Valuation of Property and Determination of Prudence – K.S.A. 66-128 et. . 39
ii. or 7	Determination of Rate-Making Principles and Treatment for Electric Generating Transmission Facilities – K.S.A. 66-123940
C.	Mitigating Factors Offsetting the Impact of Capital Investment Costs
i.	Declining Cost of Debt42
ii.	Declining Return on Equity43
iii.	Kansas ROE Decisions Compared to National Average44
VII.	Legislatively Mandated and Commission Authorized Adjustment Clauses 45
A.	Legislatively Mandated Adjustment Clauses 46
i.	Transmission Delivery Charge – K.S.A. 66-1237
ii.	Ad Valorem Property Taxes – K.S.A. 66-117(f)47
iii. – K	Energy Efficiency Surcharge and Kansas Energy Efficiency and Investment Act .S.A. 66-1283
B.	Commission Authorized Adjustment Clauses 49
i.	Energy Cost Adjustment
ii.	Environmental Cost Recovery Rider
VIII.	Overview of Litigated vs. Settled Rate Case History in Kansas
A.	Litigated Rate Cases
B.	Rate Case Settlement Agreements
i.	Kansas Law Favors Settlements
ii.	Commission Five Factor Test for Settlements
iii.	Authorized Revenue Requirement Increase Versus Utility Revenue Request 53
IX.	Economic Factors Impacting Public Perception of Electric Utility Rates 54
A.	Kansas Electric Rates Compared to Disposable Income
B.	Kansas Electric Rates Compared to Business Income
C.	Ratepayer Perception of Rate Increases Versus Additional Value Provided 57
X. Reg Higher-1	gulatory Research Associates Views Kansas as Having a Less Constructive, risk Regulatory Climate

XI.	History of Kansas City Power & Light and Westar Rates 2008 to 2018
А.	Historical Rates 2008 to 2018
i.	Kansas Average Price of Electricity
ii.	KCP&L Average Prices
iii.	Westar Average Prices
iv. Rate	Comparing Kansas, KCP&L, and Westar Average Rates with the US Average es
B.	History of Rate Change Requests and Approvals 2008 to 2018
C.	General Rate Case Overviews
XII. Levels, a	Peer Review—Benchmarking, Evaluation of Factors Contributing to 2017 Rate and Change in Rates from 2008-2017
А.	Purpose of the Peer Review
B.	Scope of the Peer Review
C.	Data Sources and Methodology
D.	Discussion of Findings
i.	Net Plant/Retail MWh101
ii.	Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh
iii.	Industrial Sales Levels Vs. Retail Rates
E.	Detailed Examination of Westar and KCP&L Cost Drivers 113
F.	Peer Company Benchmarking and Cost Driver Review
G.	Conclusions Drawn from Peer Review
XIII.	Future of Electric Rates for KCP&L and Westar in Kansas

# List of Exhibits:

Exhibit 1—Graph of Westar Cost Driver Analysis, Change in Rates/MWh Vs. Change in Cost Drivers/MWh

Exhibit 2—Graph of KCPL Cost Driver Analysis, Change in Rates/MWh Vs. Change in Cost Drivers/MWh

Exhibit 3—Table of Retail Revenue/KWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 4—Table of 1st Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. 2017 Retail Rate Revenue/kWh

Exhibit 5—Table of 2<sup>nd</sup> Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. 2017 Retail Rate Revenue/kWh

Exhibit 6—Table of 1<sup>st</sup> Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. Change in Retail Rate Revenue/kWh 2008-2017

Exhibit 7—Table of 2<sup>nd</sup> Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. Change in Retail Rate Revenue/kWh 2008-2017

Exhibit 8—Graph of Coal-Fired and Gas-Fired Generation Capacity Vs. Change in Net Power Production Expense from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 9—Graph of Coal-Fired and Gas-Fired Generation Capacity Vs. Change in Retail Rate Revenue from 2008-2017

Exhibit 10—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Vs. 2017 Net Power Production Expense/MWh

Exhibit 11—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh Vs. Change in Net Power Production Expense/MWh 08-17

Exhibit 12—Graph of Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, and Change (Sorted by 2008 Levels)

Exhibit 13—Graph of Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, and Change (Sorted by Change Since 2008)

Exhibit 14—Table of Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 15—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Total O&M Expense/MWh

Exhibit 16—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh Versus Change in Total O&M Expense/MWh –

Exhibit 17—Graph of Total Electric O&M Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by 2008 Levels)

Exhibit 18—Graph of Total Electric O&M Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change from 08-17)

Exhibit 19—Table of Total O&M Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 20—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Net Plant Per Retail MWh

Exhibit 21—Graph of 2017 Change in Retail Revenue/kWh Versus Change in Net Plant/Retail MWh 2008-2017

Exhibit 22—Table of Net Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 23—Graph of Net Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Net Plant)

Exhibit 24—Graph of Depreciation Expense/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Depreciation Expense)

Exhibit 25—Table of Depreciation Expense/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 26—Graph of Net Production Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Net Production Plant)

Exhibit 27—Table of Net Production Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 28—Graph of Net Transmission Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 29—Table of Net Transmission Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 30—Table of Net Distribution Plant/Retail MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 31—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Industrial Sales MWhs

Exhibit 32—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Industrial Sales as a % of Total Retail Sales

Exhibit 33—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh 2008 to 2017 Versus Change in Industrial MWh Sales

Exhibit 34—Graph of Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Total Retail MWh Sales

Exhibit 35—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh 2008 to 2017 Versus Change in Total Retail MWh Sales

Exhibit 36—Graph of Total Retail Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Total Retail Sales)

Exhibit 37—Table of Total Retail Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 38—Graph of Residential Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Residential Sales)

Exhibit 39—Table of Total Residential Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 40—Graph of Commercial Retail Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Commercial Sales)

Exhibit 41—Table of Total Commercial Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 42—Graph of Industrial Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Industrial Sales)

Exhibit 43—Table of Industrial Sales MWhs, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 44—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus Level of Customers Served in 2017

Exhibit 45—Table of Number of Customers, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008-2017

Exhibit 46—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/KWh Versus A&G Expense/Mwh

Exhibit 47—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017, Versus Change in A&G Expense/MWh

Exhibit 48—Graph of A&G Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008 to 2017 (Sorted by Change in Total A&G Expense/MWh)

Exhibit 49—Table of A&G Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 50—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Total Salaries and Wages/MWh

Exhibit 51—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017 Versus Change in Total Salaries and Wages/MWh

Exhibit 52—Graph of Total Salaries and Wages/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008 to 2017 (Sorted by Change in Total Salaries and Wages)

Exhibit 53—Table of Total Salaries and Wages/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 54—Graph of Total Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Distribution Expense/MWh

Exhibit 55—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh 2008 to 2017 Versus Change in Distribution Expense/MWh

Exhibit 56—Table of Distribution Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change in Distribution Expense from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 57—Graph of 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh Versus 2017 Transmission Expense/MWh

Exhibit 58—Graph of Change in Retail Revenue/kWh 2008 to 2017 Versus Change in Transmission Expense/MWh

Exhibit 59—Graph of Transmission Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change in Transmission Expense/MWh from 2008-2017 (Sorted by Change in Transmission Expense/MWh)

Exhibit 60—Table of Transmission Expense/MWh, 2008 Levels, 2017 Levels, Change in Transmission Expense/MWh from 2008 to 2017

Exhibit 61—Graph of Coal-Fired Vs. Natural Gas-Fired Capacity of Peer Group

Exhibit 62-Staff's Calculation of Westar's Environmental Base Rate Increases

Exhibit 63—Staff's Calculation of KCP&L's Environmental Base Rate Increases

Exhibit 64—Analysis of Cost Components of Westar General Rate Case Dockets

Exhibit 65—Analysis of Cost Components of KCP&L General Rate Case Dockets

# I. Executive Summary

#### A. Background

This rate study is intended for a broad audience that includes all of Kansas City Power & Light Company's (KCP&L) and Westar Energy, Inc.'s (Westar) customers and shareholders, the Governor's office, the Kansas Legislature, as well as any other interested parties. Therefore, Kansas Corporation Commission Staff (KCC or Commission and Staff respectively) has attempted to make this study as explanatory as possible.

Current concerns regarding the competitiveness of Kansas electricity prices compared to other regional states began around 2015. A number of stakeholders started to express concerns to Staff through informal meetings or to the Commission and Staff explicitly through testimony in a rate case. For example, Kansas Industrial Consumers Group, Inc. (KIC) is an organization consisting of Westar's industrial customers. KIC is an active participant in Westar's rate cases and generally files extensive testimony. During Westar's 2015 rate case, KIC witness Michael Gorman raised the issue in his testimony by pointing out that Westar's residential and commercial customer rates are the fifth highest in the region, and requesting the Commission to direct Westar to be a more efficient and lower-cost provider.

KIC continued to address its concerns by supporting both legislation and concurrent resolutions in several variations during the 2018 Session.<sup>1</sup> Several iterations of the legislative proposals "urge[d] the State Corporation Commission to take any and all lawful action to promptly reduce Kansas retail electric rates to regionally competitive levels...and to take any and all lawful action to maintain Kansas retail electric rates at regionally competitive levels."<sup>2</sup> The concerns raised by KIC during the 2018 legislative session spilled over into the political races in the fall of 2018. Most comments made during the 2018 political races involved the notion that Kansas' electric rates are too high compared to surrounding states. However, a few comments implied the Commission is not protecting ratepayers.

For those not intimately familiar with the regulatory process used to set rates, it is understandable as to why a conclusion might be reached that Kansas's electric rates should be lowered in order to be regionally competitive. One reason is that electricity appears to be a fungible product.<sup>3</sup> And in fact, the end product available at a customer's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, Senate Bill 356, Senate Concurrent Resolution 1610, and Senate Concurrent Resolution 1612, 2018 Legislative Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, Senate Concurrent Resolution 1612, 2018 Legislative Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Homogenous products are "[p]roducts that vie with each other in a market but which (from the consumer's viewpoint) have little or no differentiation in terms of features, benefits, or quality and are, therefore, forced to compete on price or availability." http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/homogeneous-goods html

electric panel is a fungible product. One can plug-in a laptop or flip a light switch in Kansas, Oklahoma, or Missouri and both will turn on instantaneously, which – from a consumers viewpoint – has no differentiation in terms of the service provided by the utility in each state. However, each electric utility has to build an integrated system to generate, transmit, and distribute electricity efficiently to its customers within its designated service territory. These integrated systems are far from homogenous as they may have a vastly different mix of generation assets, longer or shorter number of miles of transmission lines, and may have a higher concentration of distribution assets due to having a more urban service territory. These are only part of the reasons why different utilities have different cost structures, which translate into higher or lower rates.

In addition, during the public hearings for Westar's most recent rate case (Docket No. 18-WSEE-328-RTS), several members of the legislature spoke and urged the Commission to consider an "independent" rate study. For Staff's part, we see no need to hire an outside consulting firm to conduct an independent study for several reasons. First, Staff has the expertise to conduct a rate study. And Staff is charged by statute with balancing a variety of interests and so is necessarily independent. Therefore, the use of Staff would be a more judicious use of public funds as compared to incurring the expense of hiring a consultant.<sup>4</sup> Moreover, the data used is publically available and the analysis conducted is based on standard utility metrics. Thus, any entity interested in critiquing and/or verifying the conclusions reached should be able to do so by using the exhibits attached to this study. Second, bias concerns regarding any independent study can always be asserted by parties not associated with the hiring of the consultant conducting the study. Most assertions of bias are based on a claim that the entity hiring the consultant has instructed the consultant to reach a predetermined outcome or to slant results to reach a more favorable outcome.<sup>5</sup>

B. Purpose of Rate Study

During the 2018 Legislative Session, KCC Staff (Staff) was engaged in settlement negotiations with the parties to the KCP&L and Westar merger proceeding. In order to address the concerns about Westar and KCP&L's rates, the parties to the non-unanimous settlement included a settlement condition to require a rate study.<sup>6</sup>

The purpose of this rate study is to comply with the Commission-authorized settlement agreement by identifying, documenting, and explaining the major differences between surrounding states rates and the rates of Westar and KCP&L. This rate study also provides a detailed examination of the regulatory process so that the reader can better understand the role of the Commission, its Staff, intervening parties, the utility, and the respective legal rights each entity has in the rate setting process. From Staff's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, Section III. A. for an explanation of Staff's role.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Staff is familiar with such claims due to the number of consultants hired by utilities, Staff, and other intervening parties that participate in cases filed with the KCC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Non-Unanimous Settlement Agreement, ¶ 9, Docket No. 18-KCPE-095-MER, (Mar. 7, 2018).

perspective, a critical component of understanding how Westar and KCP&L's rates have grown from 2008 to 2018 (Study Period) is the complex and detailed process by which rates are set.

The Commission's rate setting process ensures that any rate increase or decrease is thoroughly vetted through an extensive record developed by the utility, Staff, and intervening parties representing the various customer classes (*e.g.*, residential, commercial, and industrial). Moreover, the legal requirement for due process and the right for an appellate review of any Commission rate decision ensures that the rate setting process relies on the record and all applicable laws. Staff also notes that no singular rate case or event led to the increase in rates from 2008 to 2017. Westar and KCP&L's rate increases are generally due to the cumulative effect of prior capital investments during a period of declining volumetric sales.

For both KCP&L and Westar, these capital investments were driven by three factors:

- 1) Environmental regulations that required the retrofitting of existing coal-fired generating units, which required billions of dollars in new investment;
- 2) New fossil fuel generating facilities (Emporia Energy Center for Westar and Iatan 2 for KCP&L), which were determined necessary at the time to meet forecasts for growing demand and to provide needed reliability to the grid when renewable generation was not operating; and
- 3) New renewable generation facilities built to comply with renewable energy standards (historically) or to take advantage of the economics and long-term price stability offered by these investments (more recently).

Additionally, Westar has made significant investments in its transmission system to upgrade and replace an aging system, to better enable wholesale competitive markets, and to aid in the development of renewable energy in SPP—primarily wind-powered generation. Lastly, KCP&L has seen a significant increase in its net costs of energy production, primarily as a result of the loss of wholesale electricity margins that were once available as a benefit to customers to offset the higher capital costs associated with a coal-heavy generating fleet. These margins have largely disappeared, due to the precipitous decline of natural gas prices and the influx of significant amounts of wind energy in the SPP region. The end result being the significant decline in wholesale market prices seen in the SPP region over the study period.

As discussed in more detail in Section XI. A., which describes the rate history of KCP&L and Westar; 68.78% of Westar's rate increases during the study period can be attributed to increases that were driven by environmental retrofits, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)-regulated transmission delivery charges (TDC), or fuel and purchased power increases. Similarly, 62.16% of KCP&L's increases can be attributed to the same three factors.

#### C. Method of Data Gathering and Analysis

As will be more fully developed later, the settlement agreement in the Westar and KCP&L merger included language requiring a rate study. The settlement language further stated that "To this end, Applicants and Staff have decided to conduct a review (*either jointly or individually*) to identify the major differences between surrounding states' rates and the Applicants' rates in order to better understand and document the major contributors to any differences..."<sup>7</sup> In discussing our respective plans to meet the merger conditions, Staff, Westar, and KCP&L decided to complete the rate study individually. However, Staff, Westar, and KCP&L did coordinate efforts so the peer companies, data sources, and standard utility industry metrics contained in each of our independent rate studies would be comparable.<sup>8</sup>

In developing the narrative describing the rate setting process, Staff cites from a number of utility industry specific sources, including *The Process of Ratemaking* by Leonard Saul Goodman and several reports issued by SNL Financial (SNL) and Regulatory Research Associates (RRA).<sup>9</sup> Staff also cites to specific Kansas statutes as well as relevant court cases.

With regards to the peer review, Staff, Westar, and KCP&L coordinated the selection of the utilities within Kansas' region (peer group) to include in the study. This study identified the peer group as all regulated investor-owned utilities (IOUs) in Kansas and the surrounding states of Colorado, Missouri, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Iowa, Minnesota, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Texas.<sup>10</sup> Nebraska is excluded from the surrounding states included in the rate study because it is served by public power and does not have any vertically integrated IOUs. The peer group included in the study includes every utility meeting the above characteristics in the states identified, totaling 23 companies including KCP&L and Westar. The peer group is as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Non-Unanimous Settlement Agreement, ¶ 9, Docket No. 18-KCPE-095-MER, (Mar. 7, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Staff's Rate Study uses the period 2008-2018 (cost data through 2017), KCP&L and Westar's Rate Study uses the 2007-2018 period (cost data through 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> S&P Global jointly owns SNL and RRA. SNL is sometimes referred to as S&P Global Market Intelligence. S&P Global is a subscription-based data service that covers the utility industry as well as banks, investors, and government agencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Empire District Electric Company (Empire) is a Kansas vertically-integrated utility. While Empire is a peer company, it is not included with Westar and KCP&L in a direct rate comparison to the other peer companies. This is primarily because Empire was not a party to the merger agreement and Kansas represents only approximately 5% of Empires service territory, which is primarily Missouri.

		SNL Institution		
	Name of Company	Key	Ultimate Parent	Regulated States
1	ALLETE Minnesota Power	4061513	ALLETE Inc.	MN, ND
2	Black Hills Colorado Electric Utility Company, LP	4215172	Black Hills Corporation	CO
3	Black Hills Power	4058912	Black Hills Corporation	SD, WY
4	El Paso Electric	4056994	El Paso Electric	AZ, NM, TX
5	Empire District Electric Company	3005475	Algonquin Power and Utilities Corp.	KS, MO, AR, OK
6	Entergy Arkansas, Inc.	4056995	Entergy Corporation	AR, LA
7	Entergy Texas, Inc.	4199135	Entergy Corporation	LA, TX
8	Interstate Power and Light Company	4057087	Alliant Energy Corporation	IA
9	Kansas City Power & Light Company	4072456	Evergy, Inc.	KS, MO
10	KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company	4000843	Evergy, Inc.	MO
11	MDU Resources Group	4010692	MDU Resources Group	MT, SD, ND, WY
12	Mid American Energy Company	4057091	Berkshire Hathaway	IL, IA, SD
13	Northern States Power	4057754	Xcel Energy, Inc.	MN, SD, ND
14	Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company	4061951	Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company	MN, WI
15	NorthWestern Corporation	4057053	NorthWestern Corporation	IA, MT, ND, SD, WY
16	Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company	4057016	OGE Energy Corp.	OK, AR
17	Otter Tail Power Company	4147257	Otter Tail Corporation	MN, ND, SD
18	Public Service Company of Colorado	4057094	Xcel Energy Inc.	CO
19	Public Service Company of Oklahoma	4057023	American Electric Power Company, Inc.	OK, TX
20	Southwestern Electric Power Company	4057026	American Electric Power Company, Inc.	AR, LA, TX
21	Southwestern Public Service Company	4057027	Xcel Energy Inc.	NM, TX
22	Union Electric Company	4057102	Ameren Corporation	MO
23	Westar Energy, Inc.	4057066	Evergy, Inc.	KS, OK

States Covered: All Vertically Integrated IOUs in Kansas, Missouri, Texas, Oklahoma, Colorado, Iowa, Arkansas, South Dakota, North Dakota, Minnesota

The data regarding Westar, KCP&L, and the peer group utilities used to support Staff's analysis comes from publically available sources. These sources include the FERC, U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA), U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), and SNL/RRA. The primary source of the data used included FERC Form 1 financial and operational results for each year as well as EIA data. Staff accessed that data using a data aggregation and analysis tool known as SNL Financial, an offering of S&P Global Market Intelligence. Additionally, the data used to compile detailed rate change histories for KCP&L and Westar was sourced from the record of the individual rate case dockets for each company, which is available on the Commission's public website.

Staff's analysis consisted of a comparison of every major facet of the peer group utilities' cost structures and sales profiles. The data is presented for each of the 23 companies in the peer group for 2008 and 2017 as well as the change between these years and rate of growth. Most of the cost comparisons in the Rate Study are performed using costs per MWh (Megawatt Hour) of electricity sales. This allows cost comparisons to be meaningful across different sized utilities. It also allows Staff to evaluate these cost drivers as a proportion of each utility's overall Retail Revenue per kWh (kilowatt hour) or MWh.<sup>11</sup> Staff also compared total Retail Revenue per kWh and the Change in Retail Revenue per kWh from 2008 to 2017 against several cost drivers found in the data. These comparisons allowed Staff to analyze and explain how other utilities in the region

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> There are 1000 kWhs in a MWh, as such, conversion of cost data per MWh to a per kWh basis is as easy as dividing the number by 1000. For example, Westar's all in retail rate revenue was \$.1032/kWh in 2017. Also, its net power production expense was \$24.35/MWh at the same time. Accordingly, we can see that 23.59% of Westar's all in rate revenue was needed to cover its net power production expense (.02434/.1032=23.59%).

have been able to either: (1) reduce rates during the study period, or (2) increase rates slower than Westar and KCP&L during the study period.

It is also noteworthy that the analysis places more emphasis and focus on the revenue requirement components of each peer company rather than the actual rates. There are several reasons for this. First, the total amount of revenue necessary to recover capital investments, a return on capital investments, operating expenses, administrative and general expenses, and income taxes that affect the final rates of a utility is one of two drivers of rates. Volumetric sales of electricity is the second significant factor driving the level of rates. Therefore, understanding the differences in peer company's capital investments, depreciation, operating expenses, and administrative and general expenses will provide the most insight as to the identification of differences in rates. Second, volumetric sales of electricity is a significant factor driving the level of rates. And understanding changes in each peer company's volumetric sales over time as well as the differences in volumetric sales between each peer company will also provide insight into rate differences. Finally, direct rate comparisons between utilities is generally not meaningful. As this study will explain, there are a large number of considerations that go into the actual rate design of a specific utility. The end result is that the customer charges, demand charges, base rates, and number and types of riders and surcharges are different between every utility, making direct comparisons of tariffed rates meaningless.

# D. Overview of Findings and Conclusions

The study finds that Westar has gone from a utility with the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest Retail Revenue per kWh (\$.0662/kWh) in the study group in 2008, to a utility with the 9<sup>th</sup> highest overall retail rates in the group (\$.1032/kWh) in 2017. This was the 4<sup>th</sup> largest increase in rates in the group. Staff found this rise in rates is almost entirely attributed to Westar's increase in Capital Investment (Net Plant per Retail MWh) —the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest increase in the group. In particular, Westar's transmission expense has increased significantly during this time frame. Westar has also experienced Declining Sales due to above average losses in total retail sales, particularly industrial sales.

Westar's capital investment can primarily be attributed to environmental retrofits and transmission investments. In fact, Staff's analysis shows that almost 60%<sup>12</sup> of Westar's rate increases granted in the last 10 years were driven by government-mandated environmental retrofits or FERC-regulated transmission investments.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Staff's detailed analysis of Westar's rate history below, in which 59.87% of Westar's historical rate increases were driven by environmental projects or transmission-delivery charges, authorized pursuant to K.S.A 66-1237.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Pursuant to K.S.A 66-1237, Westar's investments in transmission assets, and its other transmission expenses are to be "…conclusively presumed prudent…" and Westar is allowed to charge customers for these transmission costs 30-days after filing a report with the Commission.

Staff also found that KCP&L has gone from a utility with below average rates in 2008 (14<sup>th</sup> in the study group, \$.0725/kwh), to a utility with the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest rates in the study group, at \$.1198/kWh. This was the largest increase in rates in the study group from 2008 to 2017. Staff found this could be attributed to three main factors: (1) KCP&L's increase in capital investment (Net Plant per Retail MWh), which grew by the 4<sup>th</sup> largest margin during this time frame; (2) KCP&L's Net Power Production Expense per Retail MWh, which grew by the largest margin in the group during this period because of its generation mix; and (3) KCP&L's loss of retail sales, which was the 5<sup>th</sup> largest loss of these sales out of the 23-company study group.

KCP&L's capital investments are primarily the result of environmental retrofits at LaCygne and Iatan 1 coal-fired generating units and the construction of a new coal-fired generation unit, Iatan 2. KCP&L's increase in net fuel costs is attributed to increases in coal costs to run its generators, and the loss of profit from wholesale energy sales from excess coal production. Both coal costs and the profits from wholesale energy sales flowed through the energy cost adjustment (ECA). The increase in coal costs increased the ECA and, because the profits from wholesale energy sales reduced the ECA, the decline in wholesale energy profits also raised the ECA for retail customers. The profits from wholesale energy sales from excess coal production dried up because of the decline of natural gas prices and the rapid influx of zero marginal cost wind-powered energy in the Southwest Power Pool (SPP). Staff calculates that 62% of KCP&L's rate increases over the study period were driven by environmental investments, increases in net power production expenses, or FERC-regulated transmission charges authorized pursuant to K.S.A 66-1237.

Another important finding of the study is that the rate increases experienced by Westar and KCP&L over the last 10 years have not been due to mismanagement of overheads and discretionary expenses by these companies. Both Westar and KCP&L have managed to grow Administrative and General Expenses per MWh slower than the average company in the study group from 2008 to 2017, Westar ranking 16<sup>th</sup> highest and KCP&L 15<sup>th</sup> highest. The same goes for Total Salaries and Wages per MWh; Westar's change in this cost category ranks 14<sup>th</sup> highest in the study group (10<sup>th</sup> lowest) and KCP&L ranks 11<sup>th</sup> highest (13<sup>th</sup> lowest). Both were below the average rate of growth for this cost category.

Staff also found the three major drivers that have impacted Westar and KCP&L's rates during this time frame have worked to the benefit of several of the peer group utilities. For example, the three utilities with the largest rate declines from 2008 to 2017, are the three utilities with the highest percentage of natural gas-fired generation capacity of the study group. Another benefit for these three utilities with a high percentage of natural gas-fired capacity is the avoidance of capital investments in environmental retrofits such as those required of Westar and KCP&L. Lastly, there are some utilities in the group that have experienced significant growth in industrial or total retail sales, which directly contributes to lower rate levels.

E. The Future of Electric Rates for Westar and KCP&L in Kansas:

Staff's conclusions regarding the reasons for the increases in both Westar and KCP&L's rates are primarily due to 1) capital investments related to environmental improvements and additional fossil-fueled generation resources, the addition of renewable resources, and transmission system projects 2) declining volumetric sales, and (3) a generation portfolio mix heavily weighted to coal-fired generation rather than gas-fired generation, the latter of which is currently less expensive due to low natural gas prices.

The capital investments in environmental improvements, new generation sources, additional renewable resources, and transmission system projects have already been made and these investments are currently in rates. The inclusion of these investments in rates was evaluated through the rate setting process described in detail in this study. Additionally, in a number of cases, the predetermination statute (K.S.A. 66-1239) was used to establish the prudence of the capital investments. Because these investments have been evaluated and are now included in rates, subsequently removing them from rates runs afoul of numerous regulatory principals and legal protections.

The declining volumetric sales in the Residential, Commercial and Industrial rate classes are not within the control of either Westar or KCP&L. Rather, these declines appear to be a symptom of broader economic conditions in Kansas as well as organic energy efficiency.<sup>14</sup>

Both Westar and KCP&L's current generation capacity mix is heavily weighted to coalfired generation. This effectively forecloses the companies from being able to take advantage of lower gas fuel prices. Thus, the only recourse for Westar and KCP&L is to continue to evaluate through an integrated resource process whether the current coal-fired units continue to be cost effective resources.

However, the recently completed merger between KCP&L and Westar will enable the newly formed parent company (evergy) to create savings that neither Westar nor KCP&L could create as stand-alone companies. The merger is forecast to achieve approximately \$800 million in merger and non-merger related costs savings. These costs savings, coupled with the completion of both company's major capital plans, will bring price stability and may lead to further rate reductions. Moreover, Staff, Westar, and KCP&L are currently engaged in developing a capital expense reporting process as well as an integrated resource planning (IRP) model to provide greater transparency for capital investments budgeted in the near-term as well as longer-term resource planning. Staff also notes that any increase in volumetric sales during the next five years will place downward pressure on rates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Organic Energy Efficiency is energy efficiency implemented by homeowners and businesses outside of a formal energy efficiency program. For example, homeowners who purchase energy efficient appliances, HVAC systems, or LED light bulbs on their own and without any utility incentive through a formal program are creating organic energy efficiency.

Both Westar and KCP&L recently completed post-merger rate cases that resulted in rate reductions of \$66 million and \$10.7 million respectively.<sup>15</sup> These rate reductions were largely possible because of the cumulative effect of the guaranteed level of merger savings noted above as well as the reduction in income tax expense related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Staff also notes that, because the Commission's approved merger conditions contain a five-year base rate moratorium, the 2018 rate reductions are the last rate changes for the next five years.

# II. The Regulatory Compact

# A. The Utility-Regulator Relationship

In the broadest context, the regulatory compact is a summary of the intent of the legal framework that establishes the relationship between a public utility and a regulatory body. This legal framework includes all of the statutory provisions, case law, rules and regulations, and Commission policies under which a utility is regulated.

SNL Financial and Regulatory Research Associates (SNL and RRA) have provided a concise and accurate description of the regulatory compact as follows:<sup>16</sup>

The regulatory compact is an agreement codified by statute and case law that is unique to the utility space and calls for: the utility to provide safe, reliable and reasonably priced service; the commission to provide the utility with a reasonable opportunity to recover its costs and earn a return similar to that of other investments that have similar risk characteristics; the customer to pay the approved rates; and, the investor to supply the capital necessary to maintain or expand the utility system.<sup>17</sup>

SNL and RRA further explained the rational underlying the regulatory compact as follows:

The utility sector is unlike any other sector of the economy. In a competitive industry, customers have numerous purchasing options. In the automotive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Westar's \$66 million reduction includes the assumed effect of rebasing the Ad Valorem Tax Rider, base rates were actually reduced by \$50.3 million in this case. Likewise, KCP&L's \$10.7 million reduction includes the assumed effect of rebasing the Ad Valorem Tax Rider, base rates were actually reduced \$3.96 million in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> SNL and RRA are two leading utility research and analysis firms that combined in 2005. Combined, SNL/RRA provide subscription-based expert analysis through commentary, articles, and research papers on various news events as well as critical regulatory issues to investment banks, investors, utilities, and government agencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> RRA Regulatory Focus, The rate case process: a conduit to enlightenment, p.1. (July 3, 2018). (RRA, The rate case process).

or consumer products industry, customers can select from the product offerings of many different providers, and product quality and price have considerable influence on consumer purchasing decisions. If a seller's prices are too high or the quality of the product does not meet the customer's standards, the customer can select the wares offered by another seller. Prices in competitive industries are set by supply and demand in the marketplace.

Utilities, on the other hand, cannot simply set up shop wherever they choose. Utilities are natural monopolies because their capital costs are enormous. Monopolies, by definition, also have high barriers to entry. However, a company with monopoly power cannot be allowed to operate without oversight. If they could, the price of the company's product could be exorbitant. Hence, the state utility commissions were created to regulate the rates charged by the utilities and together with the utilities themselves, investors and customers, comprise [the regulatory compact].<sup>18</sup>

#### B. Management Discretion

The need for a utility's management to use its discretion to make important business decisions is a critical component of understanding the relationship between a utility and its economic regulator. In Kansas, a utility is charged with a critically important responsibility to provide efficient and sufficient service at just and reasonable rates. It is therefore important that a utility's management is free to make business decisions as to how to meet its statutorily charged responsibility, while still being held accountable for its decisions by its economic regulator. This relationship has been defined as follows:

It is, at best, an oversimplification that a just and reasonable rate is a question of sound business judgement. Regulatory agencies have only limited authority to interfere with discretionary power of utility management over legitimately internal affairs of a company subject to economic regulation. An agency is not a "super board of directors" for the regulated company.<sup>19</sup>

Regulatory agencies do not have the responsibility to manage any company; their function is solely to regulate their activities in accordance with statutory standards and regulatory policy. An agency, therefore, does not order a company to acquire specific resources, but it may order that the company consider specific standards in formulating an integrated resource plan and that it submit such plan for commission review.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> RRA, The rate case process, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Leonard Saul Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 132. Internal cites omitted. (Public Utility Reports, Inc., 1998). (Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, pp. 134. Internal cites omitted.

While the definition and regulatory theory described above may seem to indicate that utility management is free to make its business decisions with little recourse, utility management is also keenly aware that its economic regulator will review its decisions after the fact and can disallow costs incurred by the utility. However, any cost disallowance by an economic regulator must be based on evidence, case specific facts, statutory guidelines, or prior precedent. For example, the *Process of Ratemaking* states the following:

An agency will not defer to the utility's knowledge of the market, such as the market for gas supplies. "General knowledge and experience in the gas industry is insufficient, without more, to demonstrate the reasonableness of a utility's gas purchasing decision-making," whether the utility deals with affiliated or unaffiliated companies.<sup>21</sup>

In other words, a utility's management cannot rely solely on its business judgement as the singular source of evidence that its decision will result in a just and reasonable rate. Rather, the utility's management must provide sufficient evidence through its documentation and analysis that the business decision will result in a just and reasonable rate.

#### C. Reasonable Management Presumed

K.S.A. 66-101b requires a utility to provide "efficient" service. In doing so, reasonable management is presumed on the part of the utility unless specific findings of inefficient management can be documented. *The Process of Ratemaking* states:

Unless there is direct evidence of mismanagement, regulatory agencies will presume that management has properly performed its duties. The presumption can be overturned with evidence of extravagance or of needless expenditures of money, waste, or enormous salaries. Actual cost may far exceed present value of the properties used and useful in the public service; or the company may simply have been unwisely built, in localities where there is insufficient business. In the absence of any satisfactory showing along one of these or similar lines, the company's evidence, that over a reasonable period earnings above operating expenses have been insufficient to pay capital charges on money invested in the enterprise, will sustain a finding that forced rate reductions are unjust and unreasonable.<sup>22</sup> [Internal cites omitted.]

However, a utility does have the burden to provide documentation through reports or other information that demonstrate its efficient operations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, pp. 134. Internal cites omitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Goodman, The Process of Ratemaking, p. 840.

The legal framework that encompasses the statutory provisions, case law, rules and regulations, and policies for Kansas' utilities in a rate setting context is addressed in more detail in the next section of this study.

# III. Statutory Provisions, Case Law, and Policy Decisions

There are a large number of Kansas statutes, relevant case law, rules and regulations, and Commission precedential and policy decisions that encompass the legal framework under which the Commission's jurisdictional electric utilities are regulated. This study will not summarize or define each one. Rather, this section will attempt to reference and explain the most relevant statutes, case law, and Commission policies that affect the manner in which the Commission is legally required to establish rates.

#### A. Statutory Provisions

As noted in the discussion of the Regulatory Compact above, "The regulatory compact is an agreement codified by statute and case law that is unique to the utility space and calls for the utility to provide safe, reliable and reasonably priced service; the commission to provide the utility with a reasonable opportunity to recover its costs and earn a return similar to that of other investments that have similar risk characteristics; the customer to pay the approved rates; and, the investor to supply the capital necessary to maintain or expand the utility system." [Emphasis added.] Another way to state the Regulatory Compact's requirement to provide "safe, reliable and reasonably priced service" is to say that a Kansas utility is required to provide "efficient and sufficient service" and to establish "just and reasonable rates". In Kansas, the utility is mandated to provide efficient and sufficient service and establish just and reasonable rates and the Commission is mandated to require such per K.S.A. 66-101b, which states:

**66-101b.** Electric public utilities; efficient and sufficient service; just and reasonable rates. Every electric public utility governed by this act shall be required to furnish reasonably efficient and sufficient service and facilities for the use of any and all products or services rendered, furnished, supplied or produced by such electric public utility, to establish just and reasonable rates, charges and exactions and to make just and reasonable rules, classifications and regulations. Every unjust or unreasonably discriminatory or unduly preferential rule, regulation, classification, rate, charge or exaction is prohibited and is unlawful and void. The commission shall have the power, after notice and hearing in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure act, to require all electric public utilities governed by this act to establish and maintain just and reasonable rates when the same are reasonably necessary in order to maintain reasonably sufficient and efficient service from such electric public utilities. [Emphasis added.] In establishing just and reasonable rates, the courts have mandated the Commission consider certain interests. These include the following:

The Kansas Supreme Court mandates the Commission consider and balance *the interests of the utility's investors vs. the ratepayers, the present ratepayers vs. the future ratepayers, and the public interest.* "[C]ases in this area clearly indicate that the goal should be a rate fixed within the zone of reasonableness after the application of a balancing test in which *the interests of all concerned parties are considered.*" [Emphasis added]<sup>23</sup>

"The KCC is required to *balance* the public need for adequate, efficient, and reasonable service with the public utility's need for sufficient revenue to meet the cost of furnishing service and to earn a reasonable profit." [15-115 Order at ¶ 71, citing Danisco Ingredients USA, Inc. v. Kansas City Power & Light Co., 267 Kan. 760, 773 (1999)]. [Emphasis added].

There is also a constitutional basis for the just and reasonable standard. If the Commission were to set rates that specifically favor customers over investors by ignoring legitimate utility costs and investments, then the Commission will most likely have violated the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment as well as the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The *Process of Ratemaking* describes this issue as follows:

The Fifth Amendment provides that, "No person shall...be deprived of...property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public uses without just compensation." The Fourteenth Amendment provides that "No State ...shall deprive any person of...property, without due process of law..."

A just and reasonable rate is a constitutional rate, but, as we shall see, a rate need not pass every just and reasonable test, which indeed may vary from state to state, to pass muster as a constitutional rate.

The judiciary at first attempted to formulate their own threshold test for a constitutionally approved rate of a regulated company. The experiment was eventually abandoned in deference to the emerging just and reasonable standard already applicable to those companies.<sup>24</sup>

#### i. Balancing of Interests

As noted previously, the Commission is charged with a balancing test in which the interests of all concerned parties are considered when setting rates. However, achieving a balanced approach to setting rates does not mean that the Commission must always adopt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Order Approving Stipulation and Agreement, Docket No. 15-WSEE-115-RTS (September 24, 2015) (15-115 Order) at ¶ 71 citing Kansas Gas and Elec. Co. v. State Corp. Com 'n, 239 Kan. 488 (1986).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 24

the midpoint of a particular issue in dispute when setting rates. The appropriate approach is described in the *Process of Ratemaking* as follows:

An agency that is satisfied that opposing views are both well supported in the record may adopt the midpoint between the parties' positions as a reasonable resolution of the matter. A reviewing court well may be satisfied that the agency reached its decision by exercising a judgement to "split the difference" between opposing views.<sup>25</sup>

There is a limit to an agency's resolving issues by striking a middle ground between opposing views. An exercise of discretion and judgement does not necessarily produce only a middle ground position between opposing views. An agency may indeed need to reject outright positions outrageously stated or unfounded in logic or the evidence. In such cases, it should substitute reasoned analysis of the issues, even when there are a seeming multitude of issues to be resolved.<sup>26</sup>

...[If] an agency constantly assumes that it will attain a proper balance between opposing interests by striking a middle ground, it will merely encourage the parties before it to stake out outrageous positions. Each party will but reasonably assume than it will fare much better in such "balance," if it asks for far more that it should reasonably expect to obtain, and "on balance" still receives more than it might otherwise obtain by more discrete evidence.<sup>27</sup>

The proper balance of interests may require, not the automatic acceptance of a middle ground, but rather, a) a full understanding and analysis of each party's position; and b) if necessary to reach a fair result, the full acceptance of a party's position on a given issue.<sup>28</sup>

In order to reach a balanced decision, the Commission typically accepts (or adopts) one party's position on a given issue after hearing all sides and weighing the evidence. The Commission rarely "splits the difference" and, when it does, it is generally because equal evidentiary weight can be given the opposing parties positions. Staff also notes that it is our role to balance the interests of the ratepayer with the interest of the shareholder in addressing every case before the Commission. Staff's role is required because all parties<sup>29</sup> to a rate case, or any other type of case, are advocating for their specific interests and are therefore not attempting to balance the interests of the ratepayer and the shareholder. Staff's role is unique to the rate setting process and requires a careful and diligent approach in developing positions that strike an appropriate balance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Goodman, The Process of Ratemaking, p. 128

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 128.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Goodman, The Process of Ratemaking, p. 129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Goodman, The Process of Ratemaking, p. 129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> "Parties" are discussed in more detail in Section IV., but generally consist of the utility and intervening parties such as industrial customers.

### ii. Public Interest Standard

The "public interest" is derived from various statutory requirements throughout K.S.A. Chapter 66. When the Commission exercises its delegated administrative power, it is protecting and promoting the public interest (i.e., the welfare of the people). The State's police power exists to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the public.<sup>30</sup> Generally speaking, the public interest is served when ratepayer interests are carefully considered and protected.<sup>31</sup> In the context of a rate case, the public interest is served when ratepayers are protected from unnecessarily high prices, discriminatory prices, and/or unreliable service. The public interest standard can also vary based on the type of case and the decision required from the Commission. For example, mergers and acquisitions have a specific set of standards established that must be evaluated in order to determine whether the proposed transaction meets a public interest standard.

B. Case Law

The term "case law" refers to law that comes from previous decisions made by courts in previous cases. Case law provides a common contextual background for certain legal concepts, and how they are applied in certain types of cases.

Statutory laws are created by legislative bodies, such as the Kansas Legislature. While statutory laws provide rules and guidelines, it is impossible for any legislative body to anticipate all situations and legal issues. The court system is charged with interpreting the law when it is unclear or in dispute as to a case-specific issue. The courts decide cases based on the applicable law, precedent, and the fact-specific circumstances of the case at hand. These court decisions become a precedent for future cases with similar facts.

Case law is also specific to the jurisdiction in which the decision is made. Generally, case law from a different jurisdiction, such as a different state, it is not enforceable in Kansas. However, if there is no precedent in Kansas, the relevant case law from another state may be used as persuasive authority in Kansas.

Because of the complexity of the issues that arise in utility matters, Staff researches case law from other states in order to gain an insight into the rationale used to decide certain issues. Of course, case law from Kansas generally requires Staff to follow the guidelines stemming from the court's decision in a case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See Manzanares v. Bell, 214 Kan. 589, 606 (1974).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See Kansas City Power & Light Co. v. State Corp. Comm'n, 238 Kan. 842,846 (1986).

C. Commission Precedential Orders and Policy Decisions

The Commission designates precedential orders as such. The Commission's website lists its precedential orders and states the following:

Precedential orders may bind parties, establish policies, or interpret statutes or regulations in a way that applies against a person or company that was not a party to the original order. The KCC cannot treat an order as precedential unless the agency designates the order as precedential and makes the order available to the public...

On the other hand, policy decisions generally are guidelines established by the Commission through an order for a certain issue or issues. While Commission policies may not be binding on parties in the same manner as a precedential order, any party that wishes to take an approach contrary to a Commission policy will have to make a compelling argument that the facts and circumstances specific to their issue(s) warrant a different approach.

The rationale behind establishing Commission precedent and policy has been described as follows:

The administrative agencies, like the courts, cite and rely on their prior decisions to maintain consistency and fairness in their administration of their enabling statutes. Decisions from other jurisdictions can be instructive and useful; statutory and decisional law from other jurisdictions provide "persuasive authority by analogy."<sup>32</sup>

Precedent is relevant on the basis of the broader legal principal that "the starting point" for just and reasonable rates is any long-standing business practice that has arisen with respect to such rates. "A change cannot be made without either a reasoned explanation or a finding that such a practice is unjust and unreasonable."<sup>33</sup>

The binding effect of precedent is also manifest in the principle that all similarly situated regulated utilities should be treated alike. An agency will attempt to apply its cost terms and definitions uniformly to the various utilities that are subject to its rules, whether or not the rules and practices are formally codified.<sup>34</sup>

There are limits on an agency's resting on precedent. It cannot rely on precedent to the exclusion of the evidence on the record before it for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, pp. 129-130. Internal cites omitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 130. Internal cites omitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 130. Internal cites omitted.

decision. An agency's failure to base its findings on the evidence of record is reversible error on appeal to the courts.<sup>35</sup>

The courts are not concerned with the consistency or inconsistency of agency decisions, as such, but they will require agencies to explain their departures from current precedent. The judicial role here is less to enforce consistency than to require each agency decision to contain a rational basis before it will pass judicial scrutiny. Its primary role is to require regulatory even-handedness in the agency's dealing with the company and its customers.<sup>36</sup>

# D. Basics of Ratemaking

# A. Just and Reasonable Rates

As noted previously, in establishing just and reasonable rates, the Commission has used Kansas Supreme Court case law and has described its mandate as follows:

The Kansas Supreme Court mandates the Commission consider and balance *the interests of the utility's investors vs. the ratepayers, the present ratepayers vs. the future ratepayers, and the public interest.* "[C]ases in this area clearly indicate that the goal should be a rate fixed within the zone of reasonableness after the application of a balancing test in which *the interests of all concerned parties are considered.*" [Order Approving Stipulation and Agreement, Docket No. 15-WSEE-115-RTS (September 24, 2015) (15-115 Order) at ¶ 71 citing Kansas Gas and Elec. Co. v. State Corp. Com 'n, 239 Kan. 488 (1986)]. [Emphasis added.]

In order to meet the Kanas Supreme Court's mandate and follow the Commission's statutory obligations, the KCC follows a quasi-judicial process in determining a revenue requirement and the resulting rate design. This section discusses the rate case process as well as the pertinent aspects of determining the revenue requirement and rate design. Much of this section also relies on the RRA Topical Special Report *The Rate Case Process: A Conduit to Enlightenment* (RRA Special Report) for the narrative describing the ratemaking process because RRA has done an excellent job of distilling a complex discussion into a clear and concise narrative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 131. Internal cites omitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 132. Internal cites omitted.

#### B. The Rate Case Process

RRA's Special Report describes the rate case process as follows:

A rate case is a quasi-judicial process, although there is no jury and the final outcome is determined by the commission. In some jurisdictions, the commission presides over the hearings and all aspects of a case, but in most instances the commissioners get involved at the end of the proceeding, and make their decision after reviewing the entire case record. The process is complicated and costly, sometimes taking as long as two years to be completed. So utilities do not enter into a rate case lightly.

The process begins with the utility's filing, which includes the testimony of several witnesses. The company quantifies the additional revenue it believes it needs to recover its operating costs, depreciation expense and taxes, and allow its shareholders to earn a reasonable return. Each witness supports a specific aspect of the company's filing, e.g., depreciation, rate of return or pension costs. The commission will schedule a series of local public hearings that offer ratepayers an opportunity to speak their mind about whatever it is the utility is proposing. Technically speaking, the commission is not supposed to let the comments from these hearings factor into their decisions on case-specific issues because the comments are not part of the case record. [Note: This statement is not correct for Kansas because the Commission does enter public comments into the record of a rate case.] However, commissioners are not immune to the public outcry that generally accompanies a rate case.

At some point during the process, after the intervenors have had a chance to digest the company's application, they will file their direct testimony, in which they outline their recommendations and their respective positions on various proposals put forth by the company. These parties will critique nearly every aspect of the utility's request, with the recommendations tailored to suit the needs of the relevant constituent group. Usually it is the commission's staff, a state attorney general and/or another state agency that represents the public interest, primarily as it relates to residential customers, and their stance on rate case matters tends to be very different from that of the company. [Note: In Kansas, CURB represents residential and small business ratepayers while Staff represents the public generally]. Every jurisdiction is different, but intervening entities can also include an individual large commercial or industrial customer or a consortium of such customers that may have a rather limited focus, a municipality or group of municipalities in which the utility operates, a group seeking to advance an environmental agenda and/or an organization that advocates for the needs of a particular segment of the population, such as retired ratepayers. [Note:

In Kansas, interveners in electric investor-owned utility rate cases typically consist of the Citizen's Utility Ratepayer Board and large industrial customers, significantly affected school districts, consortiums of industrial consumers (examples include the Kansas Industrial Consumers Group, Inc. and Midwest Energy Consumers Group), large commercial customers (examples include Walmart, Inc. and Kroger Company), and other interested parties. It is not uncommon for fifteen to twenty individual interveners to be involved in a single Westar or KCP&L rate case. In the most recent Westar rate case, Docket No. 18-WSEE-328-RTS, there were 21 interveners].

After this initial round of testimony, more testimony is filed in which the parties address their concerns with the positions laid out in earlier rounds of testimony, and sometimes they will hold firm on their positions. But more often than not, the parties will begin settlement discussions to see if they can arrive at some sort of middle-of-the-road position, either on certain issues or on all of the outstanding issues in the proceeding. At the very least, this will narrow the gap between the parties' respective revenue requirement positions. If a consensus can be reached with respect to a stipulated rate increase, then the parties — at least some of them — will sign a settlement and file it with the commission. A settlement will generally shorten the timeframe required to complete a rate case, since some of the other steps in the process can be eliminated.

If the parties are unable to reach a comprehensive agreement on the outstanding issues, the case will proceed on a litigated track. What that means is that the commission will need to rely on the evidence in the case as it develops a final decision on these issues. Frequently, a commission administrative law judge will issue a proposed order, effectively a recommendation, for the commissioners to consider for approval. At this point, the commissioners will hold a meeting and vote on a final order, and some commissions allow the public to listen in on their dialogue. The public may still not know what's included in the order, but at least they can feel that they're informed. Other commissions will simply issue their order with little advance notice. [Note: In Kansas, the Commission does not use administrative law judges. The Commission deliberates and votes on order during regularly scheduled business meetings.]

Although the commission may have issued a final order, the case may not be completed, especially litigated cases, as the utility and some of the intervenors may not agree with aspects of the commission's order. The company may feel that the authorized ROE is out of line with prevailing industry returns, or the consumer advocate or attorney general may contend that the commission had no legal justification for allowing implementation of a rate rider.

For parties with objections to the final outcome, the initial remedy would be in the form of a request for reconsideration, and the parties can attempt to substantiate their claims. From that point, the commission could simply affirm its earlier order, or amend that order in light of a new or compelling argument presented during the reconsideration process.

Once the commission acts on the requests for reconsideration, any further amendatory requests would need to be made in the form of a legal appeal to a court with jurisdiction over the commission's orders. The appeals process can be drawn out, and it's not uncommon to see utility rate matters get tied up in court for several years. But just because a commission's order is on appeal doesn't mean that the utility is prohibited from filing a new rate case. The appeals process does not have to play out in its entirety before another case can be filed. By and large, most commission decisions typically have been upheld by the courts. However, the court may remand or reverse a decision if the commission's ruling is determined to be in violation of law.<sup>37</sup>

A graphical representation of the rate case process is provide below that outlines the major steps involved in the process as well as the overall time line (240 days by statute) and an approximation of the number of pages of documents that make up the official record for a rate case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> RRA, The rate case process, pp. 2-3.



C. The Test Year

RRA's Special Report describes the importance of the test year as follows:

An analysis of a utility's revenue requirement begins with the selection of a test year, which is simply a 12-month period of time to use as a base line in examining the utility's actual revenues and expenses, if an historical test year is chosen, or a forecast of the utility's revenues and expenses for a future 12-month period if a fully forecasted test year is selected. A hybrid approach can also be used that is essentially a blend of both methods. [Note: Historical test years are used in Kansas.]

Using its test year financial data as the starting point, the utility proceeds to make adjustments for items that may not be representative of its operations going forward. For example, the utility may have filed a rate case on Jan. 1, 2018, and chosen a test year that ended on June 30, 2017. A wage increase for the company's unionized employees may have become effective in

September 2017, but is not reflected in the financial results for the 12 months ended June 30, 2017. The approved rate change will not be implemented until late-2018, at which point the wage increase has long since been in place, so the utility will adjust its per books labor expense level upward to reflect this in the new case.

Alternatively, the summer cooling season for an electric utility during the test year could have been abnormally hot, and the company's kilowatt-hour sales could have been abnormally high. In that situation, an adjustment to the utility's test year revenues could be warranted, which all else being equal, would have the effect of showing a greater need for a rate increase. Ideally, the utility will seek to select a test year and make appropriate adjustments to provide a representative picture of what its financial performance will be like during the first year that the new rates are in effect.<sup>38</sup>

#### D. Revenue Requirement Calculation

RRA's Special Report describes calculating the revenue requirement and rate change as follows: <sup>39</sup>

#### Revenue Requirement = ROR (Rate Base) + Operating Expenses + Depreciation + Taxes

The above equation gives rise to the company's total revenue requirement. However, the process must shift to the determination of the *rate change* that is required, so that the company can achieve its total revenue requirement. In simple terms, the commission reviews the utility's revenue and prudent costs for the selected test year, and considers the resulting earnings for that period of time. If the company's earnings are determined to be inadequate,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> RRA, The rate case process,, p. 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Since the traditional utility regulation formula is based on costs, the process used to determine a utility's revenue requirement begins with the expression below. At this point, this is pure accounting and not unique to the utility space (Revenue - Operating Expenses - Depreciation - Taxes = Net Operating Income). In the next equation, revenue has been isolated on the left side and has been renamed "revenue requirement" (Revenue Requirement = NOI + Operating Expenses + Depreciation + Taxes).

In the third iteration of the formula, net operating income, or NOI, has been replaced with the product of the utility's rate of return and its net assets. Since NOI includes the funds necessary to service all of the utility's securities, e.g., debt, preferred stock and common stock, NOI must equal the product of the overall rate of return, or cost of capital, and the asset base. It is essentially the pool of money left over for investors after all of the direct costs of doing business have been satisfied (Revenue Requirement = ROR (Net Assets) + Operating Expenses + Depreciation + Taxes). In the fourth version shown above, net assets has been renamed "rate base," which is a regulatory term that refers to the company's net utility assets, as determined by the commission, that are "used and useful" in the provision of service to ratepayers.

a rate increase is authorized. Conversely, if earnings are found to be too high, a rate reduction can be ordered.

The following expression is the common formula for calculating a rate change, which in industry speak means the additional revenue the utility is proposing, or that an intervenor is recommending or that the commission is authorizing. The equation has three variables — or four, if you count the tax factor — and these variables are shown in bold, and everything else is the result of plugging the appropriate variable into the equation.

	Rate of Return*
X	Rate Base*
	Required NOI
-	NOI Under Current Rates*
	NOI Deficiency
х	Tax Factor
	Revenue Adjustment

\* Rate Case Variable

*Rate of Return* — The first variable in the expression is rate of return, which is the result of a weighted average cost of capital calculation, and includes the cost of debt and the cost of equity. [Note: For illustration purposes, an example of the weighted average cost of capital calculation from a recent Kansas rate case is inserted below.]

				Weighted
	Staff	Capitalization	Cost of	Cost of
	Adjusted	Ratios	Capital	Capital
Long-Term Debt	2,549,380	50.9113%	4.9253%	2.5075%
Preferred Stock	0	0.0000%	0.0000%	0.0000%
Common Equity	2,458,112	49.0887%	9.3000%	4.5652%
Total	5,007,492	100.0000%		7.0727%

Example from KCP&L Rate Case, Docket No. 18-KCPE-480-RTS

While the cost of a company's debt securities can be gleaned by reviewing the stated cost rates for each particular debt issue, there is no such stated return for common equity. If an investor were to buy a utility stock, he or she would not be promised any specific return on their investment. There is no coupon rate for common equity and the return will simply be the sum of any dividend income the investor will receive over time and the price appreciation or price reduction experienced during the holding term.

What does this mean in terms of calculating the ROE? It means that informed individuals can disagree markedly on what the appropriate return should be, even though they rely on established financial theory to arrive at an estimate for the "cost" of equity. In utility rate cases, the estimated ROE is very subjective and even slight variations to the inputs in the formulas commonly used for estimating it can produce significant differences between what each party thinks is an acceptable equity return for the company.<sup>40</sup>

*Estimating the ROE* – There are several methodologies for estimating an ROE for a utility in a rate case, although there are a select few that are consistently recognized by utility commissions.

Discounted cash flow, or DCF — The DCF model calculates ROE by dividing the company's dividend, in dollars, by its observable market price, and then adding an assumed growth rate, as shown below.

# **Dividend/Market Price + Growth Rate = Required return on equity**

If a company's dividend is expected to grow at different rates over a period of time, then a multi-stage DCF approach can account for this. The DCF model is one of the standard formulas for estimating ROE in rate cases, but as is the case with any formula or model, the output is only as good as the inputs, so it is important to make reasonable assumptions regarding the growth rate.

Capital Asset Pricing Model, or CAPM — The CAPM is also given significant weight by the commissions and is depicted below.

# Risk-free rate + [Expected market return premium x Utility stock's beta]

#### = Required return on equity

The CAPM uses, as the starting point for determining the ROE, the yield on a long-term U.S. Treasury bond. This rate is the risk-free rate of return in the formula. Since all securities are, by definition, riskier than the riskless government bond, an ROE for those securities will need to reflect some sort

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> RRA, The rate case process, p. 6.

of premium over the risk-free return. The CAPM approach adds the product of the utility stock's beta —the systematic risk factor for the company, calculated by looking at the relationship of the stock's historical price movements versus those of the broader market — and a market return premium. The market return premium is simply the expected "excess" return for the stock market over the risk-free rate, and it's also calculated with historical price movements in mind. The sum of the risk-free rate and the product of the stock's beta and the market return premium will give you an estimate of an appropriate ROE for a utility.<sup>41</sup>

*Comparable Earnings* – Many commissions consider the results of a comparable earnings analysis when establishing an authorized ROE. This approach assumes that a given investment should earn a return similar to that of investments with similar risk characteristics. Generally speaking, utility commissions have a preference for the DCF and CAPM methodologies, and instead of relying on one or the other, they'll often take an average of the ROE estimates these two models produce.

Certain factors may impact the ROE ultimately authorized. For example, if the utility is an electric distribution company with no regulated generation, the commission may consider this company to be a lower-risk entity, and authorize a slightly lower ROE than it would for a fully integrated electric company. In addition, commissions may authorize a slightly lower ROE for companies that utilize several adjustment clauses that allow for timely recognition of changes in certain expenses outside of a general rate case. Over the years, there have also been ROE authorizations that reflected incentive awards for superior management performance or less-than-stellar service quality.

The bottom line is that there is no "correct" way to calculate an appropriate ROE. As is the case with most financial models, the output is only as good as the input, which means that estimating the variables in any ROE formula is an important undertaking.<sup>42</sup>

*Rate Base* — The second variable in the calculation shown above is the rate base value. At a very basic level, rate base is a utility's prudent capital investment, as authorized by the commission, net of accumulated depreciation. Rate base may include other items such as commission approved deferred costs, known as regulatory assets, employee pension accruals and items that may be used to offset the value of rate base, such as accumulated deferred income taxes, or ADIT, and customer deposits. But in its simplest form it is the "used-and-useful" net asset base from which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> RRA, The rate case process, pp. 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> RRA, The rate case process, p. 10.

the utility provides service to customers and upon which it is allowed to earn a rate of return.

For electric utilities doing business in non-restructured jurisdictions, rate base includes the net value of its investments in generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure. [Note: Kansas has not restructured.] In states that have restructured their electric markets and where the generation supply is now competitively procured, the generation assets are no longer included in the rate base calculation. In restructured jurisdictions, legacy utility generation plants have either been divested entirely to a merchant generation company or transferred to an affiliate of the utility and these plants are no longer economically regulated.

Calculating rate base can be complicated due to certain policy considerations. For example, what period of time should the commission use to measure rate base? Should it be a specific historical date, with "known-and-measurable changes" recognized? Should it be a date in the future that contains projections? Using projections generally produces a higher rate base. Should rate base be determined as of the end of the rate case test year — a year-end valuation — or should it be based on the average of the monthly rate base values over the course of the test year? Does the commission include construction work in progress, or CWIP, in rate base?

Including CWIP in rate base allows the utility to collect a cash return on the asset under construction prior to completion. If CWIP is not included in rate base, accounting standards dictate that the utility is to record a non-cash adder, known as allowance for funds used during construction, or AFUDC, which represents the accrued financing charges associated with CWIP that is not yet included in rate base. AFUDC is equal to the assumed rate of return on the CWIP balance, with the amount included on the utility's income statement during the period in question. With AFUDC, during construction, earnings remain whole but there's no impact on the company's cash flows. Once the plant is completed, the accumulated AFUDC is generally included in rate base as plant-in-service. Several states have statutes that prohibit the inclusion of CWIP in rate base...<sup>43</sup>

*NOI Under Current Rates* — The third variable in the equation is what's known as NOI under current rates, which is basically the NOI the utility would be expected to achieve if its rates were to be left untouched. This figure is pulled from one of the financial exhibits the utility submitted in its rate case application and it includes adjustments such as employee wage increases. It's another variable that can vary considerably in a rate case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> RRA, The rate case process, pp. 7.

As an example, an increased executive incentive compensation expense, all else being equal, would lead to a lower NOI under current rates, and, working through the rate change formula shown on page 4, a greater need for a rate increase. But this variable cuts both ways. The intervenors in a rate case might recommend that a portion of the company's executive incentive compensation expense be disallowed, and excluded from the calculation of this variable, if it's demonstrated that the cost was tied to a financial metric that only benefitted shareholders. Disallowing recovery of these costs would result in a higher NOI under current rates, and would lead to less of a need for a rate increase. The list of potential NOI adjustments is extensive, but there is ample opportunity for the company and the parties to propose adjustments that can significantly impact the revenue requirement in the case.

The required NOI will be compared to the NOI under current rates and the difference is referred to as the NOI deficiency, indicating a need for a rate increase, or the NOI sufficiency, suggesting that rates should be reduced. This amount is a net amount that needs to be grossed up for taxes, since the utility is permitted to collect amounts that will be remitted to the taxing authorities. Generally speaking, corporate taxes will take a 20-30% bite out of pretax income, so multiplying the NOI deficiency or sufficiency by about 1.4 — the reciprocal of 70% — will give you the top-line revenue change number.<sup>44</sup>

#### Authorized vs. Earned ROEs

A utility's authorized ROE is that which has been specified by the commission in a rate case for the company, and it is used to calculate the overall return that is applied to the utility's rate base and reflected in the rates that customers are charged. By contrast, the earned ROE reflects actual results achieved by the company over a period of time. The two numbers don't have to be equivalent, and they're usually not.

Commissions are required by the regulatory compact to provide the utility with a "reasonable opportunity" to earn the authorized ROE, but that is by no means a guarantee. Utilities are not guaranteed any sort of return by their regulators, although for some regulatory frameworks that are based on a formulaic or performance-based ratemaking structure, this isn't necessarily true. But those circumstances are not the norm.

Assuming the commission did not adopt any meaningful disallowances in the utility's most recent rate case and the test year that was used in the case was not too old, the company may be able to earn that return if it operates the business efficiently. However, for those utilities that are continually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> RRA, The rate case process, p. 8.

subject to "regulatory lag" — meaning that their authorized revenue requirement does not reflect the full value of the investments that are currently being used to provide service — they may never be able to earn their authorized ROEs.<sup>45</sup>

*Operating and Maintenance Expenses* – Operating expenses included in a rate case are from the test period selected, which in Kansas is a historic test year. Operating and maintenance expenses can be adjusted from historical levels in order to include an annualized level of expense or to update the test period with known and measurable changes. Many of the more complicated and controverted adjustments that are involved in a rate case proceeding are adjustments involving the proper level of O&M expenses. Examples include the proper level of payroll expense to include in the adjusted test year and whether incentive compensation paid to executives should be born be ratepayers. It is not uncommon for 50 adjustments to be proposed to the utility's proposed level of O&M expense during a major rate case.

*Depreciation and Amortization Expenses* – Depreciation and amortization expenses are also based on a historical test year and include adjustments to recognize changes in depreciation and amortization rates or changes in test year depreciable plant (e.g., recognition of depreciation requirements on year-end plant balances added to the rate base through CWIP).

*Taxes* – Tax expenses included in the revenue requirement include property taxes, payroll taxes, franchise taxes, as well as income taxes.

E. Determining the Rate Structure

The last stage in the rate making process is translating the utility's revenue requirement into customer rates that will recover the revenue requirement—the creation of the rate structure. The two steps in the creation of the rate structure are (1) the allocation of the revenue requirement among rate classes, and (2) the development of customer rates for each class.

The two foundations needed to translate the revenue requirement into customer rates are (1) the billing determinants—the data necessary to generate existing and proposed revenue from customers, and (2) the class cost of service (CCOS)—a full allocation of the utility's cost to serve customers allocated among all the customer classes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> RRA, The rate case process, p. 11.
#### i. Billing Determinants

Billing determinants consist of all the data necessary to create a proof of revenue: number of customers by season and by class, the energy used in each rate block by season and class, customer demand<sup>46</sup> for each demand block by season and class, and the customer rates by block, season, and class. By multiplying the number of customers, energy used, and customer demand by the appropriate customer rates the amount of revenue the customer rates can generate will be determined, which is the proof of revenue.

The proof of revenue serves two purposes: (1) it demonstrates that the company's revenue requirement can be recovered with the rate structure proposed, and (2) provides a means of comparing the change in revenue caused by moving from existing rates to the proposed rates.

#### ii. Class Cost of Service

Class revenue allocation and rate design need to begin with the concept of cost causation: the cost causer should be the cost payer. Thus, the rate analysts allocating revenue to classes and creating the class rate designs, and the Commissioners who must evaluate the work of the rate analysts, need a class allocation of utility costs. This is the purpose of a CCOS study—the allocation of a utility's costs to serve customers among the different customer classes.

The CCOS study can then be used as a starting point and guide for class allocation of the revenue requirement. By starting with a CCOS study, the rate analyst is tying revenue allocation and customer rates to cost causation. The link between the CCOS study and cost causation is the strength of using a CCOS study for revenue allocation.

However, CCOS studies do have limitations. (1) CCOS studies are an art; they are not a science. A substantial number of subjective judgments must go into the production of any CCOS study. (2) Because all CCOS studies are based on allocation mechanisms that are approximations of structural relationships, the CCOS studies must, themselves, be viewed as approximations. (3) The approximations of the structural relationships are not based on statistical theory (for the most part) so determining a confidence interval using statistical techniques is not possible. Further, because of the size and complexity, only crude sensitivity analysis is possible. Therefore, it is difficult to get a handle on the accuracy of the approximation using sensitivity analysis. Thus, we are left knowing that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Customer demand and the amount of energy used are different. In rate design demand does not mean what it means in economics. Energy usage is what economists would think of as customer demand, but in rate design language, demand refers to the peak usage for a particular time period by the customer. Customer demand is actually a capacity requirement concept—the maximal amount of capacity the customer will require for a particular period of time.

the cost allocation from a CCOS study is an approximation, but we cannot know precisely the numerical bounds of the approximation. (4) A CCOS is a static snapshot of a dynamic process. Over time, the structural cost relationships have changed and are expected to change in the future.

Thus, a rate analyst should be cautious when using a CCOS study to help determine class revenue allocations.

The allocation process used to develop a CCOS follows a standard method outlined in the NARUC manual titled *Electric Utility Cost Allocation Manual*. The five basic steps to the CCOS process are:

1. Direct assignment of costs where possible;

Where direct assignment is not possible, joint and common costs are assigned by:

- 2. Functionalizing costs;
- 3. Classifying costs;
- 4. Allocating costs across classes;

After all the costs have been allocated across customer classes, then the question of whether cross-subsidization exists in the current rate design can be investigated using:

5. Rate of return analysis;

From the NARUC manual, Table 1 below shows the basic categories for each step in the process of allocation.

Functionalization	Classification	Allocation
Production	Demand	Residential
Transmission	Energy	Commercial
Distribution	Customer	Industrial
Customer Service		Other
Administrative and General		

The process of moving from functionalization to classification is illustrated below:

Cost Function		<b>Cost Classification</b>
Production	_	Demand Related
Floduction	$\rightarrow$	Energy Related
		Demand Related
		Energy Related
		Demand Related
Distribution	$\Rightarrow$	Energy Related
		Customer Related
Customor Sonvico	_	Customer Related
customer service	$\rightarrow$	Demand Related
Administrative and General	$\Rightarrow$	Whatever is appropriate

The table below illustrates a simple model of CCOS. The model contains the three steps (Functionalization, Classification, and Allocation) that together produce an allocation of costs across classes of electric customers.

The final step in cost allocation is illustrated in the last section of table labeled "Total Cost of Service." This section shows customer class total expenses, total revenue, and net operating income—net operating income is the subtraction of total expenses from total revenue. The next two lines show rate base and rate of return, where the class rate of return is found by dividing net operating income by the rate base.

Functionalization and			Customer Classes				
Classification of Costs	Total	Allocation Factor	Residential	Small General	Medium General	Large General	Large Power
Production							
Production Demand related							
Base Load	40,414,517	Base Allocator	16,138,286	2,133,137	5,059,391	15,967,568	1,116,135
Intermediate	67,265,899	Intermediate Allocator	44,654,485	3,300,514	5,803,680	12,507,570	999,651
Peaking	25,920,652	Peaking Allocator	18,960,135	1,160,948	2,191,034	3,587,450	21,085
Production Energy related							
Fuel & PP	133,303,282	kWh Sales	60,092,099	6,800,129	15,565,988	47,473,639	3,371,426
Variable O&M	4,590,939	kWh Sales	2,069,560	234,195	536,090	1,634,983	116,111
Wind	14,055,123	kWh Sales	6,335,942	716,986	1,641,234	5,005,487	355,474
Total Production	285,550,413		148,250,507	14,345,909	30,797,417	86,176,698	5,979,882
Transmission							
Demand Related	21,861,733	12 CP	11,364,649	1,116,893	2,349,277	6,554,210	476,704
Distribution							
Demand Related	40,792,669	1 NCP	21,859,185	2,386,990	4.078.848	11.230.408	1.237.239
Customer Related	36,714,947	No. Cust	32,649,626	3,272,313	622,896	169,652	460
Total Distribution	77,507,616		54,508,811	5,659,303	4,701,744	11,400,060	1,237,699
0							
Customer							
Total Customer	17,187,685	No. Cust	15,284,551	1,531,896	291,602	79,421	215
Total Cost of Samilas	400 407 447		000 100 510	00.054.004	00.440.000	101.010.000	7 00 4 500
Total Cost of Service	402,107,447		229,408,518	22,654,001	38,140,039	104,210,388	7,694,500
Expenses	205,851,976		116,431,778	12,555,520	18,657,809	54,363,182	3,843,686
Revenue	225,477,523		116,953,509	15,573,337	27,783,396	61,636,398	3,530,883
Net Operating Income	19,625,547		521,730	3,017,817	9,125,587	7,273,217	(312,804)
Rate Base	196,255,471		112,976,740	10,098,481	19,482,230	49,847,206	3,850,814
Rate of Return	10.0%		0.5%	29.9%	46.8%	14.6%	-8.1%

Because the CCOS represents cost causation it can also be used to test for cross-subsidization across classes. The test begins by comparing the rates of return for each of the classes. If the rates of return are close, then that means that each class is providing proportionally about the same net operating income given the rate base that has been allocated to it. If the rates are not close, then the CCOS results indicate that cross-subsidization in the current rate design is present. There are two cautionary comments about the equalized rates of return test for cross-subsidization that are important.

(1) The equalized rates of return test assumes that the cost allocation is correct and the test determines only whether the rate design is in line with the cost allocation. Thus, the equalized rates of return test is completely dependent on the cost allocation techniques used to allocate shared costs. This raises the second issue.

(2) Shared costs make up a large portion of a vertically integrated electric utility's total cost. In particular, most of the rate base is comprised of allocated shared costs; and because rate base is the denominator of the class rate of return calculation, small changes in the allocation method could have a significant effect on the results of this test. Additionally, since there are multiple methods for allocating costs for a CCOS study, any particular allocation is not unique; and since the test is dependent upon the specific cost allocation method used, the results of equalized rates of return tests are not necessarily unique.<sup>47</sup>

#### iii. Rate Design

Once the overall revenue requirement and the relative costs of serving the different rate classes has been determined, the final rates can be determined with various non-cost considerations in mind. The types of non-cost considerations generally considered by Staff are as follows:

- 1. Gradualism;
- 2. Cost of a competitive service (Industrial customers only);
- 3. Comparable rates in surrounding states( Industrial customers only);
- 4. Design of rates currently in effect;
- 5. Political impact of changes;
- 6. Types of customers and nature of service area;
- 7. Public policy;
- 8. Impact on customer usage characteristics;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Staff Direct Testimony of Robert H. Glass, Exhibit 1, pp. 4-6, Docket No. 12-KCPE-764-RTS (Aug. 12, 2012).

- 9. Simplicity and ease of understanding and administering rates; and
- 10. Stability of revenues.

A few of the non-cost considerations noted above warrant additional discussion for clarity. These non-cost issues are gradualism and the types of customers and nature of service area.

Gradualism entails moving various classes towards an equalized rate of return in a graduated fashion. The principle of gradualism recognizes the limitations of a CCOS study: the imprecision created by the extensive use of approximations. Because of the imprecision of a CCOS, gradualism suggests that small steps rather than large leaps should be taken. But gradualism does not imply that no change in the class allocation should occur.

The Commission Staff implements gradualism by using two basic rules of thumb. (1) If the relative rate of return for a class is between 0.95 and 1.05 then that class should receive an increase in revenue requirement approximately equal to the system-wide percentage increase in revenue requirement. For example, if a class has a relative rate of return of 0.96 and the system-wide increase in revenue was 5%, then that class should receive about a 5% increase in revenue (2) If a class is outside of the 10% range, then any increase in revenue requirement for the class should not move the class more than halfway toward the 1.0 relative rate of return. For example, if a class has a relative rate of return. For example, if a class has a relative rate of return of 0.8, then this rule of thumb suggests that the increase in revenue requirement should not increase the relative rate of return to more than 0.9, which is halfway to 1.0. These two rules of thumb moderate action, but do not prevent action. They also prevent attempts to use relative rates of return to fine tune a rate design.<sup>48</sup>

Because rate design is effectively the pricing of a utility's product, the rate structure must be developed based on a comprehensive understanding of the utility's types of customers and the nature of the service area. The rate structure is defined as the number of rate classes as well as the various components of a rate, such as the customer charge, demand charge, base rate charge, types of block rates, etc. Examples of issues to be considered when designing the rate structure are:

- 1. Is the service area mostly residential and commercial, or is there a large number of industrial customers?
- 2. What are the industrial competitive factors that are in the utility's service area?
- 3. What and how many complaints do current customers have with the current rates?
- 4. Do customer complaints or other factors indicate issues with the utility's ability to properly and easily administer the rates?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Staff Direct Testimony Prepared by Robert H. Glass, pp. 23-24, (June 13, 2018).

5. Does the public understand and accept the current rates?

Utility personnel are obviously the best suited to have a comprehensive understanding of their customer base and the nature of the service area. Therefore, utility personnel originate the rate structure and propose modifications to it in subsequent rate cases. Staff and other intervening parties review the rate structures proposed by the utility and then propose any changes deemed necessary.

#### iv. Rate Comparisons among Utilities

Rate comparisons among utilities – particularly utilities in different states – are an approximation and can only realistically be completed by developing an "all-in" rate for each utility. An all-in rate is the product of dividing total retail revenues by total retail volumetric sales. The reason that rate comparisons among utilities is complex is due to the extensive number differences that can significantly affect a revenue requirement as well as the development and application of rates. State statutes, rules and regulations, and the regulatory environment primarily drive the basis of the differences. Some of the specific differences are:

- Differences in customer bases;
- Types of riders/surcharges allowed;
- > Timing of when costs for construction projects may be reflected in rates;
- Methodologies used to allocate costs between state jurisdictions for multi-state utilities;
- > Methodologies used to allocate costs between wholesale and retail jurisdictions;
- Methodologies used to allocate costs between customer classes to design rates;
- Differences in rate case processes and timing of procedural schedules;
- Commission policies and decisions with regard to items such as return on equity, depreciable life of assets, and types of costs disallowed;
- Differences in customer demographics in each jurisdiction affect billing determinants;
- > Differences in billing determinants affect rate levels;
- Differences in renewable energy standards (*eg.*, voluntary vs. mandatory, calculation of renewable energy, amount of required, and timing of incremental requirements);
- Differences in how data is collected and reported by both Edison Electric Institute (EEI) and Energy Information Agency (EIA) require caution when making comparisons.

Due to the myriad of differences affecting development of the rates for any single utility service territory, it is difficult to compare rates between electric utilities within the same state or in other states.

## E. Impacts of State and Federal Mandates on Electric Utility Capital Investment

This section of the rate study will describe the impacts of State and Federal mandates requiring significant Capital Investments during the study period.

A. Capital Investments

Large rate increases are primarily driven by large increases in capital investments and Kansas's electric investor-owned utilities have made significant investments in plant over the last ten plus years. The major generation related capital investments incurred by each Kansas electric investor-owned utility are as follows:

- Kansas City Power & Light
  - KCP&L constructed Iatan 2, an 850 MW Supercritical Coal-Fired generating unit with all modern environmental controls, at a cost of \$1.655 billion (KCPL-KS share-\$760 million), which came online in 2010 and entered rates in the 10-KCPE-415-RTS Rate Case;
  - KCP&L retrofitted the Iatan 1 Coal-Fired generating unit, which cost approximately \$335 million for KCP&L's share of the plant (KCPL-KS share-\$155 million);
  - KCP&L retrofitted the LaCygne 1 and 2 Coal-Fired generating units, at a total cost of \$1.23 billion (KCPL-KS share-\$286 million)<sup>49</sup>; and
  - KCP&L constructed the Spearville 2 wind farm for \$123 million (KCPL-KS share of \$57 million).
- > Westar
  - Westar performed environmental retrofits at Lawrence Energy Center, Jeffrey Energy Center, and Tecumseh Energy Center; at a total cost of \$1.217 billion. These investments entered rates through the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider (ECRR) from years 2008 through 2015;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> The LaCygne Environmental Retrofit was the subject of a predetermination proceeding under K.S.A. 66-1239, in Docket No. 11-KCPE-581-PRE.

- Westar's share of the LaCygne Environmental Retrofit project was \$615 million. This investment entered rates in base rate cases from 2012 through 2017;
- Westar constructed the Central Plains Wind Farm and Flat Ridge Wind Farm, at a cost of \$273 million. These investments came into rates in the 08-WSEE-1041-RTS Rate Case and the 09-WSEE-925-RTS Rate Case;<sup>50</sup>
- Westar constructed the Emporia Energy Center, at a cost of \$305 million.<sup>51</sup> This investment came into rates in the 08-1041 and 09-925 Dockets with the wind farms discussed above; and
- Westar constructed the Western Plains Wind Farm, at a capital cost of \$417 million. This wind farm came into rates in the 18-WSEE-328-RTS rate case.
- B. State and Federal Mandates Impacts on Utility Capital Investment

State and Federal mandates that require additional capital investment represent additional costs outside the control of a utility. The discussion below notes the mandates that have affected Westar and KCP&L over the course of the study period.

i. United States Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Mandates

Beginning in the mid-2000s, the EPA began applying more stringent air quality standards to coal-fired generation plants. The electric generation portfolio in Kansas has historically been heavily weighted toward coal-fired generation. And this heavy reliance on coal provided stable and low rates for 20 plus years prior to 2007.

The graph below show the changes in generation by source from 1990 to 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> These wind farms were the subject of a predetermination proceeding, pursuant to K.S.A 66-1239, in Docket No. 08-WSEE-309-PRE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> The Emporia Energy Center was the subject of a predetermination proceeding, pursuant to K.S.A 66-129, in Docket No. 07-WSEE-616-PRE.



As a result, Kansas's electric investor-owned utilities spent approximately \$2.46 billion in environmental retrofits in order to achieve EPA mandated air quality standards.<sup>52</sup> Each electric investor-owned utility's capital investments are detailed later in this study in the sections detailing each utility's rate histories. Staff also notes that the decisions to retrofit coal-fired generation units by Westar and KCP&L were made during a period of expensive and volatile natural gas prices, which played a key role in deciding the retrofits were the lowest-cost option.

#### ii. Renewable Energy Standard - K.S.A. 66-1258

K.S.A. 66-1258 was passed in 2009 and mandated that each electric public utility, with the exception of municipal utilities, have the equivalent of 20% of its peak demand in nameplate renewable capacity by 2020. K.S.A. 66-1258 was repealed in 2016 and replaced with a voluntary goal of 20% by 2020. The 20% renewable capacity mandate has been accomplished through both purchased power agreements, in which the utility acquires the capacity and energy on a contract basis, and through direct utility ownership.

It should be noted that the state mandated additional generation in the form of renewables was not - in most instances - needed for capacity or energy requirements at the time the contracts or investments were made. Moreover, other incremental investments were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Includes \$1.85 billion for Westar and \$617 million for KCP&L.

needed to support the renewable energy, such as additional gas-fired generation (Emporia Energy Center) to regulate the wind intermittency and variability as well as additional transmission assets to relieve congestion points and in order to move the renewable energy to the population and to provide additional transmission capacity for the additional renewable energy.

## VI. Impact of Capital Costs on Rates

This section of the rate study will describe the regulatory treatment of capital investment as well as the statutory provisions regarding the valuation of investments and predetermining the ratemaking treatment of investments.

#### A. Regulatory Treatment of Capital Investment

The primary reason large increases in capital investments have a significant impact on increases a utility's revenue requirement is due to the "return on and return of" plant investments that are found to be prudent investments. As noted previously, an ROR is applied to a utility's rate base, which provides the shareholders "return on" its investment in capital. The "return of" a shareholder's investment is provided through depreciation expense. These two costs are generally two of the largest costs included in determining a utility's revenue requirement, and they are required to produce a just and reasonable rate, barring a finding of imprudence due to excessive or unnecessary investment.

The following example uses the cost of capital (ROR) example previously provided to demonstrate the revenue requirement impact of a \$100 million capital investment:

	Capital Investment in Plant	100,000,000
Х	ROR	7.0727%
	Return on Investment	7,072,700
	Capital Investment in Plant	100,000,000
Х	Depreciation Rate (Over 50-Years)	2.00%
	Return of investment	2,000,000
	Subtotal Before Income Taxes	\$9,072,700
Х	Income Tax Gross Up	1.3610
=	Total Increase to Revenue Requirement	\$12,347,944

As can be seen from the example, a large capital investment has a significant impact on a utility's revenue requirement. As will be further discussed below, Kansas's electric investor-owned utilities have effectively doubled their rate bases over the last ten years. These investments have been reviewed by Staff and other intervening parties through various processes that will be described below.<sup>53</sup>

B. Statutory Provisions Regarding Valuation and Predetermining the ratemaking treatment of investments.

When a utility undertakes a significant capital investment – such as building a new or retrofitting as existing generation facility – there are two methods of including the investments in rates. One method is to include the new investment(s) in a rate case, while the other method is to seek a predetermination of the need and ratemaking principles that will be applied to the new facility prior to undertaking construction. These two methods and the review process associated with each are discussed below.

i. Valuation of Property and Determination of Prudence – K.S.A. 66-128 et. seq.

The Commission is authorized by K.S.A. 66-128 *et. seq.* to determine the reasonable value of public utility assets used and required to be used in its services to the public whenever the Commission determines the ascertainment of such value is necessary to set

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Westar's filed Rate Base request in the 18-WSEE-328-RTS Docket was 182% of the amount it requested in the 08-WSEE-1041-RTS Docket. KCP&L's filed Rate Base request in the 18-KCPE-480-RTS Docket was 210% of the amount it requested in the 07-KCPE-905-RTS Docket.

just and reasonable rates. This statute also allows the Commission to evaluate whether the expenditures for public utility property were efficient and prudent. In determining whether expenditures for public utility property were efficient and prudent, K.S.A. 66-128c grants the Commission the power to evaluate the efficiency or prudence of acquisition, construction or operating practices of a utility. And in the event the Commission determines that a portion of the costs of acquisition, construction or operation were incurred due to a lack of efficiency or prudence, or were incurred in the acquisition or construction of excess capacity<sup>54</sup>, the Commission has the authority to exclude all or a portion of the costs from the revenue requested by the utility. However, in order to exclude any portion of the value of public utility property, the Commission must consider a substantial amount of evidence in order to address the 12 separate factors outlined in K.S.A. 66-128g.

While Kansas statutes provide the Commission with the authority to disallow cost of public utility plant, the burden of proof rests with the party recommending any disallowance. As stated in *The Process of Ratemaking*, surrounding a utility's investment decisions is a legal presumption that the utility's management has acted prudently.<sup>55</sup> In addressing this issue further, *The Process of Ratemaking* states:

Once the presumption of prudent management has been overcome with a *prima facie* case of imprudence, then the burden shifts to the utility. The utility must set forth appropriate evidence that management acted with care and diligence in controlling the project. Agencies here often employ outside consultants to provide an objective evaluation of management's control and direction of the project.<sup>56</sup>

ii. Determination of Rate-Making Principles and Treatment for Electric Generating or Transmission Facilities – K.S.A. 66-1239

K.S.A. 66-1239 allows a public utility to file a petition with the Commission prior to undertaking the construction of a generation or transmission facility in order to determine the ratemaking principles and treatment that will apply to the recovery in retail rates of the costs to be incurred to acquire such facility. K.S.A. 66-1239 (c)(2) also requires the public utility to submit the following information: (a) A description of the public utility's conservation measures; (b) a description of the public utility's demand side management efforts; (c) the public utility's ten-year generation and load forecasts; and (d) a description of all power supply alternatives considered to meet the public utility's load requirements.

K.S.A. 66-1239 is referred to as the "Predetermination Statute" because it allows a public utility to seek a predetermination of the ratemaking treatment it will receive during the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Excess capacity means any capacity in excess of the amount used and required to be used to provide adequate and reliable service to the public.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 860.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Goodman, *The Process of Ratemaking*, p. 861.

course of the useful life of the asset to be acquired. The Predetermination Statute has been used approximately seven times and generally the ratemaking treatment determined by the Commission has been limited to whether: (1) the generation or transmission asset to be acquired is prudent, (2) the generation or transmission will be considered used and required to be used for the provision of service, and (3) the generation or transmission asset will be included in rate base along with the value of such assets. The projects filed under the predetermination statute include wind farms, the construction of the Emporia Energy Center gas-fired generation facility, and the LaCygne coal-fired generation environmental retrofit project. It should also be noted that predetermination cases are complex due to the forecasts necessary to determine whether a generation or transmission asset is needed and whether such investment is prudent. Some of the forecasts that go into such a predetermination are future customer load, alternative generation sources, future fuel costs, and the impact of demand-side management programs.

Utility generation investments are made under conditions of considerable uncertainty. Generation assets have long life expectancy, thus determining the best investment option requires forecasting ability about future demand for electricity, the future prices of multiple fuels, an estimation of the future environmental regulatory atmosphere, and an anticipation of future structural changes in the retail and wholesale electric market. All of these factors must be taken into consideration while implementing policy requirements such as a renewable energy standard. And finally, the utility is expected to make the least cost investment choice.

Evaluating generation investment decisions in hindsight requires recognizing what was the best available information at the time the investment decision was made. To illustrate the problems faced by decision makers, the uncertainty around the best future fuel choice and the expected future demand for electricity will be examined from an early 2000s perspective.

In the early 2000s, there was significant concern about the future availability of natural gas resources. Because of the declining availability of natural gas, the price for natural gas had become extremely volatile, and in particular, subject to wild swings due to Gulf of Mexico hurricanes. Fracking had been used since 1860s, but the fracking boom came in the late 2000s. Even as late as 2012, the Energy Information Agency (EIA) was osculating between fracking was going to change the market and fracking might be oversold.<sup>57</sup> Coal, on the other hand, did not have price volatility and was plentifully available. In 2004 and 2005 coal looked superior. By 2015, natural gas was the future and coal plants were being shuttered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> A comparison of EIA's 2011 and 2012 Annual Energy Outlook (AEO) reveals a reduction in the technically recoverable resource (TTR) of the Marcellus Shale Play of 67% and overall the AEO2012 cut TTR by 42%. And from the *Oil Drum* "A painful adjustment is underway in the natural gas exploration and production industry. Fewer jobs will be created and projects may develop more slowly. This development may expose the notion of long-term natural gas abundance and cheap gas as an illusion. The good news is that this adjustment will lead to higher gas prices in a future less distant than most believe." <u>http://www.theoildrum.com/node/8914</u>

Average customer Residential electric usage had been growing in Kansas since the 1990s at an annual rate of one to three percent until 2010. Since 2010, average Residential electric usage has declined in Kansas more than one percent per year. In 2004 and 2005 when generation investment decisions were made by Westar and KCP&L, anticipating the dramatic change in average customer usage would have required incredible foresight, and to make that foresight meaningful, an unrealistically forceful persuasive ability.

#### C. Mitigating Factors Offsetting the Impact of Capital Investment Costs

With the exception of the years 2008 and 2009, declining costs of debt and equity has helped offset the increasing level of capital investment incurred by Kansas' electric investor-owned utilities. And, as noted previously, the overall weighted cost of capital (ROR) can have a significant impact on a revenue requirement calculation.

As will be described in more detail below, once it became apparent that the movement of equity costs was not an anomaly, Staff began to lower its recommended ROEs downward. This movement was highly contested by the utilities. The Commission accepted Staff's ROE recommendations, which led one utility to appeal the Commission's decision. The Commission prevailed in the appeal case, however, the Commission's position on lower ROEs ultimately led to a downgrading of the Commission has been a national leader on the issue of recognizing the true lower cost of equity capital necessary to induce investors to finance public utility assets, and many states surrounding Kansas eventually followed suit with lower authorized ROEs. These lower ROEs have significantly offset the impact of increased capital investment by Kansas utilities during the study period.

#### i. Declining Cost of Debt

As noted previously, a utility's debt costs can be determined by reviewing the stated rates for each particular debt issue. As such, determining a weighted average cost of debt is not controversial in rate case proceedings and any benefit of lower cost of debt is passed through to customers through a lower overall weighted cost of capital (ROR). The history of debt costs over the study period is provided below.



#### ii. Declining Return on Equity

As was discussed previously, there are several methods to estimate an ROE. Because there are several methods, cost of capital witnesses usually provide a range of ROEs. In selecting the ROE to authorize out of the ranges provided by cost of capital witnesses, the Commission relies on the "Zone of Reasonableness" standard. The Commission has specifically stated:

As a specialized decision making body, the statutory authorization to establish "just and reasonable" rates implies flexibility in exercising our complicated regulatory function. That same statutory authorization was not intended to confine the boundary of our regulatory discretion to an absolute or mathematical formula, but rather it was intended to confer power to make and apply policy concerning the appropriate prices charged to utility customers and returns on capital to utility investors in accord with constitutional protections applicable to both interests. Thus, the Kansas courts have always held that our goal is to fix rates within a "zone of reasonableness," after we balance the interests of the utility's investors, ratepayers, and the public. The cost of capital is the minimum rate of return necessary to attract capital to an investment. There is no formula for making a determination of what rate of return will attract capital, most especially a return on equity invested, nor can there be, as what is fair is not an economic determination. "What annual rate will constitute just compensation depends upon many circumstances, and must be determined by the exercise of fair and enlightened judgment, having regard to all relevant facts." Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes succinctly observed that setting an allowed return "... is not a matter of economic theory, but of a fair interpretation of a bargain." "What the company is entitled to ask is *a fair return* upon that which it employs for the public convenience." <sup>58</sup> [Internal cites omitted.]

#### iii. Kansas ROE Decisions Compared to National Average

While the "Great Recession" that began in 2008 created difficulties in determining the zone of reasonableness for ROEs, beginning in 2010, the methodologies used to determine ROEs began a significant downward trend and Kansas was one of the few states to recommend much lower ROEs. The Commission has agreed with Staff's positions and, as a result, Kansas' recent ROEs have been well below the national average of Commission authorized ROEs as tracked by RRA. The chart below compares Kansas' authorized ROEs to the national average over the study period.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Order: 1) Addressing Prudence; 2) Approving Application, in Part; and 3) Ruling on Pending Requests, pp. 37-38, Docket No. 10-KCPE-415-RTS (Nov. 22, 2010).



## VII. Legislatively Mandated and Commission Authorized Adjustment Clauses

RRA has defined the use and prevalence of adjustment clauses as follows:

Utility industry stakeholders have developed innovative techniques to achieve timely rate recognition of investments in certain projects and increases in key expenses. One such technique is the adjustment clause, which effectively shifts the risk associated with recovery of the expense in question from shareholders to customers, because, if the clause operates as designed, the company is able to change its rates to recover its costs on a current basis, without any negative effect on the bottom line and without the expense and delay that accompanies a rate case filing.

The electric and natural gas utilities' use of adjustment clauses to recover variations in certain costs outside of the traditional rate case process has its origins in the 1973 Arab oil embargo, when fuel costs skyrocketed, leaving the utilities with no way to recover the increased costs in a timely manner. During these years, utility earnings were under considerable pressure, a situation that prompted certain jurisdictions to establish a more constructive framework to allow more timely recovery of cost increases that were beyond the control of the utilities. The result was the creation of the fuel adjustment clause.

Over the ensuing years, the use of adjustment clauses expanded to include other expenses that are outside the control of the utility or are required by law or rule, such as environment compliance costs, conservation program costs, pension costs, municipal taxes and franchise fees, the pass-through of transmission-related costs allocated to the utility by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and storm cost recovery, to name a few.

More recently, the use of adjustment clauses has been expanded further to include certain types of new generation and T&D investment, and to mitigate the impacts of fluctuations in sales due to weather, energy conservation and/or economic conditions, also known as decoupling. For a discussion of the most prominent adjustment clauses in place for the electric and natural gas utilities in the U.S., refer to the 9/12/17 Topical Special Report entitled <u>Adjustment Clauses: A State-by-State Overview</u>.

Although not adjustment clauses per se, some jurisdictions have approved the use of surcharges to recover specific one-time items, such as excess storm restoration costs, while expense trackers have also been widely adopted. Expense trackers provide for the deferral of variations in certain costs for potential recovery at a future time, when the commission will consider the accumulated balance for inclusion in rates. Although an expense tracker is designed to keep the utility's earnings whole, rates, and accordingly cash flows, do not change on a current basis.<sup>59</sup>

A. Legislatively Mandated Adjustment Clauses

#### i. Transmission Delivery Charge – K.S.A. 66-1237

#### K.S.A. 66-1237(c) states:

that "[a]ll transmission-related costs incurred by an electric utility and resulting from any order of a regulatory authority having legal jurisdiction over transmission matters, including orders setting rates on a subject-torefund basis, *shall be conclusively presumed prudent for purposes of the transmission delivery charge and an electric utility may change its transmission delivery charge whenever there is a change in transmissionrelated costs resulting from such an order*. The commission may also order such a change if the utility fails to do so. An electric utility shall submit a report to the commission at least 30 business days before changing the utility's transmission delivery charge. If the commission subsequently determines that all or part of such charge did not result from an order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> RRA Topical Special Report *The Rate Case Process: A Conduit to Enlightenment*, p. 14 (July 3, 2018).

described by the subsection, the commission may require changes in the transmission delivery charge and impose appropriate remedies, including refunds." [Emphasis added.]

The Transmission Delivery Charge (TDC) is effectively a tariff established to recover charges the Southwest Power Pool (SPP) assesses for service to a public utility's retail load. In other words, the approved TDC tariffs are designed to recover the public utility's retail transmission service cost. TDC rates approved under the tariff are based on the public utility's SPP Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement derived from a public utility's annual SPP Transmission Formula Rate, which is approved by FERC. In addition to the retail portion of that amount, the TDC tariff recovers the retail-allocated portion of other SPP charges associated with transmission service.

It should also be noted that the FERC approved Annual Transmission Revenue Requirement (ATRR) includes significantly higher ROEs and the TDC is one of the major drivers of the increase in rates for Westar because it has a most extensive transmission network than KCP&L. As of 2018, the TDC is more than 2 cents per kWh for Westar's residential customers. The individual TDC filings for each Kansas investorowned utility will be discussed later in this study.

Because the TDC reflects the FERC-approved Transmission Formula Rate (TFR), and its higher ROE (10.3% inclusive of the .50% adder for SPP membership), Staff calculates that Westar's current TDC charge is \$7.38 million higher (2.89%) than would be the case if the KCC-regulated ROE was used to set this rate. This higher ROE, however, is \$7.38 million lower on an annual basis than would be the case if the KCC had not filed a complaint under Section 206 of the Federal Power Act requesting FERC lower the ROE used in Westar's TFR, in Docket No. EL14-93. Ultimately the KCC and Westar settled the complaint before FERC, which resulted in a reduction of Westar's TDC by \$18.26 million on July 1, 2017.<sup>60</sup>

#### ii. Ad Valorem Property Taxes – K.S.A. 66-117(f)

The Commission derives its authority to review Ad Valorem tariffs from K.S.A. 66-117(f), which states in pertinent part:

Whenever, after the effective date of this act, an electric public utility, a natural gas public utility or a combination thereof, files tariffs reflecting a surcharge on the utility's bills for utility service designed to collect the annual increase in expense charged on its books and records for ad valorem taxes, such utility shall report annually to the state corporation commission the changes in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> At the time the KCC filed its complaint, Westar's authorized ROE was 11.3% (inclusive of the .50% adder for SPP membership). This consisted of approximately \$8 million in one-time refunds from previous charges in excess of the settled 10.3% ROE, and an approximate \$10 million reduction to the TDC going forward. The annual savings calculation is now approximately \$7.3 million annually, given that Westar has reduced its TDC to account for the impact of lower federal income tax expense effectuated by the passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the new lower FERC-ROE has less impact because the tax gross up of the ROE is lower).

expense charged for ad valorem taxes ... Upon a showing that the surcharge is applied to bills in a reasonable manner and is calculated to substantially collect the increase in ad valorem tax expense charged on the books and records of the utility, or reduce any existing surcharge based upon a decrease in advalorem tax expense incurred on the books and records of the utility, the [C]omission shall approve such tariffs within 30 days of the filing.

Ad Valorem tax riders effectively allow a utility to increase or decrease the incremental amount of property taxes that are not currently included in its rates during "lag years". Once the utility files a rate case, the property tax rider will be "rebased" through the inclusion of all property taxes in the new base rates created by the rate case. The individual property tax filings for each Kansas investor-owned utility will be discussed later in this study.

# iii. Energy Efficiency Surcharge and Kansas Energy Efficiency and Investment Act – K.S.A. 66-1283

K.S.A. 66-1283, The Kansas Energy Efficiency Investment Act (KEEIA), was passed in 2014. To-date, there have been no energy efficiency programs implemented under the act, so no costs associated with this act are included in rates today. However, KEEIA did codify the pre-existing Energy Efficiency Surcharge by inclusion of K.S.A. 66-1283(e)(1), which states "To achieve the goals of this act, the Commission shall: Provide timely cost recovery for electric public utilities."

Prior to the implementation of K.S.A. 66-1283, the Commission developed its policy framework for energy efficiency programs through several general investigations. Docket No. 08-GIMX-441-GIV (441 Docket) examined cost-recovery methods for energy efficiency programs and established Docket No. 08-GIMX-442-GIV (442 Docket) to study cost-benefit analysis for energy efficiency programs. These Dockets were further clarified in Docket No. 12-GIMX-337-GIV (337 Docket).

In approving energy efficiency riders, the Commission stated its rationale as follows:

A rider reduces risk from the utility's point of view because it will provide utilities with a relative rapid and assured recovery of their program costs. Staff Report, 5. A rider may also reduce potential rate shocks for consumers if costs were deferred to the next rate case. Staff Report, 5. This promotes stability of customer rates.

Because a rider offers nearly contemporaneous recovery of program costs for utilities, the need for carrying costs, creation of regulatory assets, and a return on such deferred accounts is reduced. See Staff Report, 26. This also serves to lower costs for customers.

The Commission believes a rider should be implemented in a manner that maintains the Commission's responsibility to review costs for prudence.

The Commission believes a rider, due to the relative speed of cost recovery, the greater certainty of cost recovery, and the absence of regulatory lag, provides an advantage over traditional rate case recovery of costs for utilities. A rider cost-recovery mechanism provides a balanced approach between the positions of simply treating program costs in a traditional manner in a rate case without full cost capitalization, as favored by AARP, for example, and capitalizing all program costs, as favored by KCP&L.<sup>61</sup>

While energy efficiency program costs are not a major driver of the increases in rates for Kansas' electric investor-owned utilities, each energy efficiency rider filing is detailed in the rate history section of each utility. We also note that on a combined basis, there has been approximately \$95.9 million spent on energy efficiency programs during the study period by KCP&L and Westar.

	Westar	EER Recovery	KCP	&L EER Recovery
2007	\$	-	\$	-
2008	\$	-	\$	6,609,731.00
2009	\$	-	\$	9,091,522.00
2010	\$	5,830,491.17	\$	8,568,754.00
2011	\$	10,731,209.00	\$	6,191,469.00
2012	\$	11,869,456.00	\$	2,007,597.00
2013	\$	10,522,147.00	\$	827,410.00
2014	\$	5,515,148.00	\$	-
2015	\$	4,700,962.00	\$	-
2016	\$	3,944,733.00	\$	-
2017	\$	4,536,437.00	\$	-
2018	\$	4,987,852.00	\$	-
Total	\$	62,638,435.17	\$	33,296,483.00

NOTE: Data was pulled from Commission Orders

#### B. Commission Authorized Adjustment Clauses

i. Energy Cost Adjustment

As stated previously, energy cost adjustment clauses began around the time of the 1973 Arab oil embargo as way for public utilities to recover the rapidly increasing costs of fuel costs in a timely manner. Because of the significant amount of costs associated with generating electricity, large price increases in fuel costs could drive rate cases based solely on the increased cost of fuel. Kansas' fuel and purchased power clauses originated in the mid-1980s and are audited on an annual basis. It should be noted that only fuel and purchased power costs were originally flowed through an ECA and no profit or carrying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Final Order, p. 11, Docket No. 08-GIMX-441-GIV (Nov. 14, 2008).

costs are allowed. However, with the advent of the SPP Integrated Market (IM), electric utility fuel clauses became much more complicated. Staff now evaluates each jurisdictional utility's performance in the SPP IM and more cost categories, such as some transmission related expenses, are included in the fuel clause calculations.

It should be noted that fuel costs are one of the major reasons that Kansas's rates have risen faster than the peer companies in this study. As will be detailed later, electric utilities whose generation portfolios are primarily gas-fired generation have achieved a significant advantage over electric utilities that are primarily coal-fired due to the extended period of very low natural gas prices. Specifically, with regard to the change in the Kansas utilities' rates, 9% of Westar's total rate changes during the study period and 18.5% of KCP&L's total rate changes during the study period was the result of changes in revenue collected through the ECA mechanisms of these utilities.

#### ii. Environmental Cost Recovery Rider

In Docket No. 05-WSEE-981-RTS, Westar requested a rider mechanism that allowed for a surcharge on its customers' bills to recover the costs associated with installing pollution control equipment on its generating facilities. In authorizing the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider (ECRR), the Commission states the following:

The Commission finds that the ECRR is a reasonable mechanism for funding the extraordinary costs mandated by such federal legislation as required by the Clean Air Act -- costs related to equipment which will not generate additional electricity, but will hopefully benefit society as a whole. The process for implementing the charge as proposed by Westar and modified by Staff will ensure the prudence of these investments. Low, 27-28. Further, the inclusion of a specific charge on their bills will alert ratepayers to the costs necessary to meet mandated environmental requirements. Last, prompt recovery of ECRR costs, like AFUDC costs, results in lower retail cost of service for ratepayers. With the safeguards provided herein, ratepayers will be protected from premature, excessive, or inappropriate costs. Accordingly, the Commission approves Westar's proposal as modified by Staff. See Low, 23-28.<sup>62</sup>

Westar was the only utility to request such a rider and Staff notes that the rate history section for Westar will indicate that the costs associated with this rider were a major driver of Westar's rate increases. Staff also notes that the ECRR was eliminated in Docket No. 15-WSEE-115-RTS as a result of Staff's recommendation to the Commission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Order on Rate Applications, pp. 29-30, Docket No. 05-WSEE-981-RTS (Dec. 28, 2005).

## VIII. Overview of Litigated vs. Settled Rate Case History in Kansas

The end result of every rate case must be just and reasonable rates, regardless of whether a particular rate case is fully litigated, non-unanimously settled, or unanimously settled.

The Kansas Supreme Court has stated:

The leading cases in this area clearly indicate that the goal should be a rate fixed within the "zone of reasonableness" after the application of a balancing test in which the interests of all concerned parties are considered. In rate-making cases, the parties whose interests must be considered and balanced are these: (1) the utility's investors vs. the ratepayers; (2) the present ratepayers vs. the future ratepayers; and (3) the public interest.<sup>63</sup>

In order to establish a "zone of reasonableness" within which a rate can be fixed, the Commission relies on the record established in a particular rate case. Generally, the record consists of:

- > The utility's application, direct, and rebuttal testimony;
- > The direct and cross-answering testimony of Staff and other intervening parties;
- Discovery requests issued by all parties (which generally exceeds 500 requests for large electric investor-owned utilities) filed as exhibits in testimony;
- Legal pleadings filed for various reasons; and
- Public comments.

As noted previously, very few rate case adjustments are black and white. Most adjustments are subjective and based on professional experience and judgement. Therefore, reasonable differences of opinions as to the correct position can and often occur. However, the presence of professional expert witnesses and attorneys help ensure that any unreasonable position(s) taken by any party are discussed and either are litigated or discarded in settlement negotiations.

A. Litigated Rate Cases

Fully litigated cases are a minority of the total large investor-owned rate cases to appear before the Commission. Fully litigated rate cases generally are caused by disagreements among the parties over a number of adjustments that have a large dollar value associated with them. The sections covering each Kanas electric investor-owned utility will note whether each rate during the study period was litigated or settled.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Kan. Gas and Electric Co. v. State Corp Comm'n, 239 Kan. 483, 488 (1986).

B. Rate Case Settlement Agreements

The majority of rate cases are settled in Kansas. And, as the remainder of this section discusses, there is case law and guidelines for ensuring that settlements among the parties to a rate case results in just and reasonable rates.

i. Kansas Law Favors Settlements

The Commission has noted in its rate case orders that "[i]t is an elemental rule that the law favors compromise and settlement of disputes."<sup>64</sup> Whether a settlement is unanimous or non-unanimous, it must be supported by substantial and competent evidence contained within the record and it must establish just and reasonable rates.

ii. Commission Five Factor Test for Settlements

The Commission recently described its five factor test as follows:

The Commission has established a five-part test to determine the reasonableness of proposed settlement agreements. The five parts are rooted in the Commission's organic statutes, the Kansas Administrative Procedure Act (KAPA), and the Kansas Judicial Review Act (KJRA). The five parts are:

- 1. Was there an opportunity for the opposing party to be heard on the reasons for opposition to the Stipulation and Agreement?
- 2. Is the Stipulation and Agreement supported by substantial competent evidence in the record as a whole?
- 3. Does the Stipulation and Agreement conform with applicable law?
- 4. Does the Stipulation and Agreement result in just and reasonable rates?
- 5. Are the results of the Stipulation and Agreement in the public interest, including the interest of customers represented by any party not consenting to the Agreement?<sup>65</sup> [Internal cites omitted.]

These guidelines must be addressed in every settlement agreement in order to ensure that the rates resulting from an agreement meet the just and reasonable rate and public interest standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Order Approving Non-Unanimous Stipulation and Agreement, p. 22, Docket No. 18-WSEE-328-RTS (Sept. 27, 2018), citing *In the Matter of Thompson's Estates*, 226 Kan. at 440. *See Bright v. LSI Corp.* 254 Kan. 853, 858 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Order Approving Non-Unanimous Stipulation and Agreement, p. 12, Docket No. 18-WSEE-328-RTS (Sept. 27, 2018).

iii. Authorized Revenue Requirement Increase Versus Utility Revenue Request

For abbreviated rate cases<sup>66</sup>, which are generally limited to plant investment updates filed within 12 months of a general rate case, the percentage of revenue requirement increases authorized by the Commission versus the requested revenue requirement increase requested by a utility is approximately 90%. For general rate cases, the percentage of revenue requirement increases authorized by the Commission versus the requested revenue requirement increases authorized by the Commission versus the requested revenue requirement increases authorized by the Commission versus the requested revenue requirement increase by Kansas' electric investor-owned utilities ranges from 45% to 60% for full rate cases. This disparity between the amount requested by the public utility and the revenue requirement increase authorized by the Commission is primarily due to the subjective nature of of utility ratemaking and the complexity of the issues involved. Regarding the complexity of ratemaking, the Commission has stated:

Based on the above discussion, the Parties to the NS&A have provided testimony and evidence, both prior to and after settlement negotiations, that is substantial, relevant, and furnishes a substantial basis of fact by which the Commission may consider and approve the terms of the NS&A. The Parties to the NS&A, who represent multiple and diverse interests, engaged in vigorous settlement discussions and relied on the evidence in this docket to strike a reasonable compromise. It is undisputed that the witnesses who testified and submitted evidence are experts in their respective fields, and therefore, the Commission finds they provided competent information for the Parties in support to use in settlement negotiations and for the Commission to rely on in determining the reasonableness of the NS&A.

Moreover, the Commission "of necessity, must be afforded a wide discretion in the methodology to be utilized in approaching the complex problems involved. The field of public utility regulation is a highly complex field and requires a great amount of expertise in arriving at a result which is fair and just to all interested parties." Whether another trier of fact, or another party, could have reached a different conclusion given the same facts is irrelevant. Further, the Commission finds that "black box" components of rate case settlements do not lack substantial competent evidence per se, and that the Parties to the NS&A have shown the black box component of the NS&A is supported by substantial competent evidence. The Commission relies on the expert testimony of the Parties in support of the NS&A as a whole, and therefore, the Commission finds the NS&A and its specific terms are supported by substantial, competent evidence in light of the entire record. [Emphasis added.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Authorized under K.A.R. 82-1-231(b)(3)(A).

## IX. Economic Factors Impacting Public Perception of Electric Utility Rates

The price of Kansas' electricity remains competitive when considered in the context of the increase in disposable income over the past several decades. As the charts below indicate, Kansas' nominal electric rates have grown slower than the relevant income measure for Residential, Commercial, and Industrial customers.

In order to show the impact of the different growth rates for electricity prices and income, the sector income variable was calibrated so as to equal the sector price of electricity in 1990. The widening gap between electricity prices and income shows that income's growth rate was significantly higher than the growth rate for electricity prices. For example, disposable income was divided by 2,039.719 so as to equal the 1990 Residential price of electricity: 7.83 cents per kWh, and then every year after 1990 disposable income was divided by 2,039,719.



### A. Kansas Electric Rates Compared to Disposable Income



## B. Kansas Electric Rates Compared to Business Income



Below is a table that has the 1990 sector price of electricity and the sector income, the 2017 sector price of electricity and the sector income, and the percentage change from 1990 to 2017. The Residential price of electricity has grown faster in Kansas than either the Industrial or Commercial price of electricity.

The Kansas Sector Price of Electricity and Sector Income: Residential, Industrial & Commercial					
Sector	Price of Electricity	Per Capita Disposable Income			
Residential	¢ per kWh	\$			
1990	7.83	15,971			
2017	13.31	43,579			
% Change	70%	173%			
Sector	Drice of Electricity	Manufacturing			
	Price of Liectricity	Income			
Industrial	¢ per kWh	\$1,000,000s			
1990	4.94	9,362			
2017	7.54	24,400			
% Change	53%	161%			
Sector	Duice of Electricity	Commercial			
3000	Frice of Liectricity	Income			
Commerce	¢ per kWh	\$1,000,000s			
1990	6.64	6,645			
2017	10.59	20,554			
% Change	59%	209%			

C. Ratepayer Perception of Rate Increases Versus Additional Value Provided

As discussed in the executive summary above, electricity is a homogeneous product, but the production of electricity is far from a homogeneous process. While Westar and KCP&L have experienced significant rate increases over the past decade, the result of these rate increases has been significant reductions in harmful pollutants produced as a byproduct of coal-fired electricity generation. Additionally, Westar and KCP&L are now leaders in emission free energy production, with half of their energy produced utilities now coming from emission free energy sources. These elements of energy production tend to create value, which is recognized in the minds of some energy consumers.

## X. Regulatory Research Associates Views Kansas as Having a Less Constructive, Higher-risk Regulatory Climate

RRA ranks each public utility regulator on an ongoing basis from a public utility investor's point of view. The KCC has been ranked below average 1 (BA1) since approximately 2016. RRA describes its process as follows:

Regulatory Research Associates, or RRA, evaluates the regulatory climate for energy utilities in each of the jurisdictions within the 50 states and the District of Columbia, a total of 53 jurisdictions, on an ongoing basis. *The evaluations are assigned from an investor perspective and indicate the relative regulatory risk associated with the ownership of securities issued by each jurisdiction's electric and gas utilities.* 

Each evaluation is based upon consideration of the numerous factors affecting the regulatory process in the state and may be adjusted as events occur that cause RRA to modify its view of the regulatory risk accruing to the ownership of utility securities in that individual jurisdiction.

RRA also reviews evaluations when updating Commission Profiles and when publishing this quarterly comparative report. The issues considered are discussed in RRA Research Notes, Commission Profiles, Rate Case Final Reports and Topical Special Reports. RRA also considers information obtained from contacts with commission, company and government personnel in the course of its research. *The final evaluation is an assessment of the probable level and quality of the earnings to be realized by the state's utilities as a result of regulatory, legislative and court actions.* 

An Above Average designation indicates that, in RRA's view, the regulatory climate in the jurisdiction is relatively more constructive than average, representing lower risk for investors that hold or are considering acquiring the securities issued by the utilities operating in that jurisdiction.

At the opposite end of the spectrum, a Below Average ranking would indicate a less constructive, higher-risk regulatory climate from an investor viewpoint.

A rating in the Average category would imply a relatively balanced approach on the part of the governor, the legislature, the courts and the commission when it comes to adopting policies that impact investor and consumer interests.

Within the three principal rating categories, the designations 1, 2 and 3 indicate relative position, with a 1 implying a more constructive relative ranking within the category, a 2 indicating a mid-range ranking within the category and a 3 indicating a less constructive ranking within the category.<sup>67</sup> [Emphasis added.]

As noted in RRA's description, the KCC's below average ranking indicates a less constructive, higher-risk regulatory climate from an investor viewpoint. And, as can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> RRA Regulatory Focus *State Regulatory Evaluations – Energy*, pp. 1-2 (Nov. 26, 2018). (RRA, State Regulatory Evaluations – Energy).

seen in the RRA chart below, Kansas is among the lowest nine regulatory commissions in the county in terms of how supportive Kansas's rate decisions are to a public utility's investors.

RRA state regulatory evaluations — Energy									
Above average/1	Above average/2	Above average/3	Average/1	Average/2	Average/3	Below average/1	Below average/2	Below average/3	
Alabama	Georgia	California	Arkansas	Colorado	Arizona	Alaska	New Mexico	Dist. of Columbia	
	Florida	Michigan	Indiana	Hawaii	Delaware	Connecticut	West Virginia	Maryland	
	Virginia	Pennsylvania	lowa	Idaho	Missouri	Kansas			
	Wisconsin	Tennessee	Kentucky	Illinois	New Hampshire	Montana			
			Mississippi	Louisiana — NOCC	Oklahoma	New Jersey			
			Nebraska	Louisiana — PSC	South Carolina				
			New York	Maine	Texas — PUC				
			North Carolina	Massachusetts	Vermont				
			North Dakota	Minnesota	Washington				
			Utah	Nevada	Wyoming				
				Ohio					
				Oregon					
				Texas — RRC					
				Rhode Island					
				South Dakota					

As of Nov. 26, 2018.

NOCC = New Orleans City Council; PSC = Public Service Commission; PUC = Public Utility Commission; RRC = Railroad Commission Source: Regulatory Research Associates, an offering of S&P Global Market Intelligence

In providing an overview of its ranking process, RRA states:

The rankings are subjective and are intended to be comparative in nature. RRA endeavors to maintain an approximate normal distribution with an approximately equal number of rankings above and below the average. The variables that RRA considers in determining each state's ranking are largely the broad issues addressed in our State Regulatory Reviews/Commission Profiles and those that arise in the context of rate cases and are discussed in RRA Rate Case Final Reports.

The rankings not only reflect the decisions rendered by the state regulatory commission, but also take into account the impact of the actions taken by the governor, the legislature, the courts, and the consumer advocacy groups. The policies examined pertain largely to rate cases and the ratemaking process, but issues such as industry restructuring, corporate governance and approach to proposed mergers are also considered.

The rankings are designed to reflect the interests of both equity and fixedincome investors across more than 30 individual metrics. The individual scores are assigned based on the covering analysts' subjective judgement. The scores are then aggregated to create a single score for each state, with certain categories weighted more heavily than others. The states are then ranked from lowest to highest and distributed among the nine ratings categories to create an approximation of a normal distribution. The distribution is then reviewed by the team as a whole and individual state rankings may be adjusted based on the covering analysts' recommendation, subject to review by a designated panel of senior analysts.

The summaries below provide an overview of these variables and how each can impact a given regulatory environment...<sup>68</sup>

Of the summaries of the variables RRA notes in the quotation above, the return on equity variable is heavily weighted by RRA. RRA states the following regarding ROE:

ROE is perhaps the single most litigated issue in any rate case. There are two aspects RRA considers when evaluating an individual rate case and the overall regulatory environment: (1) how the authorized ROE compares to the average of returns authorized for energy utilities nationwide over the 12 months, or so, immediately preceding the decision; and, (2) whether the company has been accorded a reasonable opportunity to earn the authorized return in the first year of the new rates.

With regard to the first criterion, RRA looks at the ROEs historically authorized utilities in a given state and compares them to utility industry averages, as calculated in RRA's Major Rate Case Decisions Quarterly Updates.

As the chart shows, ROEs have been de[c]lining over the last three decades, falling below 10% in recent years. When referring to these "averages," RRA means the average ROE approved in cases decided in a particular year; returns carried over from prior years are not included in the averages.

Intuitively, authorized ROEs that meet or exceed the prevailing averages at the time established are viewed as more constructive than those that fall short of these averages.

With regard to the second consideration, in the context of a rate case, a utility may be authorized a relatively high ROE, but factors, such as capital structure changes, the age or "staleness" of the test period, rate base and expense disallowances, the manner in which the commission chooses to calculate test year revenue, and other adjustments, may render it unlikely that the company will earn the authorized return on a financial basis.

Even if a utility is accorded a "reasonable opportunity" to earn its authorized ROE, there is no guarantee that the utility will do so. The revenue requirement and ROE established in a rate case are targets that the commission believes the established rates will allow the utility to attain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> RRA, State Regulatory Evaluations – Energy, p. 8.

Various factors such as weather, management efficiency, unexpected events, demographic shifts, fluctuations in economic activity and customer participation in energy conservation programs may cause revenue and earnings to vary from the targets set.

Hence, the overall decision may be restrictive from an investor viewpoint even though the authorized ROE is equal to or above the average...<sup>69</sup> [Emphasis added.]

As was noted in Section VI. of this report, the KCC's authorized ROEs have been below the national average and, from RRA's perspective, the KCC has moved to a more "consumerist" oriented approach to ratemaking. In its latest specific review of the KCC, RRA's evaluation states the following:

Kansas regulation of energy utilities is relatively restrictive from an investor perspective. Although base rate proceedings in Kansas are typically resolved via "black box" settlements that do not specify any rate-of-return parameters, the KCC's most recent equity return authorization, a 9.3% ROE approved in a 2015 electric rate case decision, was significantly below prevailing industry averages at the time established. The KCC generally relies on historical test periods, a situation that can lead to regulatory lag, even with updates for certain known and measurable changes, making it challenging for the utilities to earn their authorized returns. However, state law allows the utilities to file "abbreviated" rate cases within 12 months of a KCC rate order, and abbreviated rate proceedings have been filed on several occasions in recent years. Cost recovery mechanisms are in place for the electric utilities that allow them to timely recover certain costs, as well as energy-efficiency-related lost revenues. For several years, the gas utilities have been allowed to request KCC approval of mechanisms to recover certain costs associated with infrastructure replacement projects. However, a statutory cap that precluded recovery of a portion of the related costs had been an issue for the utilities, and this led the KCC to undertake an investigation of the merits of expanding cost recovery beyond this rider. In September 2017, the commission concluded its review of the matter and permitted the utilities to seek approval for a new mechanism to recover amounts associated with an expanded array of infrastructure investments; however, the provisions for the new rider included an existing \$0.40 perresidential-customer monthly cap on recoverable amounts. The cap was subsequently doubled in the 2018 legislative session, thereby easing the cost recovery limitation for the utilities. On a constructive note, in a proceeding resolved earlier in 2018, the KCC approved the proposed "merger of equals" involving the state's two largest investor-owned electric utility holding companies, Great Plains Energy Inc. and Westar Energy Inc.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> RRA, State Regulatory Evaluations – Energy, pp. 11-12.

despite rejecting an earlier version of the deal. *RRA accords Kansas a Below Average/1 ranking, reflecting the state's gradual shift toward a more "consumerist" approach to ratemaking.*<sup>70</sup> [Emphasis added.]

## XI. History of Kansas City Power & Light and Westar Rates 2008 to 2018

The recent history of electric rates in Kansas is the basic topic of this section. First, a brief overview of the changes in the average rates for Kansas, KCP&L, and Westar is provided segregated by Residential, Commercial, and Industrial customers. Then a review of KCP&L and Westar requests for rate changes follows. This section ends with an overview of the rate cases in Kansas since 2008.

#### A. Historical Rates 2008 to 2018

i. Kansas Average Price of Electricity

The graph below shows the all-in Kansas electric prices for the Residential, Commercial, and Industrial customers from 1990 to 2017.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> RRA Regulatory Focus, Kansas Regulatory Review, p. 1 (Aug. 21, 2018).

The graph illustrates two broad phenomena:

- Over the 28-year period, the relationship between Residential, Commercial, and Industrial electric prices is nearly constant. In 1990, Residential prices are 59% higher than Industrial and Commercial prices are 34% higher than Industrial. The percentages are nearly the same in 2007—60% higher for Residential and 33% for Commercial. By 2017, the gaps had expanded: Residential was 77% higher and Commercial was 40% higher.
- From 1990 to 2007, Kansas electric prices were either steady or slightly declining. Then in 2008, Kansas electricity rates turned upward: technical statistical analysis confirms the period 2007-2008 constituted a regime change in Kansas electricity prices.

There were two major factors in the 2007-2008 electric price regime change—increased costs due to environmental retrofits for coal plants and a decline in the average usage by Residential customers. As noted above, the 2000s was when EPA began its more aggressive enforcement of coal plant pollution resulting in an increase in the cost of electricity generated by coal plants.

The decline in Residential customer's average usage resulted in higher rates because most electric utility costs are fixed, and a decline in sales of electricity meant there were fewer kilowatts of electricity to spread utility costs over.

The two basic causes of the decline in Residential average usage were:

- 1) The Great Recession of December 2007 to June 2009 and the slow economic growth during the initial recovery phase after the recession, and
- 2) The increased engineering efficiency of home appliances, which reduce demand for electricity.

The Great Recession reduced customer income and increased unemployment, which both reduced the demand for electricity. The increase in engineering efficiency of home appliances further reduced the demand for electricity. The graph below illustrates the average electric usage decline in both Kansas and the United States as a whole.



To show that the decline in Residential average usage was due solely to the engineering efficiency of appliances and not energy efficiency programs, two graphs below compare KCP&L Kansas and Missouri.

The first graph shows that Residential average monthly usage peaked in 2010 in both KCP&L Kansas and Missouri and then declined through 2017, the last year that Energy Information Administration (EIA) data exists. For KCP&L Missouri, Residential electric usage dropped 13.6%, while in KCP&L Kansas Residential electric usage dropped 14.7%. In 2014, KCP&L Missouri began cycle one of its MEEIA energy efficiency programs. However, in Kansas, the programs were not implemented. Still electric usage fell more in Kansas than Missouri. The conclusion is therefore that energy efficiency is embedded in household appliances, including HVAC systems, and energy efficiency programs simply add to the cost of electricity.


The second graph below shows the Residential all-in price of electricity for KCP&L Kansas and Missouri with the Missouri rate jumping more than a cent above the Kansas rate from 2014 (the implementation year of MEEIA) to 2017. Energy efficiency programs seem to have only increased the price of electricity and not reduced the usage of electricity.



## ii. KCP&L Average Prices

The graph below shows the all-in KCP&L average electric price for Residential, Commercial, and Industrial customers. The price pattern for Residential and Commercial looks similar to the average electric prices for Kansas. However, the Industrial prices are higher relative to all of Kansas. The explanation lies in the fact that nearly all of KCP&L large industrial customers are in KCP&L Missouri. The KCP&L industrial customers in Kansas are relatively small and, as such, are not able to take advantage of KCP&L industrial rate structure, which favors large users.



The graph below has KCP&L Kansas and Missouri combined average prices for Residential, Commercial, and Industrial customers. Because KCP&L large industrial customers in Missouri are included in the graph below, the price patterns for each of the rate classes looks very much like the overall Kansas prices.



iii. Westar Average Prices

The pattern of Westar average prices for rate classes looks very similar to the pattern for Kansas average prices. This is true even for the spreads between rate class prices. In 2017, Residential all-in price is 79% higher than the Industrial price and the Commercial all-in price is 35% higher than the Industrial price. In addition, there is clearly a break in the price pattern in 2008—a regime change—just like the regime change in the overall Kansas price pattern.



## iv. Comparing Kansas, KCP&L, and Westar Average Rates with the US Average Rates

It is difficult to efficiently graph a comparison of Kansas, KCP&L, and Westar average prices with the US average prices because the lines tend to overlap each other in 1990 and 2017. However, in between 1990 and 2017 the price patterns are different as the graph below shows.



The effect of EPA's increased enforcement of coal generated electricity can be seen in the change in Kansas's and the United States' generation mix. The table below illustrates how the United State generation mix and then the Kansas generation mix responded to EPA's increased enforcement of coal plant pollution. By 2001, there was a gap between the United States average price and the Kansas average price. This gap grew through the 2000s until 2008 when Kansan began paying for retrofitting coal plants. The table below shows that by 2007 United States coal generation had begun declining and natural gas generation was increasing, even though 2007 was before the fracking natural gas boom was stabilizing natural gas prices. By 2017, both Kansas and United States coal generation had declined dramatically. But in the United States as a whole natural gas was the main substitute, while in Kansas wind was the major substitute. And by 2017, United States and Kansas all-in prices of electricity were nearly equal.

Electri	c Generati	on Mix:	Kansas ai	nd the Ur	ited Stat	s
ENEDCY	(	Generatio	n Mix (Per	centage o	of Total)	
ENERGY 1990	0	2007		2017		
SOURCE	KS	US	KS	US	KS	US
Coal	69%	52%	72%	49%	38%	30%
Natural Gas	7%	12%	4%	22%	4%	32%
Nuclear	23%	19%	21%	19%	21%	20%
Wind	0%	0%	2%	1%	37%	6%
Other	1%	16%	0%	10%	0%	12%

The two graphs below illustrate the similarity of the Residential average price of electricity for KCP&L Kansas and Westar. In both cases, the 2015 rate cases pushed the Residential average price above the national average. With the moratorium on base rate changes stretching out to January 2023, the Residential average prices of KCP&L and Westar should fall below the national average.





The same basic price pattern of lower than United States average prices until around 2016 and then slightly higher than United States average prices afterward is true of KCP&L and Westar Commercial and Industrial average prices.









B. History of Rate Change Requests and Approvals 2008 to 2018

The tables below present the history of requested and approved rate changes, by surcharge mechanism or general rate case, during the study period. During this period Westar has been granted 43 rate increases, 23 of those from legislatively-authorized mechanisms.<sup>71</sup> Westar has also been granted 17 rate reductions, 12 of them in legislatively-authorized mechanisms. KCP&L has been granted 25 increases, 12 of them in legislatively authorized mechanisms. KCP&L has also been granted 11 rate reductions, 6 of them in legislatively-authorized mechanisms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> The Energy Efficiency Surcharge (K.S.A. 66-1283 (e)(1), Transmission Delivery Charge (66-1237), and Ad Valorem Tax Surcharge (66-117(f) are all allowed by legislation in Kansas.

## **KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT**

History of Rate Change Requests & Approvals For 2008 - Current

General Rate Cases**	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease)
07-KCPE-905-RTS	\$47,060,873	\$28,000,000
09-KCPE-246-RTS	\$71,630,000	\$59,000,000
10-KCPE-415-RTS	\$55,225,000	\$21,846,202
12-KCPE-764-RTS	\$63,550,528	\$33,156,017
14-KCPE-272-RTS	\$12,113,071	\$11,535,857
15-KCPE-116-RTS	\$56,278,815	\$40,125,968
17-KCPE-201-RTS	\$(2,829,191)	\$(3,557,588)
18-KCPE-480-RTS	\$32,948,941	\$(3,916,417)

Energy Efficiency Rider	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease)
To recover the cost of Commission-Approved Energy Efficient	ncy Programs.	

08-KCPE-802-TAR	\$4,096,185	\$4,096,185	
09-KCPE-770-TAR	\$2,513,546	\$2,513,546	
10-KCPE-636-TAR	\$2,602,933	\$2,481,791	
11-KCPE-665-TAR	\$(643,910)	\$(522,768)	
12-KCPE-729-TAR	\$(2,377,285)	\$(2,377,285)	
13-KCPE-584-TAR	\$(3,196,566)	\$(4,183,872)	
14-KCPE-442-TAR	\$(2,167,493)	\$(1,180,187)	
15-KCPE-448-TAR*	\$-	\$-	
16-KCPE-439-TAR*	\$-	\$-	
17-KCPE-446-TAR*	\$-	\$-	
18-KCPE-420-TAR*	\$-	\$-	

	Ad Valorem Tax Rider	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease)
1	To recover the cost of Ad Valorem Taxes pursu	uant to 66-117(f).	
	12-KCPE-452-TAR	\$3,686,584	\$3,682,007
	13-KCPE-415-TAR	\$1,304,615	\$1,309,192
	14-KCPE-288-TAR	\$(1,420,113)	\$(1,420,097)
	15-KCPE-260-TAR	\$2,250,947	\$2,250,931
	16 KODE 206 TAD	\$ 155 219	\$155.019

#### **Transmission Delivery Charge**

17-KCPE-259-TAR 18-KCPE-258-TAR

Requested Increase (Decrease)

Approved Increase (Decrease)

\$(3,252,099)

\$3,266,283

To recover the cost of investments in transmission assets and FERC-approved regional transmission expenses pursuant to K.S.A. 66-1237.

\$(3,252,099)

\$3,266,283

15-KCPE-116-RTS	\$14,924,412	\$14,924,412
17-KCPE-116-TAR	\$918,382	\$662,080
17-KPCE-440-TAR	\$6,986,630	\$6,954,579
18-KCPE-403-TAR	\$8,973,936	\$7,853,648

(continued on back)

#### **Energy Cost Adjustment** Requested Increase (Decrease)

Approved Increase (Decrease)

To recover the cost of fuel, purchased power, and net SPP expenses necessary to serve retail customers.

09-KCPE-68	9-ACA	\$2,142,338	\$2,142,338
10-KCPE-54	8-ACA	\$1,132,719	\$1,132,719
11-KCPE-60	7-ACA	\$(160,017)	\$(160,017)
12-KCPE-66	4-ACA	\$38,193,766	\$38,193,766
13-KCPE-54	0-ACA	\$3,688,434	\$3,688,434
14-KCPE-40	5-ACA	\$6,891,918	\$6,891,918
15-KCPE-38	1-ACA	\$83,848	\$83,848
16-KCPE-38	8-ACA	\$8,602,984	\$8,602,984
17-KCPE-40	0-ACA	\$(8,866,722)	\$(8,866,722)
18-KCPE-37	2-ACA	\$(1,115,405)	\$(1,115,405)

		% of Total
Environmental Retrofit Increases	\$89,525,775	32.64%
Transmission Delivery Charge Increases	\$30,394,719	11.08%
Energy Cost Adjustment Filings	\$50,593,863	18.44%
Energy Efficiency Rider	\$827,410	0.30%
Ad Valorem Tax Surcharge	\$6,291,465	2.29%
Non Environmental General Rate Increases	<u>\$96,664,264</u>	35.24%
Total	\$274,297,496	

\* Recovery Deferred. Totals \$785,822 for the four years. \*\* Includes \$89,525,775 of Increases Associated with Environmental Retrofits. For other details behind the Base Rate Cases, see Exhibit 65.

**WESTAR ENERGY, INC.** History of Rate Change Requests & Approvals for 2008 - Current

General Rate Cases*	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease)
08-WSEE-1041-RTS**	\$177,623,377	\$130,000,000
09-WSEE-925-RTS	\$19,700,000	\$17,116,219
12-WSEE-112-RTS **	\$90,832,779	\$50,000,000
13-WSEE-629-RTS	\$31,700,000	\$30,687,487
15-WSEE-115-RTS**	\$184,915,071	\$119,115,227
17-WSEE-147-RTS	\$17,445,707	\$16,366,511
18-WSEE-328-RTS	\$68,200,652	\$(50,311,893)
Energy Efficiency Rider	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease,
to recover the cost of Commission-Approved Energy	Efficiency Programs.	
11-WSEE-032-TAR	\$5,832,635	\$5,830,491
12-WSEE-063-TAR	\$4,938,954	\$4,900,718
13-WSEE-033-TAR	\$1,138,247	\$1,138,247
14-WSEE-030-TAR	\$(1,347,309)	\$(1,347,309)
15-WSEE-021-TAR	\$(4,979,035)	\$(5,006,999)
16-WSEE-021-TAR	\$672,052	\$(814,186)
17-WSEE-014-TAR	\$(756,229)	\$(756,229)
18-WSEE-024-TAR	\$591,704	\$591,704
19-WSEE-013-TAR	\$462,251	\$451,415
Ad Valorem Tax Rider	Requested Increase (Decrease)	Approved Increase (Decrease)
To recover the cost of Ad Valorem Taxes pursuant to	66-117(f).	
08-WSEE-510-TAR	\$(3,817,594)	\$(3,845,984)
09-WSEE-461-TAR	\$(4,314,250)	\$(7,309,297)
10-WSEE-362-TAR	\$(4,783,674)	\$(4,407,775)
11-WSEE-415-TAR	\$190,302	\$746,312
12-WSEE-407-TAR	\$6,643,522	\$6,622,206
13-WSEE-382-TAR	\$21,893,561	\$21,812,232
14-WSEE-267-TAR	\$12,679,470	\$12,679,470
15-WSEE-227-TAR	\$6,916,376	\$4,936,010
16-WSEE-268-TAR	\$5,009,738	\$5,026,824
17-WSEE-228-TAR	\$(27,015,302)	\$(26,817,308)
18-WSEE-234-TAR	\$(226,009)	\$(248,409)
19-WSEE-217-TAR	\$6,067,980	\$6,264,802

08-WSEE-849-TAR	\$21,924,064	\$22,010,509	
09-WSEE-737-TAR	\$33,725,746	\$32,453,180	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2010)	\$17,221,040	\$13,836,675	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2011)	\$9,688,384	\$10,439,281	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2012)	\$19,459,267	\$19,459,267	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2013)	\$27,261,642	\$27,475,678	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2014)	\$12,268,706	\$11,025,963	
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2015)	\$10,812,840	\$10,819,176	

(continued on back)

#### **Transmission Delivery Charge**

#### Requested Increase (Decrease)

Approved Increase (Decrease)

Approved Increase (Decrease)

To recover the cost of investments in transmission assets and FERC-approved regional transmission expenses pursuant to K.S.A. 66-1237.

08-WSEE-511-TAR	\$(7,316,035)	\$(7,316,035)	
09-WSEE-008-TAR	\$6,132,929	\$6,132,929	
09-WSEE-598-TAR	\$31,764,530	\$31,764,530	
10-WSEE-507-TAR	\$6,417,044	\$6,401,496	
11-WSEE-599-TAR	\$17,352,206	\$17,352,206	
12-WSEE-651-TAR	\$36,724,491	\$36,724,491	
13-WSEE-507-TAR	\$9,132,896	\$11,751,527	
14-WSEE-393-TAR	\$43,581,221	\$43,581,221	
15-WSEE-366-TAR	\$7,224,212	\$7,224,212	
16-WSEE-375-TAR	\$25,349,548	\$25,349,548	
16-WSEE-375-TAR	\$(18,263,254)	\$(18,263,254)	
17-WSEE-377-TAR	\$12,673,550	\$12,739,494	
18-WSEE-355-TAR	\$31,456,832	\$31,456,832	
18-WSEE-355-TAR	\$(20,178,144)	\$(20,178,144)	

#### **Retail Energy Cost Adjustment**

Requested Increase (Decrease)

To recover the cost of Fuel, Purchased Power, and Net SPP Expenses necessary to serve retail electric customers.

09-WSEE-736-ACA	\$33,130,726	\$33,130,726	
10-WSEE-604-ACA	\$(53,089,688)	\$(53,089,688)	
11-WSEE-653-ACA	\$53,893,100	\$53,893,100	
12-WSEE-696-ACA	\$57,005,237	\$57,005,237	
13-WSEE-576-ACA	\$(7,701,293)	\$(7,701,293)	
14-WSEE-428-ACA	\$34,657,477	\$34,657,477	
15-WSEE-421-ACA	\$(400,453)	\$(400,453)	
16-WSEE-421-ACA	\$(51,499,602)	\$(51,499,602)	
17-WSEE-425-ACA	\$17,813,983	\$17,813,983	
18-WSEE-404-ACA	\$(18,692,377)	\$(18,692,377)	

		% of Total	
Environmental Retrofit Increases	\$252,779,247	3.4.59%	
Transmission Delivery Charge Increases	\$184,721,054	25.28%	
Energy Cost Adjustment Filings	\$65,117,110	8.91%	
Energy Efficiency Rider	\$4,987,852	0.68%	
Ad Valorem Tax Surcharge	\$15,459,083	2.12%	
Non Environmental General Rate Increases	\$207,714,033	28.42%	
Total	\$730,778,380		

\* Staff calculates that these General Rate Increases contain \$105,259,518 worth of Environmental Retrofit Increases.
 For other details associated with Base Rate Cases, see Exhibit 64.
 \*\* This excludes revenue associated with rebasing the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider because those revenues are included above.

The percentage increase attributable to each rate change request noted above is provided for KCP&L and Westar in the following two charts.





## C. General Rate Case Overviews

The graphics below provide the details of each general rate case decided by the KCC during the study period (2007-2018). Each graphic provides the following:

- Docket Number,
- > The date the case was filed and the date the rates were effective,
- > The requested total change in base rates and the actual rate change allowed,
- Each of the interveners in the case and their recommended revenue increase/decrease for the utility, and
- > The major drivers of each rate case.

Where possible, Staff has quantified the impact of major rate case drivers on the requested or granted revenue requirement change. For all other requested changes in cost components, by rate case, please see Exhibits 64 and 65 attached to the study.

KCP&L • 2007

DOCKET NO: 07-KCPE-905-RTS DATE FILED: 05/01/2007 RATES EFFECTIVE: 01/01/2008

## REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$47,060,873

KCP&L's rate request included \$12,840,873 for Contribution in Aid of Construction (CIAC) a financial support mechanism approved by the Commission in the 04-1025 Docket to assist KCP&L in maintaining investment grade credit ratings. This CIAC, while collected from customers, is used to offset KCP&L's rate base during the life of the assets that it supported at the time.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$28,000,000

\$11 million of the \$28 million in new revenues was considered CIAC. This amount was calculated by comparing the results of a traditional revenue requirement analysis against several pre-determined credit ratios used by credit rating agencies to determine whether a utility would be rated as investment grade. The CIAC amount was determined as the cash flow amount necessary to support the utility's investment grade credit ratings. Ultimately, this led to lower borrowing costs and rates than would have otherwise been possible.

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 59.50%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. All parties actively supported the settlement agreement.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
   Shawnee Mission Unified School District No. 512
- Danisco USA Inc.
  City of Overland Park, Kansas
- City of Mission, Kansas
- Midwest Utility Users Group

#### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$4.6 million, with no additional CIAC. CURB recommended a rate decrease of \$3 million, but \$16.4 million of additional CIAC, for a net increase of \$13.4 million.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case was the second annual rate case under KCP&L's Comprehensive Energy Plan (CEP), approved by the Commission in the 04-KCPE-1025-GIE Docket. The CEP called for KCP&L to file a series of four annual rate cases to reflect in rates major environmental retrofits (LaCygne 1 Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR), full back-end Air Quality Control System (AQCS) at Iatan 1), the construction of a new, environmentally compliant, super-critical 850 MW Coal Fired-Generating Facility (Iatan 2), a new 100 MW of wind generation facility, enhanced distribution automation and smart grid investments, energy efficiency investments and low-income affordability programs. The primary capital investment that was the focus of this rate case was the SCR installed on LaCygne Unit 1, for a Kansas Jurisdictional Rate Base increase of \$19.5 million, for a total revenue requirement impact of \$3.170 million. This rate case also included additional distribution and transmission investments since KCP&L's last rate case in Docket No. 06-KCPE-828-RTS. Lastly, KCP&L reported increased operating costs generally and approximately \$18 million increase in fuel and purchased power expenses (at this time KCP&L still collected fuel and purchased power expenses through base rates, although KCP&L did file for an Energy Cost Adjustment (ECA) during this rate case).

KCP&L • 2009

## DOCKET NO: 09-KCPE-246-RTS DATE FILED: 09/05/2008 RATES EFFECTIVE: 08/01/2009

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$71,630,000

KCP&L's rate request included \$11.2 million for Contribution in Aid of Construction (CIAC) a financial support mechanism approved by the Commission in the 04-1025 Docket to assist KCP&L in maintaining investment grade credit ratings. This CIAC, while collected from customers, is used to offset KCP&L's rate base during the life of the assets that it supported at the time.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$59,000,000

\$18 million of the \$59 million in new revenues was considered CIAC. This amount was calculated by comparing the results of a traditional revenue requirement analysis against several pre-determined credit ratios used by credit rating agencies to determine whether a utility would be rated as investment grade. The CIAC amount was determined as the cash flow amount necessary to support the utility's investment grade credit ratings. Ultimately, this led to lower borrowing costs and rates than would have otherwise been possible.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 82.37%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. All parties actively supported or expressly did not oppose the settlement agreement.

## INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.
- Shawnee Mission Unified School District No. 512
- Danisco USA, Inc.
- Amcor Pet Packaging USA, Inc.
- City of Mission, Kansas
- Walmart Stores, Inc.
- Donisco USA Inc.

- City of Overland Park, Kansas
- International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers .
- Local Unions No. 412, 1464, and 1613 .....
- Children's Mercy South
- Menorah Medical Center
- Overland Park Regional Medical Center/HCA Midwest Health System
- Shawnee Mission Medical Center
- St. Luke's Hospital/St. Luke's Health System .
- . The Empire District Electric Company
- Kansas Gas Service
- City of Overland Park, Kansas
- City of Mission Hills, Kansas
- Midwest Utility Users Group

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$54 million, of which, \$11.2 million was recommended as CIAC. CURB recommended a rate increase of \$48 million, with \$24 million of that representing CIAC.

## MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case was the third annual rate case under KCP&L's Comprehensive Energy Plan (CEP), approved by the Commission in the 04-KCPE-1025-GIE Docket. The CEP called for KCP&L to file a series of four annual rate cases to reflect in rates major environmental retrofits (LaCygne 1 Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR), full back-end Air Quality Control System (AQCS) at Iatan 1), the construction of a new, environmentally compliant, super-critical 850 MW Coal Fired-Generating Facility (Iatan 2), a new 100 MW of wind generation facility, enhanced distribution automation and smart grid investments, energy efficiency investments and low-income affordability programs. The primary capital investment that was the focus of this rate case was the Air Quality Control System (AQCS) for Iatan Unit 1. The AQCS consisted of a pulse jet fabric filter (bag house), an SCR, a wet flue gas desulfurization unit (FGD or Scrubber) and a new dual-flue chimney, accounting for an increase in KCP&L's Kansas Jurisdictional Rate Base of \$178 million. This investment accounted for approximately \$30.3 million of the revenue requirement increase in this case. This rate case also included additional distribution and transmission investments since KCP&L's last rate case in Docket No. 07-KCPE-905-RTS. Lastly, KCP&L reported increased operating costs generally.

KCP&L • 2010

## DOCKET NO: 10-KCPE-415-RTS DATE FILED: 12/17/2008 RATES EFFECTIVE: 12/01/2010

## REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$55,225,000

## AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$21,930,575

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 39.71%

Settled or Litigated: Partial Settlement/Mostly Litigated. A partial unanimous settlement was offered that resolved a few minor issues. The result of this rate case was determined by the Commission after a full evidentiary hearing on several issues. The hearing lasted three weeks.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Midwest Utility Users Group
- Shawnee Mission Unified School District No. 512 •
- Danisco USA, Inc.
- Amcor Rigid Plastics USA, Inc.
- Sprint Communications Company, L.P.
- Sprint Nextel Corporation
- Sprint United Management Company
- Sprint Corporation
- Walmart Stores, Inc.
- International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers
- Local Unions No. 412, 1464, and 1613
- . Menorah Medical Center
- Overland Park Regional Medical Center/HCA
- Midwest Health System
- Shawnee Mission Medical Center
- St. Luke's Hospital/St. Luke's Health System .
- . The Empire District Electric Company
- Kansas Gas Service .0
  - Atmos Energy
- International Dark Sky Association •

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

At the time of hearing, Staff recommended a revenue requirement decrease of \$7.299 million and CURB recommended an increase of \$9.632 million.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case was the fourth and final rate case under KCP&L's Comprehensive Energy Plan (CEP), approved by the Commission in the 04-KCPE-1025-GIE Docket. The CEP called for KCP&L to file a series of four annual rate cases to reflect in rates major environmental retrofits (LaCygne 1 Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR), full back-end Air Quality Control System (AQCS) at Iatan 1), the construction of a new, environmentally compliant, super-critical 850 MW Coal Fired-Generating Facility (Iatan 2), a new 100 MW of wind generation facility, enhanced distribution automation and smart grid investments, energy efficiency investments and low-income affordability programs. The primary capital investment that was the focus of this rate case was the new 850 MW Super-Critical Coal-Fired Generating Plant (Iatan 2). This plant was constructed with the most modern Air Quality Control System (AQCS) available, the same equipment as was constructed for Iatan Unit 1. The AQCS consisted of a pulse jet fabric filter (bag house), an Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR), a wet flue gas desulfurization unit (FGD or Scrubber) and a new dual-flue chimney. Based on the cost of the environmental equipment on a stand alone basis for Iatan Unit 1, Staff estimates the Kansas Jurisdictional increase to KCP&L's rate base for this equipment was \$151 million. This environmental investment accounted for approximately \$20.8 million of the revenue requirement increase in this case. This rate case also included the non-environmental investment of the Iatan 2 Coal-Fired Generating Unit, Staff and CURB argued in this case that KCP&L was imprudent in managing the construction of this power plant, which led to cost overruns and schedule delays. Staff argued that \$231 million (\$57.7 million on a Kansas Jurisdictional basis) of KCP&L's investments should be disallowed from ratepayer recovery. The Commission's Order disagreed with Staff's claim of imprudence. The inclusion of the full value of Iatan 2 in the revenue requirement accounted for approximately \$14 million in revenue requirement in this case.

## KCP&L • 2012

## DOCKET NO: 12-KCPE-764-RTS DATE FILED: 04/20/2012 RATES EFFECTIVE: 12/16/2012

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$63,550,528

### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$33,156,017

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 52.17%

Settled or Litigated: Mostly Settled/Partially Litigated. A partial unanimous settlement was offered that resolved most issues in the case. After the settlement agreement, nine revenue requirement issues remained disputed, as did all rate design, class cost of service, and the appropriate Return on Equity (ROE). The remaining issues were determined by the Commission after a full evidentiary hearing.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Midwest Energy Consumers Group (MECG)
- Walmart, Stores, Inc.
- DoubleTree by Hilton, Kansas City-Overland Park
- Sprint Communications Company, L.P.
- Sprint Nextel Corporation
- Sprint United Management Company
- Sprint Corporation

#### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$27.495 million. CURB recommended an increase of \$4.9 million. A partial settlement was agreed to before the hearing, which resulted in KCP&L revising its revenue requirement request to \$56.4 million, Staff revising its recommendation to \$29.3 million, and CURB revising its recommendation to \$14.3 million.

## MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

Among the major drivers for this rate case were significant investments in generating facilities to allow KCP&L to meet state and federal emissions control mandates and state renewable energy standards, including: (1) capital investment costs associated with the LaCygne environmental project that was the subject of a predetermination docket in Docket No. 11-KCPE-581-PRE; and (2) capital costs to construct KCP&L's Spearville 2 Wind Facility, a 48 MW renewable energy project that was placed into service in December 2010. Additionally, KCP&L proposed changes to its depreciation rates, and had experienced other cost increases since its last rate case. This case included an increase to Rate Base of \$65.5 million for the Kansas-jurisdictional portion of KCP&L's full environmental retrofit to the LaCygne Generating Station. Additionally, this case included an increase in Rate Base of \$56.6 million for the Kansas-Jurisdictional portion of KCP&L's full environmental retrofit to the LaCygne Generating Station. Additionally, this case included an increase in Rate Base of \$56.6 million for the Kansas-Jurisdictional portion of KCP&L's full environmental retrofit to the LaCygne Generating Station. Additionally, this case included an increase in Rate Base of \$56.6 million for the Kansas-Jurisdictional portion of KCP&L's investment in Spearville 2. Staff calculates that the increase in revenue requirement in this case associated with the LaCygne investment was approximately \$9.187 million for the LaCygne investment, and \$9.191 million for the Spearville 2 wind farm. Notably, the 9.5% Return on Equity (ROE) granted to KCP&L in this proceeding was amongst the lowest ROEs ever granted to any Investor Owned Utility in the last 30 years. At the time of this decision, KCP&L pointed out that only one state had decided a lower ROE in 2012, a South Dakota decision at 9.25%.

## KCP&L • 2014

## DOCKET NO: 14-KCPE-272-RTS DATE FILED: 12/09/2013 RATES EFFECTIVE: 08/06/2014

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$12,113,071

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$11,535,857

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 95.23%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. There was little to no difference between the parties' revenue requirement recommendations in this case. Ultimately, a unanimous settlement agreement was entered into and approved by the Commission.

#### INTERVENERS

Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)

### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$11.549 million. CURB recommended an increase of \$11.538 million.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This was an abbreviated case filed under K.A.R 82-1-231(b)(3)(A), to recover increased capital investment associated with KCP&L's investment in the full environmental retrofit of the LaCygne Generating Station. This environmental retrofit, which contained a pulse jet fabric filter (baghouse) to control particular matter; a Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) unit to control nitrous oxides; a wet flue gas desulphurization (FGD) unit to control sulphur dioxides; activated carbon injection to control mercury; and a new dual-flue chimney, was predetermined as reasonable up to \$1.23 billion (\$281 million Kansas Jurisdictional) by the Commission in Docket No. 11-KCPE-581-PRE. With this docket approximately two-thirds of KCP&L's total investment was reflected in its Kansas rates. Staff calculates that \$13.417 million of the total revenue requirement increase in this case was due to this environmental investment, with other miscellaneous cost decreases offsetting this impact.

## KCP&L • 2015

## DOCKET NO: 15-KCPE-116-RTS DATE FILED: 01/02/2015 RATES EFFECTIVE: 08/30/2015

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$56,278,815

Of the \$56.278 million increase KCP&L requested, \$3.927 million was due to rebasing KCP&L's Property Tax Surcharge, which is revenue neutral to KCP&L and its customers. Accordingly, KCP&L's request was for a net increase in new revenues of \$52,350,957. Note, these amounts do not include the impact of KCP&L's decision to establish a Transmission Delivery Charge (TDC) as authorized by K.S.A. 66-1237, which was estimated at \$14.92 million.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$40,125,968

Of the \$40.125 million revenue requirement increase granted to KCP&L, \$6.378 million was found to be due to rebasing KCPUs Property Tax Surcharge, therefore, the net increase in new revenues granted by the Commission equaled \$33,747,858. Note, this does not include the impact of KCP&L's approval to establish a TDC pursuant to K.S.A. 66-1237, which was estimated at \$14.92 million.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 71.30%

Settled or Litigated: Mostly Settled/Partially Litigated. A unanimous settlement was offered that resolved almost all issues in the case. After the settlement agreement, the only remaining issues were the proper Return on Equity (ROE) for KCP&L, the treatment of unrecovered costs associated with the early retirement of KCP&L's analog meters (when KCP&L replaced them with smart meters), and the proper amount of fuel inventory to assume for KCP&L's coal plants in the ratemaking process. Those issues were determined by the Commission after a full evidentiary hearing.

#### INTERVENERS

Shawnee Mission Medical Center, Inc.

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Midwest Energy Consumers Group (MECG)
- Walmart, Stores, Inc.
- East Kansas Agri-Energy, LLC
- OPRMC LLC d/b/a/ Overland Park Regional Medical Center
- Atmos Energy

.

- Kansas Gas Service
  - Brightergy, LLC
  - Climate and Energy Project

#### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$35.454 million. CURB recommended an increase of \$16.889 million.

### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

Among the major drivers for this rate case were the completion of KCP&L's investment in the full environmental retrofit of the LaCygne Generating Station. This environmental retrofit, which contained a pulse jet fabric filter (baghouse) to control particular matter; a Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) unit to control nitrous oxides; a wet flue gas desulphurization (FGD) unit to control sulphur dioxides; activated carbon injection to control mercury; and a new dual-flue chimney, was predetermined as reasonable up to \$1.23 billion (\$281 million Kansas Jurisdictional) by the Commission in Docket No. 11-KCPE-581-PRE. KCP&L also reported significant increased capital investments to extend the life of Wolf Creek and other information technology cost increases. Staff calculates that approximately \$15.993 million of this revenue requirement increase was due to the completion of the Environmental Retrofit at LaCygne. Additionally, \$24 million of KCP&L's rate increase request was attributable to the cost increases and upgrades to the critical service water systems at Wolf Creek. The Commission established KCP&L's Return on Equity (ROE) at 9.3% in this proceeding, an ROE which was the second lowest ROE granted to any investor owned electric utility in the country at the time of the decision.

## KCP&L • 2017

## DOCKET NO: 17-KCPE-201-RTS DATE FILED: 11/09/2016 RATES EFFECTIVE: 07/07/2017

## REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$-2,829,191

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$-3,557,588

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: -125.75%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. There was very little difference between the parties' revenue requirement recommendations in this case. Ultimately, a unanimous settlement agreement was entered into and approved by the Commission.

#### INTERVENERS

Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)

### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a revenue increase of \$4,192,681. CURB recommended an increase of \$3,792,805.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This was an abbreviated case filed under K.A.R 82-1-231(b)(3)(A), to true up the final costs of the environmental upgrades and Wolf Creek capital additions included in base rates in the 15-KCPE-116-RTS Docket. These capital costs were included in base rates at budgeted levels in the 15-116 Docket to allow for the separation of Westar and KCP&L's rate cases, and to allow KCP&L more timely recovery of its necessary capital investments than would have otherwise been the case under strict historical test year ratemaking. Because the actual costs of these investments came in less than projected in the previous case, this was a rate reduction.

## KCP&L • 2018

## DOCKET NO: 18-KCPE-480-RTS DATE FILED: 05/01/2018 RATES EFFECTIVE: 12/27/2018

### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$32,948,941

Of KCP&L's \$32.948 million request, \$6.783 million accounted for the effect of rebasing the amount of KCP&L's Property Tax Surcharge, which is revenue neutral to KCP&L and its customers. Therefore, KCP&L's net requested increase in revenues was \$26,165,358.

### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$-3,916,417

While KCP&L's rates were decreased by \$3.916 million, \$6.783 million of this revenue requirement was due to the impact of rebasing KCP&L's Property Tax Surcharge. Accordingly, the net reduction to KCP&L's revenues was actually \$10.7 million.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: -111.89%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. A unanimous settlement agreement was supported by all parties to the docket and approved by the Commission.

### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Walmart, Inc.
- Midwest Division OPRMC, LLC d/b/a Overland Park Regional Medical Center
- American Fuel & Petrochemical Manufacturers
- Magellan Pipeline Company, L.P.
- Kansas Gas Service
   Petroleum Marketers and Convenience
- Association of Kansas, Inc.
- Olathe Unified School District 233
- Spring Hill Unified School District 230
- Blue Valley Unified School District 229
- Johnson County Community College

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended an increase in revenues of \$5,551,739. CURB recommended a reduction in revenues of \$5,416,417.

### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

The major drivers of this case included KCP&L's completion of its Customer Information System (CIS) billing system, and other capital investments which accounted for \$33.6 million of KCP&L's rate request; a depreciation study which recommended increased depreciation rates for KCP&L's assets, which increased KCP&L's revenue requirement request by \$24 million; and the need to change KCP&L's permanent rates to reflect the effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which reduced KCP&L's revenue requirement by \$34.5 million. Additionally, KCP&L included the results of \$7.5 million of guaranteed merger savings in this rate case, as contemplated by the settlement agreement approved by the Commission in Docket No. 18-KCPE-095-MER.

WESTAR • 2008

## DOCKET NO: 08-WSEF-1041-RTS DATE FILED: 05/28/2008 RATES EFFECTIVE: 01/23/2009

### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$177,623,377

Note: This excludes the revenue neutral impact of rebasing the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider (ECRR), which was requested to continue being collected in the ECRR. Ultimately, the ECRR ended up being rebased, which amounted to an additional \$27.2 million being recovered in base rates, as opposed to the ECRR. Accounting for the ECRR rebasing, Westar's request was \$204,822,106.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$130,000,000

As noted above, the net increase to revenues granted by the Commission in this proceeding was \$130 million. Accounting for the impact of rebasing the ECRR, base rates increased as a result of this proceeding by \$157,198,729.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 73.19%

Settled or Litigated: Partial Unanimous Settlement. All but one paragraph (treatment of off-system sales) settled unanimously by all parties. Kansas Industrial Consumers opposed this one paragraph, but supported the remainder of the agreement.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.
- Kaw Valley Electric Cooperative
- Doniphan Electric Cooperative

- Nemaha-Marshall Electric Cooperative
- Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
- United States Department of Defense
- Midwest Energy, Inc.
- . Protection One, Inc.
- Coffeyville Resources and Marketing, LLC
- Cessna Aircraft Company
- Occidental Chemical Corporation
- Hawker Beechcraft Corporation
- Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- Corgill, Inc.
- The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company

### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended \$95 million increase. CURB recommended \$75 million increase. KIC recommended \$79 million increase.

## MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

The major drivers behind this rate case were the need to update rates to include capital investment associated with Emporia Energy Center (EEC), and the Central Plains and Flat Ridge Wind Farms (Wind Farms). These capital investments were the subject of predetermination proceedings as authorized by K.S.A. 66-1239. EEC was approved as a reasonable and prudent capital expenditure up to the amount of \$318 million in Docket No. 07-WSEE-616-PRE. The Wind Farms were approved in Docket No. 08-WSEE-309-PRE up to \$282 million. This rate case included an increase to rate base of \$277,883,168 for EEC and \$202,216,102 for the Wind Farms. All of the Wind Farm investment and \$78 million of EEC were considered Construction Work in Progress (CWIP) at the time which is allowed in rate base pursuant to K.S.A. 66-128, despite not being in service. Additionally, Westar had experienced a significant ice storm and increases in its operating and maintenance expenses since the last rate review concluded, in Docket No. 05-WSEE-981-RTS. The ice storm alone accounted for \$9.4 million of this rate increase. Staff calculates that approximately \$64.8 million of this rate increase was driven by the return on and of the EEC and Wind Farms. This rate case also contained a depreciation study which accounted for approximately \$7.6 million of the rate increase.

WESTAR • 2009

## DOCKET NO: 09-WSEE-925-RTS DATE FILED: 06/02/2009 RATES EFFECTIVE: 02/01/2010

### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$19,719,270

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$17,116,219

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 86.80%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement. All interveners actively supported the settlement.

### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- City of Lawrence, Kansas
- City of Wichita, Kansas

- Hawker Beechcraft Corporation
- Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- Cargill, Inc.
- Coffeyville Resources and Marketing, LLC
- Cessna Aircraft Company
- The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company.

#### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Kroger, and USD 259 took no position on Revenue Requirement in this docket. CURB recommended an increase of \$17.116 million. Staff recommended an increase of \$17.112 million. KIC's testimony indicated it would support the position taken by Staff.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This rate case was an abbreviated rate case, pursuant to K.A.R. 82-1-231(b)(3)(A). As such, only a few major ratemaking elements were updated following Westar's full rate case Docket 08-WSEE-1041-RTS. Those elements were updating final capital costs and depreciation expense associated with the Emporia Energy Center (EEC), and the Central Plains and Flat Ridge Wind Farms (Wind Farms). Essentially this case included capital expenditures and depreciation expense on these large capital investments that hadn't been included in the 08-1041 Docket, without the need for a full rate case proceeding. This case included an increase to rate base of \$71 million associated with Westar's Wind Farms (for a total capital investment of \$273 million), and \$35 associated with the final stages of the EEC (for a total capital investment of \$305 million).

#### WESTAR • 2012

## DOCKET NO: 12-WSEE-112-RTS DATE FILED: 08/25/2011 RATES EFFECTIVE: 04/21/2012

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$90,832,776

Note: This excludes the revenue neutral impact of rebasing the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider (ECRR), which was requested to continue being collected in the ECRR. Ultimately, the ECRR ended up being rebased, which amounted to an additional \$56.7 million being recovered in base rates, as opposed to the ECRR. Accounting for the ECRR rebasing, Westar's request was \$147,532,776.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$50,000,000

As noted above, the net increase to revenues granted by the Commission in this proceeding was \$50 million. Accounting for the impact of rebasing the ECRR, base rates increased as a result of this proceeding by \$106.7 million.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 55.05%

Settled or Litigated: Non-Unanimous Settlement. The settlement agreement was either actively supported or explicitly non-opposed by all parties to the docket with the exception of CURB.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.
- International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (Local Union No. 304)
- Occidental Chemical Corporation
- Hawker Beechcraft Corporation

- Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- Cargill, Inc.
- Coffeyville Resources and Marketing, LLC
- The Boeing Company
- Kansas Association of School Boards
- Tyson Foods
- United States Department of Defense

#### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a \$33.7 million increase. CURB recommended a \$44.8 million increase, which includes rebasing \$56.7 million of ECRR revenue. Therefore, CURB's recommendation was in reality a net revenue decrease of \$11.8 million. USD 259 recommended a \$52.7 million increase while noting it may make further recommendations as the case progresses. KIC recommended a \$30.3 million increase.

### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case included the first effects of the environmental retrofits to the LaCygne Generating Station, predetermined to be reasonable and prudent in the 11-KCPE-581-PRE docket. Additionally, Westar filed a new depreciation study and a request for a new vegetation management proposal entitled Reliabilitree. Westar's request included an increase of \$20 million a year for vegetation management to support and improve reliability, \$37 million a year for increased employee benefits and pensions expenses, \$30 million a year for increased depreciation rates, and \$6 million a year for an ice storm amortization.

### WESTAR • 2013

## DOCKET NO: 13-WSEE-629-RTS DATE FILED: 04/15/2013 RATES EFFECTIVE: 12/11/2013

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$31,748,245

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$30,687,487

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 96.66%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement. The settlement was supported or explicitly not opposed by all parties to the docket.

## INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.
- Frontier El Dorado Refining, LLC
- Occidental Chemical Corporation

- Kansas City Power and Light Company
- Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- Cargill, Inc.
- CVR Refining, LP
- Kansas Association of School Boards
- Tyson Foods
- CCPS Transportation, LLC

### STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended \$30.13 million increase. CURB Recommended \$30.62 million increase.

### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case was an abbreviated rate case, filed pursuant to K.A.R. 82-1-231(b)(3)(A), which allows a utility to file a limited issue rate proceeding within 12 months of a previous full rate proceeding. The primary purpose behind this case was to update capital costs associated with the environmental retrofits at LaCygne Generating Station. These environmental upgrades were predetermined to be prudent up to a cost of \$615 million (Westar Share) in Docket No. 11-KCPE-581-PRE. The capital costs associated with this project accounted for \$41.3 million of Westar's request. This amount was offset by the expiration of amortization expense included in rates from a previous ice storm.

WESTAR • 2015

DOCKET NO: 15-WSEE-115-RTS DATE FILED: 03/02/2015 RATES EFFECTIVE: 10/28/2015

### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$143,799,840

Westar requested \$250,895,257 in new revenues. Of this amount, \$41,115,227 was associated with rebasing the Property Tax Surcharge, which is revenue neutral to Westar and its customers. Of this amount, \$65,980,190 was associated with rebasing the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider, which was also revenue neutral to Westar customers. The result is a requested net increase in new revenues of \$143.8 million.

## AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$78,000,000

The Final Order approved an increase in rates of \$185,320,681. Of this total base rate increase, \$107,095,417 was due to rebasing revenue neutral riders, for a net new revenue increase of \$78 million.

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 54.24%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. All parties to the docket were actively supportive or explicitly unopposed to the agreement.

## INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.
- United States Department of Defense
- Occidental Chemical Corporation
- Frontier El Dorado Refining, LLC

- Cargill, Inc.
- Kansas Association of School Boards (KASB)
- Tyson Foods
- Tallgrass Pony Express Pipeline, LLC
- Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- Coffeyville Resources & Marketing, LLC
- CCPS Transportation, LLC
- Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company .

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a \$55.03 million increase in revenues. CURB recommended a \$50.8 million increase in revenues. KIC, USD 259, and the KASB recommended an \$85.6 million increase in revenues.

## MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

The major drivers of this rate case include the completion of the LaCygne environmental retrofit project, the completion of life extension projects at the 30-year old Wolf Creek Nuclear Generating Station, and general cost increases since the previous full rate case, the 12-WSEE-112-RTS Docket. Staff calculates that \$54.2 million of the total revenue requirement increase in this Docket was attributable to the LaCygne environmental retrofit going into service.

### WESTAR • 2017

## DOCKET NO: 17-WSEE-147-RTS DATE FILED: 10/26/2016 RATES EFFECTIVE: 06/23/2017

### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$17,437,270

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$16,366,511

Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: 93.86%

Settled or Litigated: Unanimous Settlement Agreement. All parties to the docket were actively supportive or explicitly unopposed to the agreement.

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Unified School District No. 259
- International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (Local Union No. 304)
- United States Department of Defense

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a \$16.317 million increase in revenues. CURB recommended a \$16.464 million increase in revenues.

#### MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

This case was an abbreviated rate case, filed pursuant to K.A.R. 82-1-231(b)(3)(A), which allows a utility to file a limited issue rate proceeding within 12 months of a previous full rate proceeding. This case was the final rate case to update final costs associated with the LaCygne environmental retrofit project, which was predetermined to be prudent and reasonable up to a Westar cost of \$615 million. Additionally, Westar included the revenue requirements associated with \$50 million of capital expenditures for the Electric Distribution Grid Resiliency (EDGR) pilot program that was approved in the Unanimous Settlement Agreement in the rate case Docket 15-WSEE-115-RTS. Staff calculates that \$9.9 million of this revenue requirement increase was due to the final roll-in of LaCygne costs and the termination and transfer to base rates of the Environmental Cost Recovery Rider (ECRR). The remaining portions of the revenue requirement increase were due to Wolf Creek upgrades and the EDGR project upgrades.

WESTAR • 2018

DOCKET NO: 18-WSEE-328-RTS DATE FILED: 02/01/2018 RATES EFFECTIVE: 09/29/2018

#### REQUESTED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$52,512,545

Westar's actual request was for \$68,200,652 in total revenue increases, however, \$15,688,107 of this increase was due to a rebasing of amounts previously collected from the Property Tax Surcharge (PTS). This effect is revenue neutral once Westar's PTS is fully revised, therefore the net increase in new revenues sought by Westar was \$52.5 million.

#### AUTHORIZED REVENUE REQUIREMENT INCREASE: \$-66,000,000

Westar's rates were reduced by \$50,311,893, but that reflects the PTS rebasing, as discussed above. This is actually a net reduction of new revenue to Westar of \$66 million. The \$-66 million number is directly comparable to the \$52.512 million requested by Westar.

#### Percentage of Requested Increase Granted: -225.68%

Settled or Litigated: Non-Unanimous Settlement Agreement. All parties to the docket supported the settlement agreement, with the exception of the solar parties (Sierra Club, Vote Solar, Climate and Energy Project).

#### INTERVENERS

- Citizens Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB)
- Kansas Industrial Consumers (KIC)
- Unified School District No. 259
- Kroger Co.
- · Spirit AeroSystems, Inc.
- CCPS Transportation, LLC
- Coffeyville Resources Refining & Marketing, LLC
- Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.
- United States Department of Defense
- HollyFrontier El Dorado Refining, LLC
- Occidental Chemical Corporation
- Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company
- Learjet, Inc.
- Climate and Energy Project
- Cargill, Inc.
- Kansas State Board of Regents
- Topeka Metropolitan Transit Authority
- Tyson Foods
- Sierra Club
- Vote Solar
  - Midwest Power Company

## STAFF AND INTERVENER DIRECT TESTIMONY ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT

Staff recommended a \$69 million revenue reduction. CURB recommended a \$138.4 million revenue reduction. KIC recommended a \$54 million reduction.

## MAJOR RATE CASE DRIVERS

There are several major drivers behind this rate case. First, Westar sought to update its rates to reflect the investment in its new wind farm, the Western Plains Wind Farm, which was responsible for approximately \$31.8 million of Westar's request. This reflects the addition to rate base of approximately \$417 million of capital investment associated with this 281 MW wind farm. Westar also sought to increase revenues to account for the expiration of Production Tax Credits associated with its Flat Ridge and Central Plains Wind Farms, which were the subject of the 08-1041 and 09-925 Rate Cases. Additionally, Westar sought to revise rates to reflect the fact that it was losing \$40 million in wholesale sales margins which previously benefitted retail customer rates. Lastly, Westar was seeking to update rates to reflect merger savings associated with the recently completed merger between Westar and KCP&L, and to reflect the new lower federal income tax rate of 21%, which produced ratepayer savings of approximately \$74 million per year.

# XII. Peer Review—Benchmarking, Evaluation of Factors Contributing to 2017 Rate Levels, and Change in Rates from 2008-2017

## A. Purpose of the Peer Review

One of the goals of the rate study is to identify the major differences between surrounding states' rates and Westar and KCP&L's rates in order to better understand and document the major contributors to any differences. Staff has undertaken such a review, and the results of that analysis are presented below.

## B. Scope of the Peer Review

In undertaking this evaluation, Staff first identified a list of every investor-owned, regulated electric utility operating in each of the following states: Colorado, Oklahoma, Missouri, Texas, Arkansas, Iowa, South Dakota, North Dakota, and Minnesota. This list comprises 23 utilities, listed below:

		SNL Institution		
	Name of Company	Key	Ultimate Parent	Regulated States
1	ALLETE Minnesota Power	4061513	ALLETE Inc.	MN, ND
2	Black Hills Colorado Electric Utility Company, LP	4215172	Black Hills Corporation	CO
3	Black Hills Power	4058912	Black Hills Corporation	SD, WY
4	El Paso Electric	4056994	El Paso Electric	AZ, NM, TX
5	Empire District Electric Company	3005475	Algonquin Power and Utilities Corp.	KS, MO, AR, OK
6	Entergy Arkansas, Inc.	4056995	Entergy Corporation	AR, LA
7	Entergy Texas, Inc.	4199135	Entergy Corporation	LA, TX
8	Interstate Power and Light Company	4057087	Alliant Energy Corporation	IA
9	Kansas City Power & Light Company	4072456	Evergy, Inc.	KS, MO
10	KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company	4000843	Evergy, Inc.	MO
11	MDU Resources Group	4010692	MDU Resources Group	MT, SD, ND, WY
12	Mid American Energy Company	4057091	Berkshire Hathaway	IL, IA, SD
13	Northern States Power	4057754	Xcel Energy, Inc.	MN, SD, ND
14	Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company	4061951	Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company	MN, WI
15	NorthWestern Corporation	4057053	NorthWestern Corporation	IA, MT, ND, SD, WY
16	Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company	4057016	OGE Energy Corp.	OK, AR
17	Otter Tail Power Company	4147257	Otter Tail Corporation	MN, ND, SD
18	Public Service Company of Colorado	4057094	Xcel Energy Inc.	CO
19	Public Service Company of Oklahoma	4057023	American Electric Power Company, Inc.	OK, TX
20	Southwestern Electric Power Company	4057026	American Electric Power Company, Inc.	AR, LA, TX
21	Southwestern Public Service Company	4057027	Xcel Energy Inc.	NM, TX
22	Union Electric Company	4057102	Ameren Corporation	MO
23	Westar Energy, Inc.	4057066	Evergy, Inc.	KS, OK

States Covered: All Vertically Integrated IOUs in Kansas, Missouri, Texas, Oklahoma, Colorado, Iowa, Arkansas, South Dakota, North Dakota, Minnesota

Next, Staff downloaded, sorted, and analyzed every major facet of these 23 companies' cost structure and operating characteristics. The following is a list of each of the tables or

charts that were created from the data. Each of these is available either in the body of the report or as an exhibit attached hereto:

- A waterfall graph that presents graphically the major drivers behind Westar and KCP&L's respective change in rates from 2008-2017. The graphs were created by analyzing the change in major cost categories as reported in each utilities' FERC FORM 1 during the study period.<sup>72</sup>
- ➢ For each of the factors identified below, there is a table in the report that provides the following: 2008 level, 2017 level, nominal change from 08-17, percentage change from 08-17, and the Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of change from 08-17. Additionally, each of the 23 utilities is ranked for each of these figures listed and a high, low, and average value for each variable has been calculated, along with the comparison between Westar and KCP&L to each of these computed figures.
  - o Retail Revenue/kWh (Exhibit 3)
  - Net Plant<sup>73</sup>/Retail MWh (Exhibit 22)
  - o Depreciation Expense/Retail MWh (Exhibit 25)
  - Net Production Plant/Retail MWh (Exhibit 27)
  - o Net Transmission Plant/Retail MWh (Exhibit 29)
  - Net Distribution Plant/Retail MWh (Exhibit 30)
  - Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh<sup>74</sup> (Exhibit 14)
  - Total O&M Expense/MWh (Exhibit 19)
  - o Total Retail Sales MWhs (Exhibit 37)
  - o Industrial Sales MWhs (Exhibit 43)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> These graphs are not meant to be a substitute for the detailed analysis above that describes in detail each of the rate changes Westar and KCP&L have received in Kansas during the study period, and the drivers behind those rate changes. The biggest reason for this is that both the Westar and KCP&L data includes cost drivers that would be non-jurisdictional to the KCC, including costs that would be allocated to KCP&L's Missouri Jurisdictional customers, as well as FERC-jurisdictional cost drivers for both Westar and KCPL. The graphs are helpful though in discerning the major categories in which KCP&L and Westar have experienced increased costs during this time frame.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Net Plant is Gross Plant, Property and Equipment less Accumulated Depreciation. This is often the most significant contribution to a utility's Rate Base.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Net Power Production Expense is defined as Total Power Production Expense (inclusive of Fuel, Purchased Power, Other Power Production Expenses), less Sales for Resale. Sales for Resale are subtracted from "Gross" Power Production Expense in recognition of the fact that Sales for Resale margins are often credited to retail ratepayers in the ratemaking process, whether through direct credits, or via an allocation process.

- o Commercial Sales MWhs (Exhibit 41)
- Residential Sales MWhs (Exhibit 39)
- o Total Customers (Exhibit 45)
- Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (Exhibit 53)
- Customer, Sales, and A&G Expenses<sup>75</sup>/MWh (Exhibit 49)
- o Distribution Expense/MWh (Exhibit 56)
- o Transmission Expense/MWh. (Exhibit 60)
- Graphs that compare the 2017 values for each of the factors discussed above against the 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh. Additionally, we created a similar graph but compared the change in each of the above factors from 08-17 to the change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 08-17. These graphs make it possible to observe how each member of the study group compares versus their peers on each of the factors, but more importantly, they make it possible to identify which factors tend to be more explanatory in terms of absolute rate levels or rate level changes.
- Graphs that present, on a single graph, the 2008 levels of each factor, the 2017 levels of each factor, and the change in the factor, for all 23 utilities in the study group. These graphs allow at-a-glance determinations of how each of the utilities in the study group compares against its peers for each of the factors discussed above.
- Tables that present, on a single table, the 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh compared to several factors determined to be the most relevant, and how those factors compare between the 23 utilities in the study group and the average, high, and low observation in the group. For example, one table compares 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh to the following factors: 2017 Net Plant/Retail MWh, 2017 Industrial MWhs, 2017 Total Retail Sales MWhs, 2017 Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh, and 2017 Total Electric O&M/MWh (Exhibit 4). Another table compares 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh to the following factors: 2017 Transmission Expense/MWh, 2017 Distribution Expense/MWh, 2017 A&G Expense/MWh, 2017 Salaries and Wages/MWh, and 2017 Number of Customers (Exhibit 5). These tables are instrumental in determining, at-a-glance, what the most significant factors are for each utility that explains their relative rate levels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> This category of costs includes all costs reported under the FERC Form 1 in the following categories: Customer Accounts, Customer Service and Informational, Sales Expenses, and Administrative and General Expenses; throughout the report and tables as "A&G Expense."

- The same table as described in the previous bullet point, but comparing the rate change from 2008-2017/kWh to the change in each of the most relevant cost drivers/factors during this same time frame in Exhibits 6 and 7.
- A graph that compares coal and gas-fired generation capacity to the change in Net Power Production Expense/MWh during the study period (Exhibit 8).
- Lastly, A graph that compares coal and gas-fired generation capacity to the change in Total Revenue/KWh from 2008-2017 (Exhibit 9).
  - C. Data Sources and Methodology

The data evaluated for purposes of the peer review is all publicly available financial data, sourced from the companies' Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Form 1. The study period covers the ten years from 2008 to 2017 (the latest data available at the time the study was prepared). In order to download, sort, and categorize the data, Staff utilized a subscription service to SNL Financial, an offering of S&P Global Market Intelligence.

While reviewing the cost, operating characteristics, rate levels, and other data used in the peer review, it is important to remember that all of the data used in the study comes from FERC Form 1 data (or other public data sourced through SNL Financial) and it is therefore presented on a utility-wide basis. This means that all sales, cost, rate, and other data is presented at the consolidated company level, without distinction for the state-bystate differences that are certain to exist within the data. For example, Kansas City Power and Light's usage characteristics, rates, costs, and other information are not separated out by Kansas and Missouri in the study. Likewise, Southwestern Public Service Company's data is not separated out to identify the different costs and rate levels between New Mexico and Texas. This is a necessary shortfall of the study in order to use FERC FORM 1 as the source of the cost and operating data to do the analysis. However, the use of FERC FORM 1 data provides relative assurance of the consistency with which the utility data is presented over time, it allows all of the data to be publicly available, and accessible by anyone who wishes to analyze or verify the data used in the study. Also, the fact that this information is presented on a utility-wide basis captures the reality that many of the cost drivers that affect a revenue requirement are common costs that affect more than one state, or rate jurisdiction. This is a reality of ratemaking in the utility industry, and the rate study accounts for this.

## D. Discussion of Findings

The data reveals that there are often three major factors that explain the reason for a utility's relative rate levels, either in the year 2017, or expressed as the amount of rate change over the last ten years. These three factors include: levels of Net Plant

(expressed as Net Plant/Retail MWh in the study), Net Power Production Expense (expressed as Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh in the study), and Industrial Sales levels (expressed as both the absolute level of Industrial Sales and as a percentage of Total Retail Sales in the study). While there are certainly exceptions to this, some combination of these three factors are usually implicated if a utility has high or low rate levels, or high or low levels of rate change. Throughout the peer review section that follows, the reader will notice that these factors are repeatedly the most impactful of all the factors evaluated in this study.

One common theme that affects two of these factors is the percentage of natural gas-fired generation capacity a utility has (versus coal, nuclear, or wind). We found that utilities that have a high percentage of natural gas-fired generation capacity have experienced both the beneficial impact of significant declines in natural gas prices (and thus Net Power Production Expense) and also have avoided the significant capital investments that came along with the requirement to retrofit coal-fired generating units in order to comply with state and federal environmental mandates.<sup>76</sup> The opposite has held true for utilities with heavy coal-fired generation capacity.

The reduction in natural gas prices and the influx of renewable energy (primarily windpowered) in the Southwest Power Pool (SPP) had led to significant declines in wholesale market prices in SPP and thus Sales for Resale margins. These Sales for Resale margins used to be a significant source of benefit for the retail customers of some of these utilities, keeping Net Power Production Expenses low. For example, KCP&L had the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh in 2008, but now has the 12<sup>th</sup> highest, and KCP&L has experienced the largest increase in Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh in the study group.

Below we examine graphs of each of these major factors and how each relates to 2017 rate levels and rate changes between 2008 and 2017. What stands out as one reviews the data is the interrelationship between the three factors. That is, if there is an exception in which one of the three factors is not consistent with the general trend exhibited by the other utilities, it can usually be explained by one of the other three factors being significantly high or low as the case may be. For example, a utility may have high Net Plant but low rates, which seems a contradiction. But a review of all three major factors provides an explanation in that the utility has high Industrial Sales MWhs. Conversely, a utility may have low Net Power Production Expenses, but high rates. A review of the three major factors provides an explanation that it is because the utility has invested significantly in its Net Plant/Retail MWh. Repeatedly, when there is an exception to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Coal-fired generating units are also just generally more capital intensive per MW of capacity than natural gas-fired units. Historically the trade-off for this higher cost construction was the stability and predictability of coal versus natural gas. In recent years, natural gas costs have both declined and become more predictable. Time will tell whether this relatively-recent phenomenon will persist in the years to come.

these three factors, it can be explained by significant variation (either positive or negative) in one of the other two.

After presenting a discussion of how Net Plant, Net Power Production Expense, and Industrial Sales contribute to absolute and relative rate levels, we discuss in detail our findings as it relates to the cost drivers of Westar and KCP&L during the study period.

As discussed in more detail below, Westar's change in rates from 2008-2017 can almost entirely be attributed to increases in Net Plant/Retail MWh (and the necessary increases in rates to support these investments). These investments were predominantly in the areas of Production Plant and Transmission Plant. The driving factor behind Westar's increased Production Plant was environmental retrofits to coal-fired generating units mandated by state and federal environmental regulations.<sup>77</sup> Westar's Transmission Plant investments are driven by the need to replace aging infrastructure to maintain reliability, the desire of state and federal policy makers to expand the transmission grid to enhance the development of renewable energy and competitive power markets, and investor-supportive cost recovery mechanisms and ratemaking incentives available at the FERC for these investments.

In addition, Westar experienced significantly above average reduction in Industrial and Retail Sales MWhs, ranking 8<sup>th</sup> lowest and 6<sup>th</sup> lowest in the categories, respectively. Last, Westar's Transmission Expense/MWh, related in part to its increased Transmission Plant investment, has increased faster than the average of the study group.

Westar's Net Power Production Expense was basically flat during this time frame, decreasing \$(.71)/MWh, however, this is significantly below the average reduction of the study group, at \$(5.51)/MWh. In an industry that has been dominated by reductions in natural gas prices and wholesale power prices, a utility that keeps its Net Power Production Expense flat will fall behind on a relative basis to its peers. Staff calculates that 23.5% of the difference in rate growth between Westar and the study group can be attributed to the fact that the average Net Power Production Expense fell faster than Westar's during this time frame.<sup>78</sup> Lastly, the data shows that Westar's relative rate changes during this period of time have not been driven by increases in A&G Expense or Total Salaries and Wages. In fact, Westar managed these expenses better than the average of the study group over this time period, ranking 8<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> lowest, respectively in these two categories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Another option was to shut these units down and convert them to natural gas or build new units. A review of the records of the KCC proceedings which evaluated the decisions to retrofit these units will show that these options were considered costlier and or riskier at the time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Westar's Retail Revenue/kWh grew by \$.0371/kWh during this period, but the average company in the study group grew by \$.0167/kWh, for a difference of \$.0204/kWh (or \$20.40/MWh). Westar's Net Power Production Expense declined \$(.71)/MWh during this period, but the average of the study group declined by \$(5.51)/MWh, making Westar's relative change, \$4.80/MWh higher than the group. \$4.80/MWh is 23.52% of \$20.40/MWh.
For KCP&L, the major drivers explaining its rate change from 2008 to 2017 can be attributed to increases in Net Plant/Retail MWh, driven by environmental retrofit projects and the construction of a new coal-fired generation unit, Iatan 2. Additionally, KCP&L has experienced the largest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh of any other utility in the study group. This expense increased by \$13.14/MWh for KCP&L, versus the average reduction of \$(5.51)/MWh experienced by the group. Staff calculates the overall increase of \$18.65/MWh is responsible for 61% of KCP&L's above-average (versus the study group) growth in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017.<sup>79</sup>

Additionally, KCP&L experienced the 5<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Industrial Sales MWhs sold and Total Retail Sales. KCP&L's relatively higher rate increases during this period have not been as a result of mismanagement of A&G Expense or Total Salaries and Wages/MWh. In fact, KCP&L's rate of change in each of these categories is below the average of the study group, ranking 15<sup>th</sup> highest and 11<sup>th</sup> highest, respectively.

### i. Net Plant/Retail MWh

All other things being equal, Net Plant/Retail MWh was a significant driver behind a utility's rate levels in 2017, and the change in a utility's rates during 2008-2017. This relationship is obvious in both graphs below. For both graphs, Net Plant/Retail MWh is presented on the right axis, while the rate levels and changes are presented on the left axis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> While KCP&L's Retail Rate Revenue/kWh grew by \$.0473/kWh during this period, the average company in the study group grew by \$.0167/kWh, for a difference of \$.0306/kWh (or \$30.60/MWh). KCP&L's Net Power Production Expense/MWh grew by \$18.65/MWh more than the average of the study group. \$18.65/MWh divided by \$30.60/MWh is 60.94%.





While there are a few exceptions, the underlying data can help explain why. For instance, looking at Exhibit 20, 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh versus 2017 Net Plant/Retail MWh, Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company (NWEC) has low Net Plant/Retail MWh but high rates. Also, MidAmerican Energy has high Net Plant/Retail MWh but low rates, so what explains these apparent contradictions? NWEC has the highest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh of the study group in 2017, at \$60.48/MWh. Also, NWEC is by far the smallest utility of the group, with the smallest Industrial Sales load and below average Industrial Sales Mix<sup>80</sup>. MidAmerican, on the other hand, had the highest Industrial Sales Volume of the study group, and the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest Industrial Sales Mix, at 52.78% of Total Retail Sales. MidAmerican also has the absolute lowest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh of the group.

Looking at Exhibit 20, which presents the change in Retail Revenue /kWh from 2008 to 2017 (left axis) versus the change in Net Plant/Retail MWh (right axis) over the same time frame, one company that had relatively large rate increases during this time frame, but significantly below average increases in net plant (5<sup>th</sup> lowest) is Union Electric (Ameren Missouri). This can be explained by the fact that Ameren Missouri had the absolute largest reduction in Industrial Sales load during this period, and the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh. On the other hand, El Paso Electric had average increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, but significantly below average rate change. This can be explained by the fact that El Paso Electric had the 4<sup>th</sup> largest decline in Net Power Production Expenses during this period.

A more detailed review of the specific drivers affecting each of these companies' rates can be found in the detailed peer review section below.

## ii. Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh

All other things being equal, Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh was a significant driver behind a utility's rate changes between 2008 and 2017, though there was a less distinct relationship between the 2017 level of Net Power Production Expense and Retail Revenue/kWh in 2017. This relationship is presented in Exhibits 10 and 11 below. For both graphs, Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh is presented on the right axis, while the Retail Revenue/kWh and the change in Retail Revenue/kWh is presented on the left axis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> As a percentage of Total Retail Sales.





Exhibit 10 demonstrates that with just a few exceptions, lower Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh does tend to be accompanied by lower retail rates, though as noted there are exceptions. For example, KCP&L has below average and Westar has well below average Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, but both have above average rates in 2017. This is because, as discussed above, both utilities have significantly high amounts of Net Plant/Retail MWh. Also, KCPL has the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest Industrial Sales Mix in the study group in 2017. Westar has low, and KCP&L has average Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, but each has spent billions of dollars in Net Plant additions during this period in order to maintain those Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh.

Still on Exhibit 10, while Entergy Texas has relatively high Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh (4<sup>th</sup>), it has the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest rates in 2017. This is because Entergy Texas' Net Plant/Retail MWh is by far the lowest of the study group, at just 52% of the average. Contributing to this assessment is also the fact that Entergy Texas has the 5<sup>th</sup> highest Industrial Sales Mix of the group.

Exhibit 11 demonstrates that with only minor exceptions, a large change in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh was likely to result in significant rate changes from 2008-2017. The utility experiencing the largest increase in Net Power Production expense, KCP&L, also had the largest increase in Total Retail Rate Revenue/kWh.

Likewise, the largest reduction in Retail Rate Revenue/kWh was Entergy Texas, which had the largest reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh. One notable exception in this graph is MidAmerican. Despite the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest increase in Net Power Production expense, MidAmerican's rates increased at a rate below the study group average. As previously discussed, this is likely the result of significant increases in Industrial MWhs sold during this time frame, amongst other explanations discussed in more detail below.

The change in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh has largely been driven by major structural changes in the market for natural gas and wholesale power markets. Dramatic reductions in natural gas during the study period have driven wholesale power prices down, as have the influx of renewable energy, primarily wind-powered generation. The utilities in the group that have experienced significant reductions in Net Power Production Expense/MWh, are predominantly utilities with heavy concentrations of natural gas-fired generation capacity. In fact, the three utilities in the study group with the largest rate reductions from 2008-2017 (Entergy Texas, El Paso Electric, and Public Service Company of Oklahoma) are the three highest utilities in terms of gas-fired generation capacity mix in the study group. This can be viewed on Exhibit 8 below, presenting change in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh on the right axis, and coal-fired and natural gas-fired capacity on the left axis (sorted by gas-fired capacity).





A similar relationship is exhibited when coal-fired and gas-fired generation capacity is plotted against the change in Total Rate Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017 as well:

Another relationship that can be viewed from the data is the fact that utilities experiencing large reductions in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh during this period tended to have high levels of Net Power Production Expense in 2008, when natural gas prices and wholesale power market prices were much higher. Likewise, utilities that had low Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh (coal heavy utilities that were likely benefitting from low exposure to natural gas prices and large off-system sales margins) are not faring so well in 2017. In Exhibit 12 below, blue bars represent 2008 Net Power Production Expenses, red bars represent 2017 Net Power Production Expenses (both on the left axis), and the green line is the change between the two periods (presented on the right axis).



iii. Industrial Sales Levels Vs. Retail Rates

The last major driver of Total Retail Revenue/KWh and change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017, is Industrial Sales MWhs. We evaluate this statistic using both Industrial Sales in MWhs, and Industrial Sales Mix, as a percentage of Total Retail Sales MWhs. What can be observed from the graphs below is that, all other things being equal, higher industrial MWhs sold tends to be correlated with lower Retail Rate Revenue/kWh, and vice versa. This is the case with changes in Industrial load and Retail Revenue/kWh changes as well. All three graphs present Retail Revenue/kWh or change in Retail Revenue/kWh on the left axis and Industrial Sales MWhs or Industrial Sales Mix on the right axis.

What is evident from Exhibit 33 below is that a significant change in Industrial Sales load is likely to be accompanied by a significant change in Total Retail Revenue/kWh. This factor is often significant enough to reverse the course of what would be expected to result from another of the three factors we've discussed, like Net Plant/Retail MWh or Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh. For instance, MidAmerican's growth in

Industrial Sales MWhs from 2008-2017 has overshadowed the fact that it experienced the second largest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh over the same time frame. Likewise, Ameren Missouri has experienced the 5<sup>th</sup> largest increase in rates over the study period, but its Net Plant/Retail MWh grew at the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest pace (just 49% of Westar's growth over this time frame).



In Exhibit 32 below, Staff presents 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh versus Industrial Sales Mix (the percentage of Total Retail Sales represented by Industrial Retail Sales MWhs). As you can see from this graph, the higher a utility's Industrial Sales Mix, the lower its rates are likely to be, and vice versa. For example, nearly 75% of Minnesota Power's total Retail Sales are from Industrial customers (compared to 30.04% on average for the study group). This allows them to maintain the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest rates of the study group, despite having average levels of Net Plant/Retail MWh and Total Retail Sales MWhs that are just 61.6% of the average. Another example that stands out from the graph is Northwestern Corporation. Northwestern has the lowest Industrial Sales Mix of the study group, at 8.56% of Total Retail Sales. Northwestern also has the 6<sup>th</sup> highest rates of the study group in 2017, despite having Net Plant/Retail MWh that is below the average of the group (ranked 12<sup>th</sup>), and nearly average Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh, ranked 10<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup>, respectively.



On the last graph below, Exhibit 31, comparing 2017 Retail Rate Revenue/kWh to 2017 Industrial Sales MWhs, it's easy to see that very low Industrial Sales levels are likely to be accompanied by high rates, and vice versa. There are a few exceptions to this relationship though, one being Northern States Power (NSP). While NSP has the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Industrial Sales Load of the study group, it has the 8<sup>th</sup> highest rates. Staff attributes this to the fact that NSP has the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh of the group.



So, are changes in Industrial Sales MWhs a cause of rate changes, or are they a symptom of rate changes? Probably a little of both, but one example suggests that significant changes in Industrial sales load can have a significant impact on rate levels. Ameren Missouri, for example, has experienced a dramatic reduction in its Industrial Sales MWh profile, losing 51% of its Industrial Sales MWhs since 2008. During this time, Ameren Missouri went from having the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Industrial Sales Load in 2008, to the 13<sup>th</sup> highest in 2017. This loss of load does not appear to have been the result of high rates, as Ameren Missouri's rates were the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest in the group in 2008, and they are still below average at \$.0932/kWh (ranked 13<sup>th</sup> in the group). However, with this loss of Industrial Load, Ameren Missouri's rate increases during this time. This is despite the fact that Ameren Missouri's Net Plant/Retail MWh has grown at just 73% of the average growth in Net Plant of the study group (5<sup>th</sup> lowest growth in Net Plant/Retail MWh).

The last graph of this section illustrates how there have been significant winners of Industrial Sales MWhs and significant losers of Industrial Sales MWhs between 20082017, but for most of the members of the study group, there has not been that much change in Industrial Sales MWhs. On Exhibit 42 below, the blue bars represent 2008 Industrial Sales MWhs, the red bars represent 2017 Industrial Sales MWhs (both presented on the left axis) and the green line represents the change between the two (presented on the right axis).



For comparison purposes, the three utilities with the highest growth in Industrial Sales MWhs during this period were MidAmerican, Entergy Texas, and Southwestern Public Service. These three utilities' rates declined on average \$(.0045/kWh) during this period.<sup>81</sup> The three utilities with the largest reduction in Industrial Sales MWhs during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> MidAmerican's rates increased \$.0137/kWh, Southwestern Public Service's rates decreased by \$(.0041)/kWh, and Entergy Texas' rates decreased by \$(.0231)/kWh. These rate changes ranked 10<sup>th</sup> lowest, 4<sup>th</sup> lowest, and the lowest observation, respectively, out of the study group.

this period were Union Electric (Ameren Missouri), Northern States Power, and Interstate Power and Light. These three utilities' rates increased on average \$.0292/kWh.<sup>82</sup>

### E. Detailed Examination of Westar and KCP&L Cost Drivers

In this section we detail our findings as it relates to Westar and KCP&L's cost drivers, as reported in their FERC FORM 1s. This section is not a substitute for the detailed section above on the rate history of Westar and KCP&L before the Kansas Corporation Commission, as that information presents the actual history of rate changes, what the specific drivers were by rate case or surcharge mechanism, and how those rate change categories/drivers compare to the total amount of rate changes during the study period. However, because utility ratemaking is so closely influenced by a utilities' underlying cost of providing utility service, a detailed examination of the changes in Westar and KCP&L's costs overtime is instructive and appropriate for this study. To begin, we present the following waterfall graphs that present Westar and KCP&L's Total Retail Revenue/kWh in 2008, the cost drivers that have contributed to changing rates, and the ultimate level of Retail Revenue/kWh in 2017. First, Exhibit 1, with Westar:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Union Electric's rates increased \$.0360/kWh, Interstate Power and Light's rates increased by

<sup>\$.0266/</sup>kWh, and Northern States Power's rates increased by \$.0251/kWh. These rare changes ranked 5<sup>th</sup>, 7<sup>th</sup>, and 8<sup>th</sup> highest, respectively, out of the study group.



This graph was created from data taken from Westar's FERC FORM 1, as calculated by Staff. The first green bar starts with Westar's 2008 Retail Revenue/MWh of \$66.15/MWh, then adds the identified cost drivers together to arrive at Westar's 2017 Retail Revenue/MWh, \$103.21. Each of the drivers identified, Return on Net Plant/Retail MWh<sup>83</sup>, Depreciation Expense/Retail MWh, Net Power Production

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> To calculate the Return on Net Plant/Retail MWh, Staff first calculated Net Plant/Retail MWh for 2008, then applied Westar's Commission-authorized Pre-Tax Rate of Return (the Weighted Average Cost of

Expense/Retail MWh, Transmission Expense/MWh, Depreciation Expense/MWh and A&G Expense/MWh are all calculated as the difference between each of these values as calculated for 2017, less each of these values as calculated for 2008. What is obvious from this chart is that the change in Return on Net Plant, and the associated Depreciation Expense, explains almost all of the increase in Westar's Retail Rate Level/kWh during this period. Transmission Expense/MWh has also increased significantly for Westar, owing to Westar's substantial Transmission investment, and the substantial transmission investment that has taken place in the Southwest Power Pool (SPP) during this period. This also shows that Net Power Production Expense has not changed much for Westar during these ten years. What is also evident from this graph is that the change in Westar's rate changes. There is also an error factor of around 3% that cannot be explained by the changes in cost categories as we've calculated.<sup>84</sup>

Next, Exhibit 2— with KCP&L:

Capital after being adjusted for State and Federal Income Tax Expense) adopted by the Commission in the 08-WSE-1041-RTS rate proceeding. The same calculation was done for 2017, using the Pre-tax Rate of Return established by the Commission in the 15-WSEE-115-RTS Docket (the rate of return that would have been in effect for 2017). Then the difference between the two was calculated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> As noted above, this analysis is not perfect, because it does not account for the difference between FERC-regulated returns on investment and KCC-regulated returns on investment, and because there are necessarily time delays between when a utility incurs costs and when those costs affect the revenue requirement.



This graph, like the one presented regarding Westar above, was created solely from data taken from KCPL's FERC Form 1, then used to calculate changes in cost drivers per Retail MWh or Total MWh, as indicated. Also like the Westar graph, because the source data used for this analysis was taken from KCP&L's FERC FORM 1, it contains a blending of Kansas and Missouri jurisdictional data, so there is necessarily going to be an error factor in this analysis. Notwithstanding those caveats, the major drivers behind KCP&L's Total Rate Revenue/kWh during this period are obviously the change in Return on Net Plant/Retail MWh<sup>85</sup>, and the Depreciation Expense/Retail MWh that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> To calculate this change in return on Net Plant/kWh Staff used the same methodology described above for Westar, instead using the Commission-Authorized Pre-Tax Rate of Return (Pre-Tax ROR) from the 07-

accompanies that change in Net Plant. Also, KCP&L's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh has increased significantly during this period, accounting for 27.89% of the increase in Retail Rate Revenue during this period.<sup>86</sup> Changes in Transmission Expense/MWh were around half the impact on KCPL's costs as compared to Westar's increase in this expense. Also, Distribution Expense/MWh and A&G Expense/MWh had negligible impact as one can see by examining the chart.

## F. Peer Company Benchmarking and Cost Driver Review

In this section we evaluate and compare against one another, each of the 23 companies in the study group, including Westar and KCP&L, on their major cost categories and sales levels that are relevant to an evaluation of a utility's Total Retail Revenue/kWh or the change in Total Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017. We have split these factors into two tiers, the 1<sup>st</sup> tier typically being the most relevant or explanatory, however, there are exceptions where the 2<sup>nd</sup> tier factors prove to be more important or relevant for an individual utility and its Total Retail Revenue/kWh levels. Also, the 2<sup>nd</sup> tier factors include items like A&G Expense/MWh and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh, which are not always major contributing factors to ultimate rate levels or rate changes, but often are of great concern to policymakers and the public generally.

First, we present two tables that compare 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh to the 1<sup>st</sup> tier factors, and then the 2<sup>nd</sup> tier factors. We will then discuss our observations about Westar and KCP&L, as presented in these tables. Then, we will present two tables that compare the change in Retail Rate Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017 to our two tiers of cost and sales data, with a discussion of our observations about Westar and KCP&L following that. Last, we will present and discuss each of the 21 other companies in the study group with a discussion of how these companies rank on certain important cost/sales categories, with special emphasis on the cost/sales categories we believe are most explanatory or relevant to each peer companies' 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh or the change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017. In these charts, each column of data is conditionally formatted such that the highest values in that category are shaded red, the lowest categories are shaded green, and middle values are shaded yellow. Additionally, each value for each cost/sales category is ranked from high to low to show where each peer utility company ranks versus its peers within that category.

KCPE-905-RTS case (for the 2008 data year) and the Pre-Tax ROR from the 15-KCPE-116-RTS case for the 2017 data year.

 $<sup>^{86}</sup>$  \$13.14/MWh / \$47.29 of increased Retail Revenue/MWh = 27.78%.

Exhibit 41st Tier Expl	anatory	Fact	ors Vs. 2	017	Retail Re	venu	e Per kW	/h (so	rted by 2017	Retail	Revenue per	· kWh)
									2017 Total			
									Production		2017 Total	
	2017 Retail	(High	2017 Net	(High	2017	(High	2017 Total	(High	Expense	(High	Electric	(High
	Revenue	to	Plant Per	to	Industrial	to	Retail Sales	to	Less SFR Per	to	O&M Per	ť
		LOW)	Retail MM	LOW)		LOW)		LOW)		LOW)		LOW)
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$ 0.1294	ч	\$ 377.98	6	433,761	21	1,901,235	21	\$ 60.18	2	\$ 82.69	2
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 0.1198	2	\$ 441.48	4	1,814,780	5	14,534,482	12	\$ 33.20	12	\$ 45.72	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 0.1195	з	\$ 220.38	21	42,378	23	168,116	23	\$ 60.49	ч	\$ 83.81	ч
Black Hills Power	\$ 0.1173	4	\$	ц	430,300	22	1,759,765	22	\$ 26.38	20	\$	12
Empire District	\$ 0.1147	თ	\$ 420.12	თ	1,080,150	17	4,515,535	19	\$      27.97	17	\$ 60.80	ы
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 0.1132	6	\$ 321.86	12	659,409	19	7,705,578	17	\$ 35.85	10	\$ 55.20	9
El Paso Electric	\$ 0.1049	7	\$ 348.52	9	1,045,319	18	7,843,959	16	\$ 39.05	6	\$ 50.46	15
Northern States Power	\$ 0.1046	• «	\$ 30b.64	, Ip	8,829,073	<b>;</b> u	34,065,667	• ⊢	\$ 51.44	<b>:</b> u	\$ 68.04	<b>;</b> μ
westare Power and light	\$ 0.1014	10 4	\$ 317.38	13 <b>v</b>	6.733.293	7	19,293,164 14.393.847	13	\$ 27.86	18	\$ 61.50	4
KCPLGMO	\$ 0.0963	11	\$ 304.53	17	1,289,913	16	7,931,919	15	\$ 30.81	15	\$ 57.12	7
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 0.0955	12	\$ 317.07	14	6,449,173	9	28,628,812	ω	\$ 39.00	7	\$	14
Union Electric	\$ 0.0932	13	\$ 311.80	15	4,464,551	13	31,597,238	2	\$       27.03	19	\$ 43.49	21
MDU Resources Group	\$ 0.0922	14	\$ 355.71	7	539,877	20	3,306,470	20	\$ 34.64	11	\$ 59.66	6
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 0.0839	15	\$ 351.05	∞	5,267,845	12	17,147,210	11	\$ 32.96	13	\$ 43.84	20
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 0.0833	16	\$ 327.00	11	7,528,301	4	20,888,456	6	\$ 36.40	9	\$     48.56	16
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 0.0787	17	\$ 274.54	18	6,777,520	6	26,277,891	4	\$ 38.74	∞	\$ 54.59	10
Ottertail Power	\$ 0.0773	18	\$ 257.95	19	1,938,423	14	4,814,984	18	\$ 31.46	14	\$ 54.50	11
Minnesota Power	\$ 0.0753	19	\$ 330.48	10	6,697,793	∞	8,997,352	14	\$	22	\$ 45.60	19
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ 0.0750	20	\$ 203.34	22	5,668,890	11	18,026,293	10	\$ 39.45	თ	\$ 56.93	∞
Entergy Texas	\$ 0.0736	21	\$	23	7,520,955	თ	18,058,445	9	\$ 44.84	4	\$ 52.41	13
Mid American Energy	\$ 0.0728	22	\$ 477.08	2	12,964,048	ц	24,561,979	თ	\$ 18.92	23	\$ 31.11	23
Southwestern Public Service	\$ 0.0678	23	\$ 241.23	20	10,721,063	2	19,305,301	7	\$ 30.18	16	\$ 42.44	22
Average	\$ 0.0953		\$ 332.52		4,547,202		14,596,683		\$ 35.24		\$ 54.34	
High	\$ 0.1294		\$ 503.26		12,964,048		34,065,667		\$ 60.49		\$ 83.81	
Low	\$ 0.0678		\$		42,378		168,116		\$ 18.92		\$ 31.11	
	¢ 0.0070		¢ 101 10		003 111 1				¢ (10 00E1)		¢ 10 201	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 0.00/9		\$ 1.151.4U		1, 141, 628		4,696,501		< (10.8801)		\$ (8.39) \$ (8.61)	
KCP&LVs. Average	\$ 0.0245		\$ 108.96		(2,732,422)		(62,201)		\$ (2.0380)		\$ (8.61)	

Exhibit 52nd Ti	er Explar	nator	v Factors	Vs.	2017 Ret	ail R	evenue	Per	kWh (Sorte	d by 20	)17 Retail R	levenu	e per kWh)	
			2017		2017						2017 Industrial Sales as %			
	2017 Retail	(High	Transmission	(High	Distribution	(High	J0 V F10C	(High	2017 Salaries	(High	of Total	(High	2017	(High
	kwh kwh	Low)	MWh	Low)	MWh	Low)	per MWh	Low)	Per MWh	Low)	Ketali Sales	Low)	Customers	Low)
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	<b>_</b>	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	1	1	د	4 4 4	n		5	22.010/	2		2
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 0.1198	2	\$ 4.03	5	\$ 2.63	17	\$ 10.35	10	\$ 11.84	7	12.49%	2	539.416	ا و
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 0.1195	ω	\$ 0.89	23	\$8.15	1	\$ 13.66	2	\$ 16.02	4	25.21%	13	13,898	23
Black Hills Power	\$     0.1173	4	\$	ω	\$ 4.23	7	\$ 9.74	11	\$ 8.77	13	24.45%	14	72,026	22
Empire District	\$ 0.1147	ഗ	\$	12	\$	ω	\$ 13.57	ω	<b>\$</b> 21.85	ц	23.92%	15	171,839	17
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 0.1132	б	\$ 4.87	13	\$ 5.00	ഗ	\$ 11.46	7	\$ 11.77	∞	8.56%	23	431,099	13
Northern States Power	\$ 0.1049 \$ 0.1046	∞ ~	\$ <u>9.07</u>	4 5	\$ 2.73	14	\$ 10.61	υ	\$ <u>9.70</u> \$ 14.80	σĘ	25.92%		415,029 1.466.398	
Westar Energy	\$ 0.1032	9	\$ 8.67	თ	\$ 2.71	15	\$ 7.67	17	\$        7.92	17	29.49%	10	706,505	7
Interstate Power and Light	\$ 0.1014	10	\$ 18.01		\$ 1.98	20	\$ 10.62	8	\$	12	46.78%	4	489,611	11
KCPL GMO	\$ 0.0963	11	\$	11	\$ 4.18	∞	<b>\$</b> 16.64	4	\$ 11.92	6	16.26%	19	323,476	16
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 0.0955	12	\$	20	\$ 2.68	16	\$ 8.93	14	\$ 8.03	16	22.53%	17	1,459,191	2
Union Electric	\$ 0.0932	13	\$ 2.28	18	\$ 3.31	H	\$ 8.76	15	\$ 11.76	9	14.13%	20	1,215,799	ω
MDU Resources Group	\$ 0.0922	14	\$ 11.01	2	\$ 4.59	6	\$ 9.44	13	\$ 16.35	ω	16.33%	18	142,901	19
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 0.0839	5	\$ 4.56	14	Ş 3.27	12	\$ 3.96	23	Ş 5.31	21	30.72%	9	534,632	10
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 0.0833	16	\$ 1.44	21	\$ 2.92	13	\$ 9.52	12	\$ 3.93	22	36.04%	7	708,864	б
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 0.0787	17	\$ 6.01	10	\$ 3.44	10	\$	16	\$	14	25.79%	12	838,252	4
Ottertail Power	\$       0.0773	18	\$ 6.18	9	\$ 3.52	9	\$ 13.53	4	\$ 18.70	2	40.26%	6	131,852	20
<b>Minnesota Power</b>	\$ 0.0753	19	\$ 6.28	∞	\$	22	\$     7.19	18	\$	15	74.44%	ч	146,370	18
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ 0.0750	20	\$ 7.23	б	\$	4	\$	20	\$	20	31.45%	∞	550,023	∞
Entergy Texas	\$ 0.0736	21	\$	22	\$ 1.86	21	\$	21	\$	23	41.65%	თ	446,771	12
Mid American Energy	\$       0.0728	22	\$	17	\$ 2.63	18	\$	19	\$ 6.92	18	52.78%	ω	770,335	თ
Southwestern Public Service	\$ 0.0678	23	\$ 7.06	7	\$	23	\$ 5.26	22	\$ 6.85	19	55.53%	2	389,818	15
Average	\$ 0.0953		\$ 5.56		\$ 3.60		\$ <u>9.57</u>		\$ 10.38		30.04%		524,384	
High	\$     0.1294		\$ 18.01		\$		\$ 16.64		\$		74.44%		1,466,398	
Low	\$ 0.0678		\$ 0.89		\$		\$ 3.96		\$ 3.38		8.56%		13,898	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 0.0079		\$ 3.11		\$ (0.89)		\$ (1.90)		\$ (2.46)		-0.55%		182,121	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$ 0.0245		\$ (1.53)		\$ (0.97)		\$ 0.78		\$		-17.55%		15,032	

As you can see from these tables, Westar's Total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$10.32/kWh in 2017, the 9<sup>th</sup> highest Retail Rate Revenue/kWh in the study group in 2017. Also, this was \$.0079/kWh (8.28%) higher than the average Retail Rate Revenue/kWh in the study

group in 2017. Westar served 706,705 customers in Kansas at the end of 2017, which was the 7<sup>th</sup> highest observation in the group. Westar's Net Plant/Retail MWh was the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest in the group, at \$463.92/MWh, \$130/MWh higher than the group average. Westar had slightly above average Industrial Sales MWhs, and above average Total Retail MWhs, ranking 10<sup>th</sup> and 8<sup>th</sup> amongst the study group for these observations, respectively. Westar also had slightly below average Industrial Sales Mix, at 29.49% (10<sup>th</sup>) of Total Retail Sales, vs. 30.04% for the group. Westar had the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh amongst the group, at \$24.35/MWh, almost \$11/MWh less than the average for the group. Westar also had low Total O&M Expense/MWh, the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest in the group at \$45.95/MWh, which is \$8.39/MWh less than average. Westar's Transmission Expense/MWh was \$3.11/MWh higher than the group average and ranked 5<sup>th</sup> highest in the group, at \$8.67/MWh. Westar's Distribution Expense/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (7<sup>th</sup> lowest), and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (7<sup>th</sup> lowest), were all significantly below the average for the group. Referring to our three key factors/cost drivers discussed earlier in the report, Westar has high Net Plant, low Net Power Production Expenses, and average Industrial Sales MWhs and Industrial Sales Mix. This all adds up to a utility with rates that are 8.28% higher than average during 2017.

KCP&L's Total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.1198/kWh in 2017, the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest Retail Rate Revenue/kWh in the study group for 2017. Also, this was \$.0245/kWh (25.70%) higher than the average Retail Rate Revenue/kWh in the study group in 2017. This can be explained by two primary factors, first, KCP&L's Net Plant/Retail MWh was the 4<sup>th</sup> highest in the group, at \$441.48/MWh, versus \$332.52/kWh for the study group. Second, KCP&L's Industrial Sales Mix of just 12.5% is the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest of the study group. Additionally, KCP&L's Industrial Sales MWhs are 60% less than the average of the group. KCP&L's Total Retail Sales MWhs are very close to average at just half of one percent less than the average of the study group. KCP&L's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh is just below the average of the group, at \$33.020/MWh (versus \$35.20/MWh for the group average). Its Total O&M/MWh is \$45.72/MWh, which is the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest among the group. KCP&L has below average Transmission Expense/MWh (15<sup>th</sup> highest) and Distribution Expense/MWh (17<sup>th</sup> highest). It's A&G Expense/MWh was \$10.35/MWh, versus \$9.57/MWh for the group (10<sup>th</sup> highest) and its Total Salaries and Wages/MWh was \$11.84/MWh, versus \$10.38/MWh for the group (7<sup>th</sup> highest). Referring to our three key factors/cost drivers discussed before, KCP&L has high Net Plant, average Net Power Production Expenses and low Industrial Sales and Industrial Sales Mix. This adds up to a utility with the second highest Retail Revenue/kWh in the study group, at 25.70% above the average for the group.

Next, we present two tables comparing the change in Total Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017 versus two tiers of cost/sales data. These tables are essentially presented in the same fashion as the two previous tables, but this time it is the change in each of these factors that is evaluated and compared amongst the companies in the study group,

because the tables are attempting to explain the change in Retail Revenue/kWh instead of the 2017 level.

Exhibit 61st Tier l	Expl	anat	vno	Factors V	s. Ch	ange in F	-2008)	l Revenu	e Pei	r kWh (sort	ed by (	Change in Reta	Ē
	Chan	ıge in								2017-2008 Total Power			
	Reve	tail enue	(High	Change in Net Plant Per	(High	Change in Industrial	(High	Change in Total Retail	(High	Production Expense Less	(High	2017-2008 Total Electric	(High
	per	kWh	ť	Retail MWh	ť	MWHs (2017-	ť	Sales MWhs	ť	SFR Per Retail	ť	O&M Per	ť
	(2017	-2008)	Low)	(2017-2008)	Low)	2008)	Low)	(2017-2008)	Low)	MWh	Low)	MWh	Low)
Kansas City Power and Light	Ş	.0473	4	\$ 242.67	4	(246, 326)	19	(724,030)	19	\$ 13.14	ч	\$ 7.50	7
Black Hills Power	\$ 0	.0425	2	\$ 264.10	2	15,879	9	86,832	12	\$	4	\$       4.88	9
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$ 0	.0389	ω	\$ 283.08		(18,824)	12	155,320	11	\$	6	\$ 9.71	თ
Westar Energy	\$ 0	.0371	4	\$	ω	(79,840)	16	(421,293)	18	\$ (0.71)	9	\$	Ľ
Union Electric	\$ 0	.0360	თ	\$	19	(4,790,959)	23	(6,383,388)	23	\$	ω	\$	6
Empire District	\$ 0	.0329	6	\$ 224.93	6	6,900	10	(256,442)	17	\$ (9.50)	16	\$ 10.31	ω
Interstate Power and Light	γ γ	0266	0 7	\$ 195.55 \$ 160.36	10	(1,008,894)	21	(1,567,502)	21	\$ (8.28) \$ 7.77	r 14	\$ 9.94 ¢ 4.7E	4
MDU Resources Group	÷ ÷	.0215	9	\$       230.50	ы	57,465	∞	643,018	6	\$	∞	\$ 12.57	2
Minnesota Power	\$ 0	.0213	10	\$ 218.21	∞	(39, 540)	13	(141,037)	15	\$ (2.93)	10	\$ 6.76	∞
KCPL GMO	\$ 0	.0178	11	\$ 153.54	15	(355, 507)	20	(1,125,148)	20	\$ (11.50)	17	\$ (4.63)	14
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 0	.0163	12	\$	11	(49,495)	14	375,946	∞	\$ (14.73)	19	\$ (5.11)	15
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 0	.0148	13	\$ 218.34	7	(134,076)	17	(24,580)	14	\$ (8.54)	<b>1</b> 5	\$ (5.81)	17
Mid American Energy	\$ 0	.0137	14	\$ 207.80	9	3,852,707		3,633,022	4	\$	2	\$ (3.01)	13
Ottertail Power	\$ 0	.0105	15	\$	21	653,272	4	570,607	7	\$	7	\$ <u>19.67</u>	4
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 0	.0081	16	\$	16	(189, 157)	18	871,711	4	\$ (7.50)	13	\$ (0.32)	12
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 0	.0081	17	\$	14	175,876	6	357,491	9	\$ (13.74)	18	\$ (10.44)	20
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 0	.0024	18	\$	18	316,826	თ	(149,446)	16	\$ (5.92)	11	\$ (8.69)	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 0	.0012	19	\$ 39.98	23	72	11	(2,098)	13	\$ (6.49)	12	\$ (5.61)	16
Southwestern Public Service	\$ (O	.0041)	20	\$	17	1,453,838	ω	1,111,430	ω	\$ (21.37)	22	\$ (16.28)	21
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ (O	.0050)	21	\$	20	117,722	7	272,835	10	\$ (19.05)	21	\$ (10.32)	19
El Paso Electric	\$ (0	.0057)	22	\$	13	(56,958)	15	809,605	თ	\$ (14.89)	20	\$ (17.09)	22
Entergy Texas	\$ (C	.0231)	23	\$ 53.24	22	1,572,562	2	2,524,958	2	\$ (28.88)	23	\$ (36.41)	23
	۸ ٦	0167		ሩ 170 ƙ4		() ()		(66 196)		د (۲ ۲ ۱) د		¢ (1 10)	
High	s o	.0473		\$ 283.08		3,852,707		3,633,022		\$ 13.14		\$ 19.67	
Low	\$ (0	.0231)		\$ 39.98		(4,790,959)		(6,383,388)		\$ (28.88)		\$ (36.41)	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 0	.0204		\$ 84.08		(77, 190)		(355,097)		\$ 4.80		\$ 2.54	
KCP&LVs. Average	\$ 0	.0306		\$ 72.04		(243,676)		(657,834)		\$		\$ 8.69	

Exhibit 72nd Tier	Explana	itory	/ Fact	ors Vs. C	hange ber kWh	2017-2008)	il Reve	nue Per k\	Nh (sor	ted by Chan	ge in
	Change i			2017-2008		2017-2008				2017-2008	
	Retail Reve	nue F	Ranking	Transmission	Ranking	Distribution	Ranking	2017-2008 A&G	Ranking	Salaries	Ranking
	per kWh (20 2008)	017- (	High to Low)	Expense Per MWh	(High to Low)	Expense Per MWh	(High to Low)	Expense per MWh	(High to Low)	and Wages Per MWh	(High to Low)
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 0.0	473	4	\$	13	\$       0.52	12	\$	15	\$ 1.52	11
Black Hills Power	\$       0.0	425	2	\$ 5.88	ω	\$        2.58	ω	\$	11	\$ 1.81	10
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$       0.0	389	ω	\$ (1.38)	23	\$	2	\$	14	\$ 1.47	13
Westar Energy	\$       0.0	371	4	\$	7	\$ 0.10	19	\$	16	\$	14
Union Electric	\$       0.0	360	ы	\$ 1.49	16	\$ 0.31	16	\$	13	\$        2.70	∞
Empire District	\$ 0.0	329	6	\$	11	\$	4	\$ 6.74	ц	\$ <u>13.25</u>	1
Interstate Power and Light	\$ 0.0	266	7	\$ 12.84	ц	\$ 0.42	13	\$	6	\$	12
Northern States Power	\$ 0.0	251	∞	\$	4	\$        0.25	18	\$	7	\$3.60	4
MDU Resources Group	\$ 0.0	215	9	\$ 8.47	2	\$ 0.68	11	\$	18	\$ 0.07	20
KCPI GMO	\$ 0.0	178	= E	\$ 4.65 \$ 2.10	5 5	\$ 0.73	2 م	\$ <u>5.29</u>	3	\$ (0.43) \$	21
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 0.0	163	12	\$	14	\$ 1.63	თ	\$	4	\$	ω
Southwestern Electric Power	\$       0.0	148	13	\$	12	\$	10	\$        0.03	23	\$      0.89	15
Mid American Energy	\$ 0.0	137	14	\$        0.99	17	\$ (0.47)	22	\$	17	\$       0.84	16
Ottertail Power	\$ 0.0	105	5	\$	9	\$	7	\$	2	\$ 6.73	2
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 0.0	081	16	\$	∞	\$	6	\$	10	\$       2.95	7
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 0.0	081	17	\$ 0.48	19	\$ 0.78	∞	\$	∞	\$ 2.48	9
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 0.0	024	18	\$        0.34	21	\$ (0.74)	23	\$ 3.94	ы	\$	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 0.0	012	19	\$        0.27	22	\$ (0.44)	21	\$ 0.96	19	\$	19
Southwestern Public Service	\$ (0.0	041)	20	\$	ы	\$ 0.39	14	\$ 2.01	12	\$	6
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ (0.0	050)	21	\$	6	\$	щ	\$	20	\$	17
El Paso Electric	\$ (0.0	057)	22	\$	20	\$       0.28	17	\$ 2.76	9	\$3.60	ы
Entergy Texas	\$ (0.0	231)	23	\$         0.62	18	\$        0.34	15	\$        0.54	21	\$ (0.18)	22
Ауегаре	\$ 0.0	167		\$ 3.53		\$ 0.95		\$ 2.50		\$ 2.33	
High	\$ 0.0	473		\$ 12.84		\$ 4.98		\$ 6.74		\$	
Low	\$ (0.0	231)		\$ (1.38)		\$ (0.74)		\$ 0.03		\$ (0.43)	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 0.0	204		\$ 1.64		\$ (0.85)		\$ (0.99)		\$ (1.00)	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$ 0.0	306		\$ (0.71)		\$ (0.43)		\$ (0.91)		\$ (0.81)	

From these tables we can see that Westar had the 4<sup>th</sup> highest increase in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017, at \$.0371/kWh. This was \$.0204/kWh larger than the

average rate increase of the group of \$.0167/kWh. This attributed to Westar's increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, which increased by the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest margin in the group, at \$254.71/MWh (versus \$170.64/MWh on average). Additionally, Westar experienced the 8<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Industrial Sales MWhs, and the 6<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Total Retail Sales MWhs during this time frame, ranking 16<sup>th</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup> for these observations, respectively. Additionally, Westar's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh was basically flat at \$(.71)/MWh, while the study group average declined \$(5.51)/MWh. Westar's Total O&M Expense/MWh also grew more than average, at \$1.35/MWh, versus a study group average reduction at \$(1.19)/MWh. Westar's Transmission Expense/MWh grew the 7<sup>th</sup> fastest of the group, at \$5.17/MWh versus the average of \$3.53/MWh. Offsetting this was the fact that Westar's Distribution Expense/MWh (5<sup>th</sup> lowest), A&G Expense/MWh (8<sup>th</sup> lowest), and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>) grew below the average rate of the group, though these factors were only below the study group average around \$1/MWh each. Focusing on our three key factors, Westar's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew the 3<sup>rd</sup> fastest, its Industrial Sales MWhs shrank by the 8<sup>th</sup> largest amount, and its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, while basically flat at \$(.71)/MWh was the 9<sup>th</sup> largest change in the 23 company group, as most of the peers in the study experienced significant reductions in this cost category.

KCP&L's Total Retail Revenue/kWh increased by \$.0473/kWh, the largest increase in Retail Revenue/kWh of the study group from 2008-2017. This was \$.0306/kWh higher than the average for the group. This is primarily attributed to KCP&L's growth in Net Plant/Retail MWh, which is the 4<sup>th</sup> highest in the group at \$242.67/MWh (versus \$170.64/MWh for the group average). Additionally, KCP&L has experienced the largest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh of any utility in the study group, at \$13.14/MWh. This occurred while the study group declined on average by \$5.51/MWh. Lastly, KCP&L has experienced the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest growth in Industrial Sales Volumes and Total Retail Sales Volumes MWhs in the group. KCP&L has experienced the 7<sup>th</sup> highest increase in Total O&M Expense/MWh, but it has had below average increases in Transmission Expense/MWh (13th), Distribution Expense/MWh (12th), A&G Expense/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>), and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>). With regard to our three key factors, KCP&L's Net Plant/Retail MWh increased by the 4<sup>th</sup> largest amount, its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWH increased by the largest amount, and its Industrial Load decreased by the 5<sup>th</sup> largest amount. The combination of all three of these key variables moving in an adverse fashion were significant contributing factors to KCP&L's change in Retail Revenue/kWh during the study period.

Next, we include a discussion of each of the 21 peer companies included in the study, how each of them rank in terms of 2017 Total Retail Revenue/kWh and change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017, and what we believe are the contributions to these rankings and observations. The discussion of each of the peer companies is presented in alphabetical order below. KCP&L and Westar are included, but only to present their generation capacity and environmental retrofit data as compared to the peers.

## Minnesota Power—Ultimate Parent, ALLETE, Inc.

Minnesota Power (MP) is a vertically-integrated, regulated utility operating in Minnesota. MP had 146,370 customers in 2017, ranking 18<sup>th</sup> largest out of the 23 company study group. MP had the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest Retail Revenue/kWh of the group in 2017, at \$.0753/kWh. Contributing to this fact is MP's Net Power Production Expense/MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh, ranking 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest and 5<sup>th</sup> lowest, respectively. Additionally, MP has relatively low A&G Expense/MWh, ranking 6<sup>th</sup> lowest in the group. The most standout observation about MP is its Industrial Sales Mix, 74.44% of MP's Total Retail Sales in 2017 were reported as Industrial Sales per MP's FERC Form 1, the highest observation amongst the study group. This undoubtedly contributes to MP's low O&M per MWh, and relative low rate positioning amongst the study group.

MP's total Retail Revenue/kWh grew by \$.0213/kWh during the 2008-2017 study period, ranking 10<sup>th</sup> highest in the group. MP's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew by \$218.21/MWh, the 8<sup>th</sup> highest in the group. MP's Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales volumes shrank by a larger margin than the average in the group, ranking 13<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> highest, respectively. MP's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh fell by less than the average of the group, ranking 10<sup>th</sup> highest, and its Total O&M Expense/Retail MWh grew by more than the average, ranking 8<sup>th</sup> highest. MP's Transmission Expense/MWh grew slightly more than average (10<sup>th</sup>), while it's A&G Expense and Total Salaries & Wages/MWh grew much below average, at the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest amongst the group, respectively.

MP's generation capacity mix is approximately 57% coal-fired, 27% wind, 6% hydroelectric, and 5% natural gas-fired. According to SNL Financial, approximately 60% of MP's coal fleet has been retrofitted with environmental controls since 2010.

MP's parent company, ALLETE, Inc., is an energy company headquartered in Duluth, Minn. In addition to its electric utilities, Minnesota Power and Superior Water, Light and Power of Wisconsin, ALLETE owns ALLETE Clean Energy, based in Duluth, BNI Energy in Bismarck, N.D., U.S. Water Services headquartered in St. Michael, Minn., and has an eight percent equity interest in the American Transmission Co.

# Black Hills Colorado Electric, Inc.—Ultimate Parent, Black Hills Corporation

Black Hills Colorado Electric, Inc. (BHCE), is a regulated utility operating in Colorado. BHCE had 96,126 customers in 2017, the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest customer count in the study group. BHCE had the highest Retail Revenue/kWh of all 23 companies studied, at \$.1294 per kWh. Contributing to this are the facts that BHCE has the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest Net Power Production Expense and Total O&M Expense per MWh of the group, at \$60.18/MWh, and \$82.69/MWh, respectively. BHCE also has the 6<sup>th</sup> highest Net Plant/Retail MWh, and the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs. BHCE also has the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest Distribution Expense/MWh. In addition to high absolute rates, BHCE has also experienced the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest increase in total Retail Revenue/kWh in the study period (2008-2017). Contributing to this is the fact that BHCE experienced the highest increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh of all companies in the study at \$283.08/MWh. BHCE also experienced the 6<sup>th</sup> highest increase in Net Power Production Expense/MWh and the 5<sup>th</sup> highest increase in Total O&M Expense/MWh.

BHCE's parent company, Black Hills Corp. is a utility company based in Rapid City, South Dakota; the company serves 1.25 million natural gas and electric utility customers in eight states: Arkansas, Colorado, Iowa, Kansas, Montana, Nebraska, South Dakota and Wyoming.

## Black Hills Power, Inc.—Ultimate Parent, Black Hills Corporation

Black Hills Power, Inc. (BHP), is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving customers in South Dakota, Wyoming and Montana. BHP had 72,026 customers in 2017, the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest amongst the study group. BHP had the 4<sup>th</sup> highest Retail Revenue/kWh in 2017 at \$.1173/kWh. BHP had the highest Net Plant/Retail MWh in the study group, at \$503.26/MWh. Likely contributing to this fact are BHP's low Total Retail Sales MWhs, and Industrial Sales MWhs, both of which are the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest amongst the group. BHP also had the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Power Production Expense/MWh, at \$26.38/MWh, and the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Transmission Expense/MWh, at \$9.15/MWh.

BHP experienced the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest growth in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017. Contributing to this is the fact that BHP's Net Plant/Retail MWh increased by the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest margin, at \$264.10/MWh. BHP also had the 4<sup>th</sup> largest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, increasing \$6.33/MWh, when the group average fell by \$(5.51)/MWh. During this time BHP experienced the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest increase in Transmission Expense/MWh and Distribution Expense /MWh, but below average A&G Expense/MWh and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh. A bright spot for BHP was its Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs, both increasing faster than the average of the group, and ranked 9<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> amongst the group, respectively.

BHP's generation capacity at the end of 2017 is fairly evenly distributed between coal-fired (46%) and natural gas-fired capacity (52%).

BHCE's parent company, Black Hills Corp. is a utility company based in Rapid City, South Dakota; the company serves 1.25 million natural gas and electric utility customers in eight states: Arkansas, Colorado, Iowa, Kansas, Montana, Nebraska, South Dakota and Wyoming.

## El Paso Electric Company

El Paso Electric Company (El Paso) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving customers in New Mexico and Texas. El Paso had 415,629 customers in 2017, ranking 14<sup>th</sup> out of 23 companies in the study group. El Paso's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.1049 in 2017, the 7<sup>th</sup> highest in the study group. Despite having above average

cost retail rates, El Paso experienced the 2<sup>nd</sup> greatest reduction in retail rates during the 2008-2017 period, as El Paso's rates were the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest in the study group in 2008. The greatest contributing factor to El Paso's relative rate decline has been its reduction in Net Power Production Expense/MWh, which declined by \$14.89/MWh, the 4<sup>th</sup> largest decline in the study group. El Paso also experienced the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest reduction in Total O&M Expense/MWh, declining \$17.09/MWh. Despite this decline, El Paso still has relatively high Net Power Production Expenses in 2017, at \$39.05/Retail MWh, the 6<sup>th</sup> highest in the study group. El Paso has below average Industrial Sales MWhs (18<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales MWhs (16<sup>th</sup>), but its Total Retail Sales MWhs grew the 5<sup>th</sup> largest from 2008 to 2017. El Paso has the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Industrial Sales Mix as a Percentage of Total Retail Sales and the 5<sup>th</sup> highest A&G expense per MWh.

El Paso's generation capacity consists of nuclear power production (28%), and natural gas (72%). This has undoubtedly contributed to El Paso's relative rate decline during this time frame, as natural gas prices have declined precipitously since 2008 at the beginning of the study period.

## **Empire District Electric Company, Inc.—Ultimate Parent, Algonquin Power and <u>Utilities Corp.</u>**

Empire District Electric Company (Empire) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric and gas utility serving electric customers in Kansas, Missouri, Arkansas, and Oklahoma. Empire serves 171,839 customers in 2017 (17<sup>th</sup>), less than 5% of which are Kansas customers. Empire's 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh was the 5<sup>th</sup> highest in the group, at \$.1147/kWh. Contributing to Empire's relatively high 2017 rates are the fact that Empire had the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest Total Retail Sales MWhs and the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest Industrial Sales MWhs in the group in 2017. Additionally, Empire had the 5<sup>th</sup> highest Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$420.12/MWh. Empire also had the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Distribution Expense/MWh and A&G Expense/MWh and the highest Total Salaries and Wages/MWh of the study group. Lastly, Empire's Total O&M Expense/MWh was the 5<sup>th</sup> highest of the study group, at \$60.80/MWh. A bright spot for Empire is that its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh is the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group, at \$27.97/MWh.

Empire's Retail Revenue/kWh grew by \$.0329/kWh from 2008 to 2017, the 6<sup>th</sup> largest increase in the group. Contributing to this increase was Empire's increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, \$224.93/MWh, the 6<sup>th</sup> largest increase in the group. Empire also had the 7<sup>th</sup> largest decline in Total Retail MWhs sold. Significantly, Empire experienced the largest increase in A&G Expense/MWh and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh during this time frame. This contributed to Empire's growth in Total O&M Expense/MWh, which grew by \$10.31/MWh, the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest growth of the study group. Similar to the 2017 observation above, Empire's Net Power Production Expenses shrank by \$(9.50)/MWh, which was the 8<sup>th</sup> greatest decline amongst the group.

Empire's generation capacity was 70% gas-fired and 29% coal-fired during 2017. The energy production out of these units was almost even -51% coal, 49% gas. All of Empire's coal fleet has been retrofitted with advanced environmental retrofits.

Empire's parent company, Algonquin Power and Utilities Corp., (APUC) is a diversified generation, transmission and distribution utility with approximately US \$9 billion of total assets. Through its two business groups, APUC provides rate regulated natural gas, water, and electricity generation, transmission, and distribution utility services to over 760,000 connections in the United States. APUC holds ownership interest or long terms contracts in 1.7 GW of installed capacity in wind, solar and hydroelectric generating facilities.

# Entergy Arkansas, LLC. —Ultimate Parent, Entergy Corp.

Entergy Arkansas, LLC. (ENA) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving customers in Arkansas and Louisiana. ENA served 708,864 customers in 2017 (6<sup>th</sup> highest). ENA's 2017 Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0833/kWh, the 8<sup>th</sup> lowest in the study group. Contributing to ENA's below average rates during 2017 was the fact that ENA had the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Transmission Expense/MWh, and the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest Total Salaries and Wages/MWh. ENA also had the 4<sup>th</sup> highest Industrial Sales MWhs and the 6<sup>th</sup> highest Total Retail Sales MWhs. ENA's Net Plant/Retail MWh is right at average, at \$327/MWh. ENA also had average Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh, at \$36.39/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>), and below average Total O&M Expense/MWh, at \$48.56 (8<sup>th</sup> lowest). ENA's Industrial Sales Mix was the 7<sup>th</sup> highest in the study group, at 36.04%.

ENA also had the 6<sup>th</sup> smallest rate change from 2008 to 2017, at just \$.0024/kWh. Contributing to ENA's Stable rates during this time frame was the fact that ENA had the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest increase in Transmission Expense/MWh, and the largest reduction in Distribution Expense/MWh of the group. ENA also had the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest increase in Salaries and Wages/MWh. ENA had the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, and the 6<sup>th</sup> greatest reduction in Total O&M Expense/MWh during this time frame. ENA's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh decreased about the average level, at \$5.92/MWh. Lastly, ENA's Industrial Sales MWhs grew by the 5<sup>th</sup> largest margin.

ENA's generation capacity during 2017 was 22% coal-fired, 35% natural gas-fired, and 41% nuclear. According to information reported on SNL Financial, ENA has only retrofitted approximately 256 MW of its 1200 MW coal-fired generating fleet.

ENA was granted a \$189.7 million increase in its Arkansas base rates on December 18, 2018 that was not reflected in the rate data discussed above.

ENA's parent company, Entergy Corporation, is an integrated energy company engaged primarily in electric power production and retail distribution operations. Entergy owns and operates power plants with approximately 30,000 megawatts of electric generating capacity, including nearly 9,000 megawatts of nuclear power. Entergy delivers electricity to 2.9 million utility customers in Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi and Texas. Entergy has annual revenues of approximately \$11 billion and more than 13,000 employees.

## Entergy Texas, Inc. —Ultimate Parent, Entergy Corp.

Entergy Texas, Inc. (ENT) is a vertically-integrated, electric regulated utility serving 446,771 customers in Texas (12<sup>th</sup>). ENT's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0736/kWh in 2017, the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest absolute rate level in the study group. This is made possible by a culmination of several factors, including the lowest Net Plant/Retail MWh in the group at \$174.55/MWh, the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest Transmission Expense/MWh, the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Distribution Expense/MWh and A&G Expense/MWh, the lowest Salaries and Wages/MWh, and the 5<sup>th</sup> highest Industrial Sales Mix in the group, at 41.65% of Retail Sales. ENT also had above average Total Retail Sales MWhs (9<sup>th</sup> highest) and had the 5<sup>th</sup> highest absolute level of Industrial Sales MWhs. The one dull spot for ENT is its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, which is the 4<sup>th</sup> highest of the group at \$44.84/MWh. Rounding out the 2017 statistics is ENT's Total O&M/MWh, which is just under average at \$52.41/MWh.

From 2008 to 2017, ENT experienced the largest decline in Retail Revenue/kWh of the study group, at \$.0231/kWh. This decline has been from a lofty peak though, in 2008 ENT had the 4<sup>th</sup> highest absolute rate level in the study group, at \$.0967/kWh. There are several factors to attribute this to, but primarily is ENT's reduction in its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$(28.88)/MWh, this is the largest reduction over this time of the study group. ENT also had the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, and the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest growth in Industrial Sales MWhs, and Total Retail Sales MWhs. ENT's Total O&M Expense/MWh declined by the largest margin of the group as well. Rounding out these statistics is the fact that ENT's A&G Expense/MWh and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh grew the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest and 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest amongst the group, respectively.

ENT's generation capacity is split 11% coal-fired, and 89% natural gas-fired. Of the 268 MW of coal-fired generating capacity, approximately 104 MW has been environmentally retrofitted, according to SNL Financial.

ENT was granted a \$53.2 million increase in base rates on December 20, 2018. This rate increase was not included in the rate data discussed above.

ENT's parent company, Entergy Corporation, is an integrated energy company engaged primarily in electric power production and retail distribution operations. Entergy owns and operates power plants with approximately 30,000 megawatts of electric generating capacity, including nearly 9,000 megawatts of nuclear power. Entergy delivers electricity to 2.9 million utility customers in Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi and Texas. Entergy has annual revenues of approximately \$11 billion and more than 13,000 employees.

# Interstate Power and Light Company—Ultimate Parent, Alliant Energy Corporation.

Interstate Power and Light Company (IPL) is a regulated electric and natural gas company providing service to customers in Iowa and Minnesota. IPL served 489,611

customers in 2017 (11<sup>th</sup>). IPL's total Retail Revenue/kWh were \$.1014/kWh during 2017. This ranks the 10<sup>th</sup> highest, right below Westar at \$.1032/kWh. Notably, IPL does not own any Transmission Assets, but it does have the highest Transmission Expense/MWh of the group, at \$18.01/MWh. IPL has the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest Distribution Expense/MWh, slightly above average A&G Expense/MWh, and below average Salaries and Wages/MWh. IPL has the 13<sup>th</sup> highest Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$317.38/MWh. IPL has Total Retail Sales MWhs that are almost exactly average compared to the study group, however, IPL's Industrial Sales MWhs were the 7<sup>th</sup> highest in 2017, and its Industrial Sales Mix was the 4<sup>th</sup> highest of the group, at 46.78% of Total Retail Sales. IPL had the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$27.85/MWh. Rounding out these statistics is IPL's Total O&M Expense/MWh, which was 4<sup>th</sup> highest at \$61.50/MWh.

IPL experienced the 7<sup>th</sup> largest increase in Retail Revenue/kWh during the study period, at \$.0266/kWh. This can be explained in part by IPL's increase in Transmission Expense/MWh during this time, the largest increase in the group at \$12.84/MWh. Another likely contributor to IPL's rate increases during this time frame was IPL's loss of Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs. IPL experienced the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest reduction in both sales levels during this time period. IPL's Net Plant/Retail MWh increased just over the average level, at \$195.55/MWh. IPL's Net Power Production Expense declined by more than the average, at \$8.28/Retail MWh, however, its Total O&M Expense/MWh increased much more than average, at \$9.94/MWh (4<sup>th</sup> highest).

IPL's generation capacity is 32% coal-fired, 56% natural gas-fired, and 8% windpowered. According to the information available within SNL Financial, 75% of IPL's coal-fired generating capacity has been retrofitted with advanced environmental controls.

IPL was granted a \$130 million increase in base rates on February 2, 2018, that was not included in the rate data discussed above.

IPL's parent company, Alliant Energy is the parent company of two public utility companies - IPL and Wisconsin Power and Light Company - and of Alliant Energy Finance, LLC, the parent company of Alliant Energy's non-utility operations. Alliant Energy is an energy-services provider with utility subsidiaries serving approximately 960,000 electric and 410,000 natural gas customers.

#### Kansas City Power and Light Company—Ultimate Parent, evergy, Inc.

KCP&L's generating capacity is 58% coal-fired, 17% natural gas-fired, 13% nuclear, 3% wind, and 9% other. All of KCP&L's coal-fired generating units have been environmentally retrofitted.

KCP&L's parent company, Evergy is the owner of KCP&L, KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company and Westar Energy, Inc. Through these subsidiaries, Evergy serves 1.6 million customers in Kansas and Missouri.

### KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company—Ultimate Parent, evergy, Inc.

Kanas City Power and Light Greater Missouri Operations Company (GMO) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility providing service to 323,476 in Missouri (16<sup>th</sup>). GMO comprises the former Aquila service territory in Missouri made up of the former St. Joseph Light and Power Company and Missouri Public Service Company. KCP&L and GMO merged in 2008. GMO's total Retail Revenue/kWh ranked No. 11 out of the study group in 2017, at \$.0963/kWh. GMO's Net Plant/Retail MWh ranks 7<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group at \$304.53/MWh. Offsetting this factor is GMO's Industrial Sales MWhs, which rank 8<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group, at just 28% of the average Industrial Sales MWhs of the study group. GMO's Total Retail Sales MWhs rank 15<sup>th</sup> in the group, at just over half the average sales level. GMO's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh ranks 15<sup>th</sup> in the group, at \$30.81/MWh, but its Total O&M Expense/MWh ranks 7<sup>th</sup> highest at \$57.12/MWh. GMO has average Transmission Expense/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>) and above average Distribution Expense/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>) and Salaries and Wages/MWh (6<sup>th</sup>), but its A&G Expense/MWh was the highest of the study group, at \$16.64/MWh.

GMO's change in Retail Revenue/kWh from 2008 to 2017 was just over the average for the study group, ranking 11<sup>th</sup> at an increase of \$.0178/kWh. GMO's change in Net Plant/Retail MWh ranked 15<sup>th</sup> Highest in the group, at \$153.54/MWh. GMO's change in Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh was the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group, and its Total O&M Expense/MWh declined by more than the average of the group (14<sup>th</sup>). GMO's Transmission Expense/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>) increased at a rate below the average of the group, but its A&G Expense/MWh increased the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest, at \$5.29/MWh. GMO's Total Salaries and Wages/MWh experienced the largest reduction of the study group during this time frame. Lastly, GMO experienced the 4<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Industrial Sales Volumes and Total Retail Sales Volumes in MWhs.

GMO's generation capacity was 47% coal-fired, 51% natural gas-fired during 2017. While over half of GMO's coal-fired capacity at the end of 2017 did not contain environmental controls, those facilities are scheduled to retire by the end of 2018.

KCP&L's parent company, evergy is the owner of KCP&L, KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company and Westar Energy, Inc. Through these subsidiaries, evergy serves 1.6 million customers in Kansas and Missouri.

## MDU Resources Group, Inc.

MDU Resources Group (MDU) is a diversified energy company offering regulated electric utility services to 142,901 customers in Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wyoming (5<sup>th</sup> lowest). MDU also provides natural gas delivery service to 8 states in the West and Upper Midwest, and has an unregulated construction materials and services business. MDU's total Retail Revenue/kWh ranked 14<sup>th</sup> in 2017 at \$.0922/kWh. MDU had the 8<sup>th</sup> highest Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$355.71/MWh. MDU had the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales Volume of the study group in 2017. MDU

had slightly below average Net Power Production Costs at \$34.63/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>) and slightly above average Total O&M Expense/MWh, at \$59.66/MWh (6<sup>th</sup> Highest). MDU had the second highest Transmission Expense/MWh of the group, at \$11.01/MWh, and the 6<sup>th</sup> highest Distribution Expense/MWh. MDU's A&G Expense per MWh was average, but it had the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Total Salaries and Wages/MWh of the study group, at \$16.35/MWh. Lastly, MDU's Industrial Sales Mix was low, ranking 18<sup>th</sup> at 16.33% of Total Retail Sales.

MDU's Total Retail Revenue/kWh grew the 9<sup>th</sup> largest amount during the study period, at \$.0215/kWh. While MDU's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew the 5<sup>th</sup> highest amount, at \$230.50/MWh, it also experienced the 6<sup>th</sup> highest growth in Total Retail Sales volumes and the 8<sup>th</sup> highest growth in Industrial Sales volumes. MDU's Net Production Expenses grew faster than the average at \$1.31/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>) and its Total O&M Expense/MWh grew the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest amount, at \$12.57/MWh. MDU's growth in Distribution Expense/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>) was about average, while its Transmission Expense/MWh grew the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest during this time frame at just under half the change in A&G/MWh experienced by the group. Lastly, MDU's Total Salaries and Wages/MWh grew by the 4th slowest amount of the group.

MDU's generation capacity is split 50.8% coal-fired, 29.2% gas-fired, and 20% windpowered. Approximately half of MDU's coal-fired generation capacity has been environmentally retrofitted according to SNL Financial Data.

#### MidAmerican Energy Company—Ultimate Parent, Berkshire Hathaway, Inc.

MidAmerican is a regulated electric and natural gas utility providing service to 770,335 customers in Iowa, Illinois, and South Dakota (5<sup>th</sup>). MidAmerican also provides natural gas service to approximately 750,000 customers in these states plus Nebraska. During 2017, MidAmerican had the second lowest total Retail Revenue/kWh of the study group, at \$.0728/kWh. This was despite MidAmerican having the second highest Net Plant/Retail MWh of the study group, at \$477.08/MWh. There are several drivers in the data that explain these apparently contradictory results. First, MidAmerican had the highest Industrial Sales MWhs of the study group, at nearly 3 times the average of the group. Second, MidAmerican had the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Industrial Sales Mix as percentage of Total Retail Sales in the group, at 52.78% of sales. Third, MidAmerican had the lowest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh of the group, at \$30.17/MWh and \$42.44/MWh, respectively. Both of the last statistics can be explained by MidAmerican's significant company-owned wind investment, at least partially supported by Iowa's State Production Tax Credit of \$.015/kWh. Rounding out these statistics are the fact that MidAmerican had the 5<sup>th</sup> largest Total Retail Sales MWhs, the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest A&G Expense/MWh, the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest Distribution Expense/MWh, and the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest Transmission Expense/MWh.

MidAmerican's change in Total Retail Revenue/kWh ranked 14<sup>th</sup> highest in the group, at \$.0137/kWh from 2008-2017. During this time MidAmerican's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew slightly above the average for the group at \$207.80/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>) and its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh grew the second largest amount of the group, at \$11.32/MWh. However, one true stand out for MidAmerican during this time was its growth in Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs, ranking 1<sup>st</sup> out of the group in both categories. MidAmerican grew its Industrial Sales volumes by nearly 40% during this period, when the average number for the group shrank. MidAmerican's Transmission Expense/MWh (17<sup>th</sup>), Distribution Expense/MWh (2<sup>nd</sup> lowest), A&G Expense/MWh (17<sup>th</sup>), and Salaries and Wages/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), all grew at rates below the average during this period.

MidAmerican's generation capacity was 46% wind-powered, 29% coal-fired, 19% natural gas-fired, and 5% nuclear. All of MidAmerican's 2700 MW of coal-fired capacity appears to have been retrofitted with modern environmental retrofits.

MidAmerican's parent company, Berkshire Hathaway is one of the world's largest diversified holding companies, with over \$700 Billion in assets.

## Northern States Power Company-MN—Ultimate Parent, Xcel Energy, Inc.

Northern States Power (NSP), is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility that sells electricity to 1,466,398 customers in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota (1<sup>st</sup>). NSP also provides natural gas service to approximately 500,000 customers in Minnesota and North Dakota.

In 2017, NSP had the 8<sup>th</sup> highest total Retail Revenue/kWh, at \$.1032/kWh, just above Westar Energy. NSP had the 8<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Plant/Retail MWh of the group, but it had the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh and Total O&M Expense/MWh of the group, at \$51.44/MWh and \$68.04/MWh, respectively. NSP had above average Transmission Expense/MWh (4<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>), and Salaries and Wages/MWh (5<sup>th</sup>), but it had below average Distribution Expense/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>). Importantly, NSP had the largest Total Retail Sales MWhs and the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest Industrial Sales MWhs, but it did have below average Industrial Sales Mix, at 25.92% of Total Sales.

During the period 2008 to 2017, NSP's total Retail Revenue/kWh grew at the 8<sup>th</sup> fastest pace, at \$.0251/kWh. This is despite the fact that NSP's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew at a rate below the average, or \$169.36/MWh (12<sup>th</sup>). This can be explained by the fact that NSP had the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest reduction in Industrial MWhs and Total Retail Sales volumes in the study group. Additionally, NSP's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh grew at the 5<sup>th</sup> largest rate, or \$2.27/MWh. NSP's Total O&M Expense/MWh also grew faster than average at \$4.75/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>), as did NSP's Transmission Expense/MWh (4<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (7<sup>th</sup>), and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (4<sup>th</sup>).

NSP's generation capacity mix is split 31% coal-fired, 33% natural gas-fired, 22% nuclear, and 11% wind-powered. Of NSP's 2400 MW of coal-fired generation capacity, just over 70% has been environmentally retrofitted according to SNL Financial and EIA data.

NSP's parent company, Xcel Energy, is a large electric and gas utility holding company serving millions of customers across eight Western and Midwestern states. Xcel Energy is also the parent company of Public Service Company of Colorado and Southwestern Public Service, which are both part of the study group.

## Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company

Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company (NWEC) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility providing service to 13,898 electric customers in Minnesota and Wisconsin (23<sup>rd</sup>). In 2017, NWEC's total Retail Revenue/kWh was the 3<sup>rd</sup> highest in the study group. This is despite having the 3<sup>rd</sup> smallest Net Plant/Retail MWh of the group, at \$220.38/MWh. Partially explaining that apparent contradiction is NWEC's Net Power Production Expenses/MWh, which ranked the highest in the study group in 2017, at \$60.48/MWh. NWEC's Total O&M Expense/MWh is also the highest in the study group, at \$83.81/MWh. NWEC also had the smallest Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs in the group. It also had below average Industrial Sales Mix, at 25.21% of Total Retail Sales. NWEC had the highest Distribution Expense/MWh (\$8.15/MWh), the second highest A&G Expense/MWh (\$13.66/MWh), and the 4<sup>th</sup> highest Salaries and Wages/MWh. It did however, have the lowest Distribution Expense/MWh of the group, at \$.89/MWh.

Despite having high absolute rates in 2017, NWEC's rates were basically unchanged during the study period, ranking the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest increase of the group, at \$.0012/kWh. This can be attributed to the fact that NWEC's Net Plant/Retail MWh was basically unchanged at \$39.98/MWh, the lowest observation in the group. NWEC experienced slightly above average sales growth during this time from Industrials (11<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales (13<sup>th</sup>). It also experienced an above average reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh (12<sup>th</sup>) and Total O&M Expense/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>). Also contributing to NWEC's flat rates were its above average control of expenses during this time frame. NWEC's Transmission Expense/MWh (2<sup>nd</sup> lowest), Distribution Expense/MWh (3<sup>rd</sup> lowest), A&G Expense/MWh (5<sup>th</sup> lowest), and Salaries and Wages/MWh (5<sup>th</sup> lowest), all grew significantly less than the average for the study group.

NWEC's generation capacity consists of 25 MWs of fuel-oil fired turbines and internal combustion engines.

## Northwestern Corporation

Northwestern Corporation (NW) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving 431,099 customers in Montana, South Dakota, and Wyoming (13<sup>th</sup>). NW also serves gas customers in Montana, Nebraska, and South Dakota. NW's total Retail

Sales/kWh ranked 6<sup>th</sup> in the study group in 2017, at \$.1132/kWh. NW's Net Plant/Retail MWh was just under the average for the study group, ranked 12<sup>th</sup> out of the 23 companies, at \$321.86/MWh. NW had very low Industrial Sales volumes (4<sup>th</sup> lowest) and relatively low Total Retail Sales (7<sup>th</sup> lowest), and it had the lowest Industrial Sales Mix of the study group in 2017, at just 8.56% of Total Retail Sales. Helping NW was its Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh at \$35.85/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>) and Total O&M Expense/MWh at \$55.20/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>), both of which were very near the average of the study group. NW had slightly below average Transmission Expense/MWh (13<sup>th</sup>) and above average Distribution Expense/MWh (5<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (7<sup>th</sup>) and Salaries and Wages/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>).

NW experienced average Retail Revenue/kWh growth during the study period, growing rates by \$.0163/kWh (12<sup>th</sup>), compared to \$.0167/kWh for the study group on average. NW's Net Plant/Retail MWh grew slightly higher than the study group average, at \$186.14/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>). NW's Industrial Sales volumes grew less than the average of the group (14<sup>th</sup>) but its Total Retail Sales volumes grew faster than the average (8<sup>th</sup>). NW's Net Power Production Expenses shrank significantly, the 5<sup>th</sup> largest decline in the group, at \$(14.73/MWh). NW's Total O&M Expense/MWh also declined by more than the group average, at \$5.11/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>). NW's Transmission Expense/MWh was close to the average at 14<sup>th</sup> overall and \$2.49/MWh, however, NW's Distribution/MWh (5<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (4<sup>th</sup>), and Salaries and Wages/MWh (3<sup>rd</sup>) all grew significantly faster than average.

NW's generation capacity consists of 34% hydro-electric, 24% natural gas-fired, 9% wind-powered, and 33% coal-fired. Based on data from SNL Financial, approximately half of NW's coal-fired generating unit has been retrofitted with environmental controls.

#### Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company—Ultimate Parent, OGE Energy Corp.

Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company (OG&E) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility providing service to 838,252 customers in Oklahoma and Arkansas (4<sup>th</sup>). In 2017, OG&E's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0787/kWh, the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest in the study group. OG&E's Net Plant/Retail MWh was the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest, at \$274.54/MWh. OG&E had slightly above average Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh, at \$38.73/MWh, vs. \$35.24/MWh on average for the group and OG&E's Total O&M Expense/MWh was almost exactly average (10<sup>th</sup>). OG&E had above average Industrial Sales MWhs (6<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales MWhs (4<sup>th</sup>), but it had below average Industrial Sales Mix, at 25.79% (12<sup>th</sup>) of Total Retail Sales. OG&E had average Transmission Expense/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>), and below average A&G Expense/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), and Salaries and Wages/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>).

OG&E's Retail Revenue/kWh has increased less than the average from 2008through 2017, at \$.0081/kWh (8<sup>th</sup> lowest). This was made possible by OG&E's below average growth in Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$137.23/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), vs. \$170.64/MWh on average. Also, OG&E's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh declined by more than the

average, at \$(7.50/MWh), which ranks 13<sup>th</sup> overall. OG&E's Total O&M Expense/MWh was basically flat, and close to the average of the group (12<sup>th</sup>). While OG&E's Industrial Sales Mwhs shrank by the 6<sup>th</sup> largest margin, its Total Retail Sales volumes grew by the 4<sup>th</sup> largest amount. Transmission Expense/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh (6<sup>th</sup>) grew faster than average, as did A&G Expense/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>) and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (7<sup>th</sup>), but not in a significant fashion.

OG&E's generation capacity was 59% natural gas-fired, 35% coal-fired, and 6% windpowered. According to SNL Financial, all 2,500 MW of OG&E's coal-fired generation units have been retrofitted with NOx and Mercury controls, but none of these units have had Flue Gas Desulphurization (FGD or Scrubber) units installed to control Sulphur Dioxide. FGD's are under construction at 1000 MWs of this coal-fired capacity now, at an estimated cost of \$550 million according to publicly available data on SNL Financial. OG&E is also in the process of retrofitting 1,150 MW of coal-fired capacity into natural gas-fired capacity. These investments are expected to the subject of a third annual rate case OG&E filed on January 2, 2019 . This case requested an increase in revenues of \$7.6 million, or 4.4%. OG&E also filed a rate increase request on October 1, 2018 with the Arkansas Public Service Commission in which OG&E has requested a \$6.4 million (6.26%) increase in base rates.

OG&E's parent company, OGE Energy Corp., is headquartered in Oklahoma City. In addition to owning OG&E, OGE Energy Corp. holds a 25.6 percent limited partner interest and 50 percent general partner interest in Enable Midstream Partners, LP.

## Otter Tail Power Company—Ultimate Parent, Otter Tail Corp.

Otter Tail Power Company (OTP) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility providing service to 131,852 customers in Minnesota, North Dakota, and South Dakota (20<sup>th</sup>). In 2017, OTP's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0773/kWh, 6<sup>th</sup> lowest in the group. OTP had the 5<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$257.95/MWh. OTP had below average Industrial Sales MWhs (14<sup>th</sup>) and the 6<sup>th</sup> lowest Total Retail Sales MWhs, however, its Industrial Sales Mix was the 6<sup>th</sup> highest amongst the study group, at 40.26% of Total Retail Sales. Additionally, OTP had below average Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$31.45/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>), and average Total O&M Expense/MWh at \$54.50/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>). OTP had average Transmission Expense/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>), but it had significantly above average A&G Expense/MWh (4<sup>th</sup> highest at \$13.51/MWh) and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (2<sup>nd</sup> highest at \$18.70/MWh).

OTP's change in total Retail Revenue/kWh during the study period ranks 15<sup>th</sup> highest overall, at \$.0105/kWh. This was made possible by the 3<sup>rd</sup> smallest growth in Net Plant/Retail MWh, along with the 4<sup>th</sup> highest growth in Industrial Sales MWhs, and the 7<sup>th</sup> largest increase in Total Retail Sales MWhs during this time. Because of OTP's size, this was the largest percentage increase in Industrial load, and the 4<sup>th</sup> largest percentage increase in Total Retail Sales MWhs. OTP's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh
increased by the 7<sup>th</sup> largest margin of the group, and it experienced the largest increase in Total O&M Expense/MWh, at \$19.67/MWh. OTP's change in Transmission Expense/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh (7<sup>th</sup>) were slightly above average, but the change in A&G Expense/MWh (\$5.37/MWh) and Salaries and Wages/MWh (\$6.73/MWh) were significantly higher than the average, each ranking 2<sup>nd</sup> highest in the study group.

OTP's generation capacity was 67% coal-fired, 6% natural gas-fired, and 17% windpowered at the end of 2017. Out of OTP's 543 MW of coal-fired generation capacity, 256 MW was equipped with significant environmental controls (SO2, Mercury and NOx controls), 287 MW was equipped with just Mercury controls, and 406 MW was equipped with NOx controls.

OTP currently has a rate increase request pending before the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission, filed on April 20, 2018. OTP requests a \$6.7 million (21.58%) increase in base rates in this case.

OTP's parent company, Otter Tail Corporation, has interests in diversified operations that include an electric utility and manufacturing businesses.

# Public Service Company of Colorado—Ultimate Parent, Xcel Energy, Inc.

Public Service Company of Colorado (PSC) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving 1,459,191 customers in Colorado (2<sup>nd</sup>). PSC also serves approximately \$1.4 million gas customers. In 2017, PSC's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0955/kWh, or 12<sup>th</sup> highest in the study group. PSC's Net Plant/Retail MWh was 14<sup>th</sup> in the group, at \$317.07/MWh. PSC's Industrial Sales MWhs ranked 9<sup>th</sup> highest, while its Total Retail Sales MWhs were the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest in the group. PSC's Industrial Sales Mix was 7<sup>th</sup> lowest overall at 22.53% of Total Retail Sales. PSC's Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh were the 7<sup>th</sup> highest in the group at \$39/MWh, and its Total O&M Expense/MWh was below average at \$51.78/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>). PSC's Transmission Expense/MWh (20<sup>th</sup>), Distribution Expense/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>), and Total Salaries & Wages/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), were all below average for the group.

PSC's Total Retail Revenue/kWh changed by \$.0081/kWh, or the 7<sup>th</sup> lowest in the group from 2008-2017. This was made possible by PSC's below average growth in Net Plant/Retail MWh (14<sup>th</sup>), its above average growth in Industrial (6<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales (9<sup>th</sup>) and above average reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh (6<sup>th</sup> lowest) and Total O&M Expense/MWh (4<sup>th</sup> lowest). PSC's Transmission Expense/MWh grew significantly less than the average (5<sup>th</sup> lowest) and its Distribution Expense/MWh grew less than the average (8<sup>th</sup>). PSC's A&G Expense/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>) and its Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>) grew faster than the average, but not significantly so. PSC's generation capacity was 55% natural gas-fired, 39% coal-fired, and 6% hydroelectric. According to data provided by SNL Financial, all of PSC's coal-fired generating units have modern environmental controls or retrofits.

PSC's parent company, Xcel Energy, is a large electric and gas utility holding company serving millions of customers across eight Western and Midwestern states. Xcel Energy is also the parent company of Northern States Power and Southwestern Public Service, which are both part of the study group.

# <u>Public Service Company of Oklahoma—Ultimate Parent, American Electric Power</u> <u>Co. Inc.</u>

Public Service Company of Oklahoma (PSO) is a vertically-integrated, regulated utility serving 550,023 customers in Oklahoma (8<sup>th</sup>). In 2017 PSO's Total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.075/kWh, the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest in the study group. PSO's Net Plant per Retail/MWh was the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest in the group. PSO had slightly above average Industrial Sales MWhs (11<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales MWhs (10<sup>th</sup>), and its Industrial Sales Mix was a close to average 31.45% (8<sup>th</sup>). Its Net Power Production Expenses/Retail MWh was the 5<sup>th</sup> highest in the group at \$39.45/MWh. PSO's Total Electric O&M Expense/MWh was the 8<sup>th</sup> highest at \$56.93/MWh, though not appreciably above the average at \$54.34/MWh. PSO's Transmission Expense/MWh was above average at \$7.23/MWh, as was its Distribution Expense/MWh at \$5.12/MWh (4<sup>th</sup>). PSO's A&G Expense/MWh (\$5.57/MWh) and Salaries and Wages/MWh (\$5.62/MWh) were both significantly below average, at 4<sup>th</sup> lowest overall.

PSO also experienced the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest reduction in rates from 2008-2017, at \$(.005)/kWh. This was made possible by the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest increase in Net Plant/Retail MWh, \$81.16/MWh, versus \$170.64/MWh for the average and by the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$(19.05)/MWh, versus an average of \$(5.51)/MWh for the group. PSO's Total O&M Expense/MWh decline was also significant, at \$(10.32)/MWh, the 5<sup>th</sup> largest decline of the group. PSO also experienced above average increases in Industrial Sales MWhs (7<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail MWhs (10<sup>th</sup>). PSO experienced above average increases in Transmission Expense/MWh at \$5.34/MWh (6<sup>th</sup>) and Distribution Expense/MWh at \$4.98/MWh (1<sup>st</sup>), while it experienced the 4<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> lowest overall increase in A&G Expense/MWh and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh, respectively.

PSO filed a rate case on September 26, 2018 before the Oklahoma Corporation Commission in which PSO has requested a \$88.45 million increase in revenues, or 6.5%. Also, PSO had a rate increase on January 1, 2018 of \$75.5 million, which increased rates 11.50%. Because the rate and cost data used in this study was based on 2017 information, this recent rate increase was not captured in the data presented for PSO.

PSO's generation capacity is 89% natural gas-fired and 11% coal-fired. According to SNL Financial, all of PSO's 560 MW of coal-fired generation capacity has modern environmental controls equipped.

PSO's parent company, American Electric Power Co. Inc. (AEP), is one of the largest regulated utility companies in the United States. AEP maintains the nation's largest transmission system, 219,000 miles of distribution lines, and 32,000 MW of power production. AEP serves 5.4 million regulated customers in 11 states. AEP is also the parent company of Southwestern Electric Power Company, another company included in the study group.

## <u>Southwestern Electric Power Company—Ultimate Parent, American Electric Power</u> <u>Co. Inc.</u>

Southwestern Electric Power Company (SWEPCO), is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility providing electric service to 534,632 customers in Texas, Louisiana, and Arkansas (10<sup>th</sup>). In 2017, SWEPCO's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0839/kWh, 15<sup>th</sup> in the study group. SWEPCO's Net Plant/Retail MWh was \$351.08/MWh, the 8<sup>th</sup> highest in the group. SWEPCO had slightly above average Industrial Sales MWhs, (12<sup>th</sup>) and Total Retail Sales MWhs (11<sup>th</sup>), and its Industrial Sales Mix was right at average, at 30.72% of Total Retail Sales (9<sup>th</sup>). SWEPCO's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh was below the average, at \$32.96/MWh (13<sup>th</sup>), compared to the average of the group at \$35.24/MWh. SWEPCO's Total O&M Expense/MWh was the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group, at \$43.84/MWh, more than \$10 less than the average of the group (\$54.34/MWh). SWEPCO's Transmission Expense/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>), Distribution Expense/MWh (12<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (Lowest), and Total Salaries & Wages/MWh (3<sup>rd</sup> lowest), were all below average for the group.

SWEPCO's total Retail Revenue/kWh increased below the average amount during the study period, at \$.0148/kWh (13<sup>th</sup>). This is despite SWPECO's Net Plant/Retail MWh increasing at the 7<sup>th</sup> fastest rate, \$218.34/MWh. Also, SWPCO had the 7<sup>th</sup> largest decline in Industrial MWhs sold. It did lose less Total Retail Sales MWhs than the average of the group (14<sup>th</sup>), but just barely. SWEPCO's reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh was above the average of the group, reducing its expense by \$(8.54)/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>) versus the group average of \$(5.51)/MWh. Additionally, SWEPCO experienced the 7<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Total O&M/MWh, at \$(5.81)/MWh versus the average of \$(1.19)/MWh. SWEPCO's Transmission Expense/MWh (12<sup>th</sup>), Distribution Expense/MWh (10<sup>th</sup>), A&G Expense/MWh (Lowest), and Total Salaries & Wages/MWh (9<sup>th</sup> lowest) increased by less than the average of the group.

SWEPCO's generation capacity was split evenly between coal-fired and natural gas-fired generation. According to SNL Financial, 60% of SWPECO's coal-fired generation capacity is equipped with environmental retrofits, with a 1056 MW scrubber project scheduled for 2020.

SWEPCO's parent company, American Electric Power Co. Inc. (AEP), is one of the largest regulated utility companies in the United States. AEP maintains the nation's largest transmission system, 219,000 miles of distribution lines, and 32,000 MW of power production. AEP serves 5.4 million regulated customers in 11 states. AEP is also

the parent company of Public Service Company of Oklahoma, another company included in the study group.

## Southwestern Public Service Company—Ultimate Parent, Xcel Energy, Inc.

Southwestern Public Service Company, (SPS) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric utility serving 389,818 customers in New Mexico and Texas (15<sup>th</sup>). SPS's total Retail Revenue/kWh in 2017 was the lowest of the study group, at \$.0678/kWh. This can be attributable to SPS's 4<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Plant/Retail MWh, at \$241.23, nearly \$100/MWh less than the average at \$332.52/MWh. Also, SPS had the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest Industrial Sales MWhs, and the 2<sup>nd</sup> highest Industrial Sales Mix, at 55.53% of Total Retail Sales. SPS's Total Retail Sales MWhs are also above average, at the 7<sup>th</sup> highest in the group. SPS had the 8<sup>th</sup> lowest Net Power Production Expense, at \$30.18, more than \$5/MWh less than the average. SPS also had the 2<sup>nd</sup> lowest Total O&M Expense/MWh, at \$42.44/MWh, nearly \$12/MWh less than the average. SPS had above average Transmission Expense/MWh, at \$7.06/MWh, vs. \$5.56/MWh on average. However, SPS's Distribution Expense/MWh (lowest), A&G Expense/MWh (2<sup>nd</sup> lowest), and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (5<sup>th</sup> lowest), were significantly below the average of the group.

During the study period, SPS's total Retail Revenue/kWh shrank by the 4<sup>th</sup> most of the group, declining by \$(.0041)/kWh. SPS's Net Plant/Retail MWh during this period grew by the 7<sup>th</sup> smallest amount. Also, SPS's Industrial Sales MWhs grew by the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest amount, as did its Total Retail Sales MWhs. It also experienced the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest reduction in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$(21.37)/MWh, and the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest reduction in Total O&M Expense/MWh, at \$(16.28)/MWh. SPS's experience with other costs is somewhat mixed, having experienced above average increases in Transmission Expense/MWh (5<sup>th</sup>) and Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (6<sup>th</sup>), but below average increases in Distribution Expense/MWh (14<sup>th</sup>) and A&G Expense/MWh (12<sup>th</sup>).

SPS's generating capacity is split 53% natural gas-fired and 46% coal-fired. According to data provided by SNL Financial, approximately 66% of SPS's coal-fired capacity has some form of NOx control, but none of SPS's units appear to have been retrofitted with Scrubbers to control Sulphur Dioxide.

SPS's parent company, Xcel Energy, is a large electric and gas utility holding company serving millions of customers across eight Western and Midwestern states. Xcel Energy is also the parent company of Northern States Power and Public Service Company of Colorado, which are both part of the study group.

# Union Electric Company—Ultimate Parent, American Corporation

Union Electric Company (UE) is a vertically-integrated, regulated electric and natural gas distribution utility serving 1,215,799 electric customers in Missouri (3<sup>rd</sup>). UE also serves gas customers in Missouri. UE's total Retail Revenue/kWh was \$.0932/kWh, or 13<sup>th</sup> out of the 23 company study group. UE's Net Plant/Retail MWh was \$311.80/MWh, 15<sup>th</sup> in the group and slightly below the group average of \$332.52/MWh. UE's Industrial Sales

MWhs was very close to average, ranking 13<sup>th</sup> in the group, but its Total Retail Sales MWhs were the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest, at more than twice the average of the group. UE's Industrial Sales Mix was the 4<sup>th</sup> lowest of the group, at 14.13%, less than half of the average for the group. UE had the 5<sup>th</sup> smallest Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh, at \$27.02, more than \$8/MWh below the average for the group. Also, UE's Total O&M Expense was the 3<sup>rd</sup> lowest of the group, at \$43.49/MWh, more than \$10/MWh below the average. UE had below average Transmission Expense/MWh (6<sup>th</sup> lowest), Distribution Expense/MWh (11<sup>th</sup>), and A&G Expense/MWh (15<sup>th</sup>), but it had slightly above average Salaries and Wages/MWh (9<sup>th</sup>), though around \$1/MWh more than the average.

UE's Retail Revenue/kWh grew by the 5<sup>th</sup> largest margin from 2008-2017, growing \$.036/kWh. This is despite UE's Net Plant/Retail MWh growing the 5<sup>th</sup> slowest of the group, just \$124.91/MWh. This is attributable to UE's loss of Industrial Sales MWhs and Total Retail Sales MWhs during the study period, both of which were the largest loss experienced by the study group (both losses were also the largest of the study group in percentage terms). UE's Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh increased the 3<sup>rd</sup> largest of the group, \$9.89/MWh, which is significantly above the average of the group, a reduction of \$(5.51)/MWh. UE's Total O&M Expense/MWh also grew significantly more than the average, ranking the 6<sup>th</sup> highest at \$8.90/MWh, versus \$(1.19)/MWh on average for the group. UE's Transmission Expense/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), Distribution Expense/MWh (16<sup>th</sup>), and A&G Expense/MWh (13<sup>th</sup>), all grew slower than the average, but UE's Total Salaries and Wages/MWh (8<sup>th</sup>), grew faster but just barely over the average.

UE's generation capacity was 48% coal-fired, 31% natural gas-fired, 11% nuclear, and 7% hydro-electric. According to the data provided on SNL Financial, out of Ameren's 5,544 MW of coal-fired capacity, 990 MW has been retrofitted to remove Sulfur Dioxide. The other units do have various forms of NOx, Mercury, and Particulate matter environmental controls.

UE's parent company, St. Louis-based Ameren Corporation serves 2.4 million electric customers and more than 900,000 natural gas customers in a 64,000-square-mile area through its Ameren Missouri and Ameren Illinois rate-regulated utility subsidiaries.

### Westar Energy, Inc.—Ultimate Parent, Evergy, Inc.

At the end of 2017, Westar's generation capacity was split 49% coal-fired, 35% natural gas-fired, 9% nuclear, and 7% wind. All of Westar's coal-fired generating units have had modern environmental controls added via retrofit projects.

Westar's parent company, Evergy is the owner of KCP&L, KCP&L Greater Missouri Operations Company and Westar. Through these subsidiaries, Evergy serves 1.6 million customers in Kansas and Missouri.

### G. Conclusions Drawn from Peer Review

As stated in Section XII. D., the data used in Staff's analysis reveals that there are three major factors that explain the reason for KCP&L's, Westar's, and the peer companies' relative rate levels, either in the current year, or expressed as the amount of rate change over the last ten years. The three major factors include: (1) levels of Net Plant (expressed as Net Plant/Retail MWh in the study), (2) Net Power Production Expense (expressed as Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh in the study), and (3) Industrial Sales levels (expressed as both the absolute level of Industrial Sales and as a percentage of Total Retail Sales in the study). Some combination of these three factors are usually implicated if a utility has high or low rate levels, or high or low levels of rate change.

One common theme affecting two of the three major factors (Net Plant and Net Power Production Expense) is the percentage of natural gas-fired generation capacity in a utility's overall generation fleet. The analysis performed by Staff indicates that utilities that have a high percentage of natural gas-fired generation capacity have experienced the beneficial impacts of significant declines in natural gas fuel prices (Net Power Production Expense) and have avoided significant rate increases associated with the environmental retrofits of coal-fired generation. The reduction in natural gas prices along with the influx of renewable energy (primarily wind) in SPP have also led to significant declines in wholesale market prices for energy in the SPP IM. These downward forces on SPP IM prices also has negative impacts on Sales for Resale Margins for utilities with a heavy coal-fired generation mix.

### KCP&L

Section XII. D. summarized Staff's findings regarding KCP&L as follows:

For KCP&L, the major drivers explaining its rate change from 2008 to 2017 can be attributed to increases in Net Plant/Retail MWh, driven by environmental retrofit projects and the construction of a new coal-fired generating unit, Iatan 2. Additionally, KCP&L has experienced the largest increase in Net Power Production Expense/Retail MWh of any other utility in the study group. This expense increased by \$13.14/MWh for KCP&L, versus the average reduction of \$(5.51)/MWh experienced by the group. Staff calculates that that swing of \$18.65/MWh is responsible for 61% of KCP&L's above-average growth in Retail Rate Revenue/kWh from 2008-2017.

Additionally, KCP&L experienced the 5<sup>th</sup> largest reduction in Industrial Sales load and Total Retail Sales load. KCP&L's relatively higher rate increases during this period have not been a result of mismanagement of A&G Expense or Total Salaries and Wages/MWh. In fact, KCP&L's growth in each of these categories is below the average of the study group, ranking 15<sup>th</sup> highest and 11<sup>th</sup> highest, respectively. [Footnotes omitted.]

#### Westar

Section XII. D. summarized Staff's findings regarding Westar as follows:

Westar's change in rates from 2008-2017 can almost entirely be attributed to increases in Net Plant/Retail MWh (and the necessary increases in rates to support these investments). These investments were predominantly in the areas of Production Plant and Transmission Plant. The driving factor behind Westar's increased Production Plant was environmental retrofits to coal-fired generating units mandated by state and federal environmental regulations. Westar's Transmission Plant investments are driven by the need to replace aging infrastructure to maintain reliability, the desire of state and federal policy makers to expand the transmission grid to enhance the development of renewable energy and competitive power markets, and supportive cost recovery mechanisms and ratemaking incentives available at the FERC for these investments.

In addition, Westar experienced a significantly below average change in Industrial and Retail Sales Load, ranking 8<sup>th</sup> lowest and 6<sup>th</sup> lowest in the categories, respectively. Last, Westar's Transmission Expense/MWh, related in part to its increased Transmission Plant investment, has increased faster than the average of the study group.

Westar's Net Power Production Expense was basically flat during this period, decreasing \$(.71)/MWh, however, this is significantly below the average reduction of the study group, at \$(5.51)/MWh. In an industry that has been dominated by reductions in natural gas prices and wholesale power prices, a utility who keeps its Net Power Production Expense flat will fall behind on a relative basis to its peers. Staff calculates that 23.5% of the difference in rate growth between Westar and the study group can be attributed to the fact that the average Net Power Production Expense fell faster than Westar's during this period. Lastly, what the data shows is that Westar's relative rate changes during this period of time have not been driven by increases in A&G Expense or Total Salaries and Wages. In fact, Westar managed these expenses better than the average of the study group over this time period, ranking 8<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> lowest, respectively in these two categories. [Footnotes omitted.]

## XIII. Future of Electric Rates for KCP&L and Westar in Kansas

Staff's conclusions regarding the reasons for the increases in both Westar and KCP&L's rates are primarily due to (1) capital investments related to environmental improvements and new fossil-fuel generating resources, the addition of renewable resources, and transmission system projects, (2) flat to declining volumetric sales, and (3) a generation

portfolio mix heavily weighted to coal-fired generation rather than gas-fired generation, which is currently less expensive due to low natural gas prices. The capital investments in environmental improvements, fossil-fuel generation sources, additional renewable resources, and transmission system projects have already been made and these investments are currently in rates. The inclusion of these investments in rates was evaluated through the rate setting process described in detail in this study. And, in a number of cases, the predetermination statute was used to establish the prudence of the capital investments. Because these investments have been evaluated and placed in rates, subsequently removing them from rates runs afoul of numerous regulatory principals and legal protections.

The declining volumetric sales in the Residential, Commercial and Industrial rate classes are not within the control either Westar or KCP&L. Rather, these declines are a symptom of the broader economic conditions in Kansas. Staff also notes in this study that Westar and KCP&L's customer numbers have not declined, but have remained stable. As discussed in Section XI. A., this indicates to Staff that there is also a level of organic energy efficiency resulting from engineering efficiency in home appliances and new HVAC units that is reducing volumetric sales.

Below is a graph that has KCP&L Kansas Residential rates given the decline since 2010 in average customer usage (the blue line), rates assuming constant average usage since 2010 (the red line), and rates assuming a one percent annual increase in the average usage since 2010 (the black line). Because an increase in customer usage increases costs to KCP&L, a five cent per kWh was added to the cost of providing the additional energy. By 2017 the actual all-in Residential rates was 13.39¢. If average usage had been constant the all-in rate would have been 12.69¢, and if average usage had increased one percent the rate would have been 12.09¢. Thus, if from 2010 to 2017 growth in average customer usage in the KCP&L Kansas service territory had only decline to an annual one percent growth rate, the all-in rate for Residential customers would have been 1.3¢ less.



While both Westar and KCP&L have closed three older generation facilities post-merger, each company's current generation mix is heavily weighted to coal-fired generation, which effectively forecloses the companies from being able to take advantage of lower gas fuel prices. The only recourse for Westar and KCP&L is to continue to evaluate – through an integrated resource process (currently being developed) – whether the current coal-fired units continue to be cost effective resources.

However, the recently completed merger between KCP&L and Westar will enable the newly formed parent company (evergy) to create savings through both merger and nonmerger savings that neither Westar or KCP&L could create as stand-alone companies. The merger is forecasted to achieve approximately \$800 million in merger and nonmerger related costs savings. These costs savings coupled with the completion of both company's major capital plans will bring price stability and may lead to further rate reductions. Moreover, Staff, Westar, and KCP&L are currently engaged in developing a capital expense reporting process as well as an integrated resource planning (IRP) model to provide greater transparency for capital investments budgeted in the near-term as well as longer-term resource planning. Staff also notes that, if volumetric sales rebound and begin to increase in the next five years, there could be even larger rate reductions.

The merger will provide a number of benefits to ratepayers that will aid in providing rate stability or perhaps lower rates over the next five to ten years. Some of these benefits are as follows:

- The merger agreement (Agreement) establishes a five-year base rate moratorium. More specifically, base rates may not go up for five years, but all of KCP&L and Westar's riders will continue to be updated annually. All but one of these riders (the fuel cost adjustment factor) are statutorily authorized.
- The merger is expected to achieve approximately \$800 million in merger and nonmerger related savings over five years. Staff testified in the merger proceeding that the Agreement enables 60% of the net benefits of the merger to be guaranteed to benefit customers during the five-year moratorium period. After the five-year moratorium period is over, all of the achieved savings will be passed through to ratepayers in the first rate cases for KCP&L and Westar.
- The merger has created efficiencies that reduce the need for capital investment by approximately \$1 billion over the next five years.
- > The Agreement provides \$50 million in upfront bill credits across all jurisdictions.
- The Agreement provides guaranteed bill credits for each year beginning in 2019 and ending in 2022 of \$8.65 million annually (\$34.6 million total) for Westar and \$2.8 million annually (\$11.3 million total) for KCP&L.
- The Agreement guarantees that at least \$22.5 million of merger-related savings would be included in Westar recently completed post-merger rate case and \$7.5 million would be reflected in KCP&L's recently completed post-merger rate case.
- The Agreement includes an Earnings Review and Sharing Plan (ERSP) that allows ratepayers to share in any over earnings (additional merger savings) during the five-year moratorium.

Both Westar and KCP&L recently completed rate cases that resulted in rate reductions of \$66 million and \$10.7 million respectively.<sup>87</sup> These rate reductions were largely possible because of the cumulative effect of the guaranteed level of merger savings noted above as well as the reduction in income tax expense related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. With current reduced base rates locked into place by the five-year rate moratorium, Westar and KCP&L's base rates have been stabilized. In addition, Westar and KCP&L have stated that their major capital investment plans have been completed and approximately \$800 million in merger and non-merger savings are expected to be generated over the next five years. Should these forecasts bear out, Staff expects rates to continue to be stable. However, a variety of factors could impact these utilities' rate trends. For example, sales volumes could increase from a much higher penetration of electric vehicles or a new industry establishing industrial facilities in Kansas. Such an increase in sales volumes would lower rates. Conversely, a new President that promotes a clean air agenda similar

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> These rate reduction amounts account for the fact that certain amounts previously collected from the Ad Valorem Tax Surcharge, pursuant to K.S.A. 66-117(f), were now being collected in base rates. The actual reduction to base rates was \$(50,311,893) for Westar and \$(3,916,417) for KCP&L.

to that of the Clean Power Plan proposed under President Obama – could create a need for additional capital investments, placing upward pressure on rates.



\*Change in Return on Net Plant calculated as (2017 Net Plant/Retail MWh \* Pre-Tax ROR from 15-WSEE-115-RTS Docket) less (2008 Net Plant/Retail MWh \* Pre-Tax ROR from 08-WSEE-1041-RTS Docket)



Exhibit	: 3-	-Retail R	levenu	ıe	Per kWh	(Sorted	by (	Change in R	etail Rev	enue per kWh	2017-200	08)	
							(	Change in		% Change			
								Retail		Retail		Change in	
	2	008 Retail	Ranking		2017 Retail	Ranking	Re	evenue per	Ranking	Revenue Per	Ranking	Retail Revenue	Ranking
	Re	evenue per	(High to	R	levenue per	(High to	k'	Wh (2017-	(High to	kWh	(High to	Per kWh CAGR	(High to
		kWh	Low)		kWh	Low)		2008)	Low)	2017/2008	Low)	(2017-2008)	Low)
Kansas City Power and Light	Ś	0 0725	14	Ś	0 1198	2	¢	0.0473	1	65 23%	1	5 74%	1
Black Hills Power	Ś	0.0748	13	Ś	0 1173	4	Ś	0.0425	2	56.86%	3	5.13%	3
Black Hills Colorado Electric	Ś	0.0905	5	Ś	0 1294	1	Ś	0.0389	3	42 94%	5	4 57%	5
Westar Energy	Ś	0.0662	20	Ś	0.1032	9	Ś	0.0371	4	56.02%	4	5.07%	4
Union Electric	Ś	0.0572	22	Ś	0.0932	13	Ś	0.0360	5	62.99%	2	5.58%	2
Empire District	Ś	0.0818	7	Ś	0.1147	5	Ś	0.0329	6	40.17%	6	3.82%	6
Interstate Power and Light	\$	0.0748	12	\$	0.1014	10	\$	0.0266	7	35.51%	9	3.43%	9
Northern States Power	\$	0.0795	10	\$	0.1046	8	\$	0.0251	8	31.53%	10	3.09%	10
MDU Resources Group	\$	0.0707	16	\$	0.0922	14	\$	0.0215	9	30.42%	11	3.00%	11
Minnesota Power	\$	0.0539	23	\$	0.0753	19	\$	0.0213	10	39.55%	7	3.77%	7
KCPL GMO	\$	0.0785	11	\$	0.0963	11	\$	0.0178	11	22.69%	12	2.30%	12
Northwestern Corporation	\$	0.0968	3	\$	0.1132	6	\$	0.0163	12	16.88%	15	1.75%	15
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	0.0691	18	\$	0.0839	15	\$	0.0148	13	21.39%	13	2.18%	13
Mid American Energy	\$	0.0590	21	\$	0.0728	22	\$	0.0137	14	23.26%	8	3.77%	8
Ottertail Power	\$	0.0668	19	\$	0.0773	18	\$	0.0105	15	15.75%	14	1.84%	14
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	0.0705	17	\$	0.0787	17	\$	0.0081	16	11.53%	16	1.22%	16
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	0.0875	6	\$	0.0955	12	\$	0.0081	17	9.21%	17	0.98%	17
Entergy Arkansas	\$	0.0808	8	\$	0.0833	16	\$	0.0024	18	3.00%	18	0.33%	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	0.1182	1	\$	0.1195	3	\$	0.0012	19	1.06%	19	0.12%	19
Southwestern Public Service	\$	0.0718	15	\$	0.0678	23	\$	(0.0041)	20	-5.68%	21	-0.65%	21
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	0.0801	9	\$	0.0750	20	\$	(0.0050)	21	-6.26%	22	-0.72%	22
El Paso Electric	\$	0.1106	2	\$	0.1049	7	\$	(0.0057)	22	-5.18%	20	-0.59%	20
Entergy Texas	\$	0.0967	4	\$	0.0736	21	\$	(0.0231)	23	-23.87%	23	-2.98%	23
Average	\$	0.0786		\$	0.0953		\$	0.0167		23.70%		2.29%	
High	\$	0.1182		\$	0.1294		\$	0.0473		65.23%		5.74%	
Low	\$	0.0539		\$	0.0678		\$	(0.0231)		-23.87%		-2.98%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	(0.0125)		\$	0.0079		\$	0.0204		32.33%		2.77%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	(0.0061)		\$	0.0245		\$	0.0306		41.53%		3.44%	

Exhibit 41st Tier Expla	anatory	Fact	ors	5 Vs. 2	017 F	Retail Rev	venu	ie Per kW	/h (so	rted	by 2017	Retail	Rev	enue per	· kWh)
										202	17 Total				
										P	ower				
										Pro	duction		201	.7 Total	
	2017 Retail	(High	20	)17 Net	(High	2017	(High	2017 Total	(High	Ex	pense	(High	E	ectric	(High
	Revenue	to	PI	ant Per	to	Industrial	to	Retail Sales	to	Less	SFR Per	to	08	&M Per	to
	per kWh	Low)	Ret	ail MWh	Low)	MWHs	Low)	MWHs	Low)	Ret	ail MWh	Low)		٧Wh	Low)
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$ 0.1294	1	\$	377.98	6	433,761	21	1,901,235	21	\$	60.18	2	\$	82.69	2
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 0.1198	2	\$	441.48	4	1,814,780	15	14,534,482	12	\$	33.20	12	\$	45.72	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 0.1195	3	\$	220.38	21	42,378	23	168,116	23	\$	60.49	1	\$	83.81	1
Black Hills Power	\$ 0.1173	4	\$	503.26	1	430,300	22	1,759,765	22	\$	26.38	20	\$	53.59	12
Empire District	\$ 0.1147	5	\$	420.12	5	1,080,150	17	4,515,535	19	\$	27.97	17	\$	60.80	5
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 0.1132	6	\$	321.86	12	659,409	19	7,705,578	17	\$	35.85	10	\$	55.20	9
El Paso Electric	\$ 0.1049	7	\$	348.52	9	1,045,319	18	7,843,959	16	\$	39.05	6	\$	50.46	15
Northern States Power	\$ 0.1046	8	\$	306.64	16	8,829,073	3	34,065,667	1	\$	51.44	3	\$	68.04	3
Westar Energy	\$ 0.1032	9	\$	463.92	3	5,688,830	10	19,293,184	8	\$	24.35	21	\$	45.95	17
Interstate Power and Light	\$ 0.1014	10	\$	317.38	13	6,733,293	7	14,393,847	13	\$	27.86	18	\$	61.50	4
KCPL GMO	\$ 0.0963	11	\$	304.53	17	1,289,913	16	7,931,919	15	\$	30.81	15	\$	57.12	7
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 0.0955	12	\$	317.07	14	6,449,173	9	28,628,812	3	\$	39.00	7	\$	51.78	14
Union Electric	\$ 0.0932	13	\$	311.80	15	4,464,551	13	31,597,238	2	\$	27.03	19	\$	43.49	21
MDU Resources Group	\$ 0.0922	14	\$	355.71	7	539,877	20	3,306,470	20	\$	34.64	11	\$	59.66	6
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 0.0839	15	\$	351.05	8	5,267,845	12	17,147,210	11	\$	32.96	13	\$	43.84	20
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 0.0833	16	\$	327.00	11	7,528,301	4	20,888,456	6	\$	36.40	9	\$	48.56	16
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 0.0787	17	\$	274.54	18	6,777,520	6	26,277,891	4	\$	38.74	8	\$	54.59	10
Ottertail Power	\$ 0.0773	18	\$	257.95	19	1,938,423	14	4,814,984	18	\$	31.46	14	\$	54.50	11
Minnesota Power	\$ 0.0753	19	\$	330.48	10	6,697,793	8	8,997,352	14	\$	19.31	22	\$	45.60	19
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ 0.0750	20	\$	203.34	22	5,668,890	11	18,026,293	10	\$	39.45	5	\$	56.93	8
Entergy Texas	\$ 0.0736	21	\$	174.55	23	7,520,955	5	18,058,445	9	\$	44.84	4	\$	52.41	13
Mid American Energy	\$ 0.0728	22	\$	477.08	2	12,964,048	1	24,561,979	5	\$	18.92	23	\$	31.11	23
Southwestern Public Service	\$ 0.0678	23	\$	241.23	20	10,721,063	2	19,305,301	7	\$	30.18	16	\$	42.44	22
Average	\$ 0.0953		\$	332.52		4,547,202		14,596,683		\$	35.24		\$	54.34	
High	\$ 0.1294		\$	503.26		12,964,048		34,065,667		\$	60.49		\$	83.81	
Low	\$ 0.0678		\$	174.55		42,378		168,116		\$	18.92		\$	31.11	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 0.0079		\$	131.40		1,141,628		4,696,501		\$ (	10.8851)		\$	(8.39)	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$ 0.0245		\$	108.96		(2,732,422)		(62,201)		\$	(2.0380)		\$	(8.61)	

Exhibit 52nd Tie	Exhibit 52nd Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. 2017 Retail Revenue Per kWh (Sorted by 2017 Retail Revenue per kWh)																		
																2017			
																Industrial			
					2017			2017								Sales as %			
	202	17 Retail	(High	Tra	ansmission	(High	Di	istribution	(High			(High	201	7 Salaries	(High	of Total	(High	2017	(High
	Rev	enue per	to	Ex	pense Per	to	Ex	pense Per	to	20	17 A&G	to	and	d Wages	to	Retail	to	Number of	to
		kWh	Low)		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)	ре	er MWh	Low)	Pe	er MWh	Low)	Sales	Low)	Customers	Low)
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	0.1294	1	\$	3.18	16	\$	7.62	2	\$	12.17	6	\$	11.46	10	22.81%	16	96,126	21
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	0.1198	2	\$	4.03	15	\$	2.63	17	\$	10.35	10	\$	11.84	7	12.49%	22	539,416	9
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	0.1195	3	\$	0.89	23	\$	8.15	1	\$	13.66	2	\$	16.02	4	25.21%	13	13,898	23
Black Hills Power	\$	0.1173	4	\$	9.15	3	\$	4.23	7	\$	9.74	11	\$	8.77	13	24.45%	14	72,026	22
Empire District	\$	0.1147	5	\$	5.17	12	\$	5.14	3	\$	13.57	3	\$	21.85	1	23.92%	15	171,839	17
Northwestern Corporation	\$	0.1132	6	\$	4.87	13	\$	5.00	5	\$	11.46	7	\$	11.77	8	8.56%	23	431,099	13
El Paso Electric	\$	0.1049	7	\$	1.93	19	\$	2.04	19	\$	12.61	5	\$	9.70	11	13.33%	21	415,629	14
Northern States Power	\$	0.1046	8	\$	9.07	4	\$	2.73	14	\$	10.61	9	\$	14.80	5	25.92%	11	1,466,398	1
Westar Energy	\$	0.1032	9	\$	8.67	5	\$	2.71	15	\$	7.67	17	\$	7.92	17	29.49%	10	706,505	7
Interstate Power and Light	\$	0.1014	10	\$	18.01	1	\$	1.98	20	\$	10.62	8	\$	9.51	12	46.78%	4	489,611	11
KCPL GMO	\$	0.0963	11	\$	5.65	11	\$	4.18	8	\$	16.64	1	\$	11.92	6	16.26%	19	323,476	16
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	0.0955	12	\$	1.50	20	\$	2.68	16	\$	8.93	14	\$	8.03	16	22.53%	17	1,459,191	2
Union Electric	\$	0.0932	13	\$	2.28	18	\$	3.31	11	\$	8.76	15	\$	11.76	9	14.13%	20	1,215,799	3
MDU Resources Group	\$	0.0922	14	\$	11.01	2	\$	4.59	6	\$	9.44	13	\$	16.35	3	16.33%	18	142,901	19
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	0.0839	15	\$	4.56	14	\$	3.27	12	\$	3.96	23	\$	5.31	21	30.72%	9	534,632	10
Entergy Arkansas	\$	0.0833	16	\$	1.44	21	\$	2.92	13	\$	9.52	12	\$	3.93	22	36.04%	7	708,864	6
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	0.0787	17	\$	6.01	10	\$	3.44	10	\$	7.70	16	\$	8.39	14	25.79%	12	838,252	4
Ottertail Power	\$	0.0773	18	\$	6.18	9	\$	3.52	9	\$	13.53	4	\$	18.70	2	40.26%	6	131,852	20
Minnesota Power	\$	0.0753	19	\$	6.28	8	\$	1.74	22	\$	7.19	18	\$	8.05	15	74.44%	1	146,370	18
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	0.0750	20	\$	7.23	6	\$	5.12	4	\$	5.57	20	\$	5.62	20	31.45%	8	550,023	8
Entergy Texas	\$	0.0736	21	\$	1.36	22	\$	1.86	21	\$	5.29	21	\$	3.38	23	41.65%	5	446,771	12
Mid American Energy	\$	0.0728	22	\$	2.29	17	\$	2.63	18	\$	5.89	19	\$	6.92	18	52.78%	3	770,335	5
Southwestern Public Service	\$	0.0678	23	\$	7.06	7	\$	1.33	23	\$	5.26	22	\$	6.85	19	55.53%	2	389,818	15
Average	\$	0.0953		\$	5.56		\$	3.60		\$	9.57		\$	10.38		30.04%		524,384	
High	\$	0.1294		\$	18.01		\$	8.15		\$	16.64		\$	21.85		74.44%		1,466,398	
Low	\$	0.0678		\$	0.89		\$	1.33		\$	3.96		\$	3.38		8.56%		13,898	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	0.0079		\$	3.11		\$	(0.89)		\$	(1.90)		\$	(2.46)		-0.55%		182,121	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	0.0245		\$	(1.53)		\$	(0.97)		\$	0.78		\$	1.45		-17.55%		15,032	

Exhibit 61st Tier I	Exhibit 61st Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. Change in Retail Revenue Per kWh (Sorted by Change in Retail Revenue per kWh 2017-2008)															
								2000)			2	017-2008				
	C	nange in									Т	tal Power				
		Retail			Change in		Change in		Change in		P	roduction		20	17-2008	
	R	evenue	(Hiøh	N	et Plant Per	(High	Industrial	(High	Total Retail	(High	FY	nenseless	(High	Tota	al Flectric	(High
	n	erkWh	to	R	etail MWh	to	MWHs (2017-	to	Sales MWhs	to	SEF	R Per Retail	to		&M Per	to
	(20	)17-2008)	Low)	(	2017-2008)	Low)	2008)	Low)	(2017-2008)	Low)		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)
Kansas City Power and Light	Ś	0.0473	1	\$	242.67	4	(246,326)	<u>,</u> 19	(724,030)	, 19	Ś	13.14	1	Ś	7.50	7
Black Hills Power	Ś	0.0425	2	Ś	264.10	2	15.879	9	86.832	12	Ś	6.33	4	Ś	4.88	9
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	0.0389	3	\$	283.08	1	(18,824)	12	155,320	11	\$	1.65	6	\$	9.71	5
Westar Energy	\$	0.0371	4	\$	254.71	3	(79,840)	16	(421,293)	18	\$	(0.71)	9	\$	1.35	11
Union Electric	\$	0.0360	5	\$	124.91	19	(4,790,959)	23	(6,383,388)	23	\$	9.89	3	\$	8.90	6
Empire District	\$	0.0329	6	\$	224.93	6	6,900	10	(256,442)	17	\$	(9.50)	16	\$	10.31	3
Interstate Power and Light	\$	0.0266	7	\$	195.55	10	(1,008,894)	21	(1,567,502)	21	\$	(8.28)	14	\$	9.94	4
Northern States Power	\$	0.0251	8	\$	169.36	12	(1,314,503)	22	(2,140,322)	22	\$	2.27	5	\$	4.75	10
MDU Resources Group	\$	0.0215	9	\$	230.50	5	57,465	8	643,018	6	\$	1.31	8	\$	12.57	2
Minnesota Power	\$	0.0213	10	\$	218.21	8	(39,540)	13	(141,037)	15	\$	(2.93)	10	\$	6.76	8
KCPL GMO	\$	0.0178	11	\$	153.54	15	(355,507)	20	(1,125,148)	20	\$	(11.50)	17	\$	(4.63)	14
Northwestern Corporation	\$	0.0163	12	\$	186.14	11	(49,495)	14	375,946	8	\$	(14.73)	19	\$	(5.11)	15
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	0.0148	13	\$	218.34	7	(134,076)	17	(24,580)	14	\$	(8.54)	15	\$	(5.81)	17
Mid American Energy	\$	0.0137	14	\$	207.80	9	3,852,707	1	3,633,022	1	\$	11.32	2	\$	(3.01)	13
Ottertail Power	\$	0.0105	15	\$	64.36	21	653,272	4	570,607	7	\$	1.34	7	\$	19.67	1
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	0.0081	16	\$	137.23	16	(189,157)	18	871,711	4	\$	(7.50)	13	\$	(0.32)	12
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	0.0081	17	\$	155.68	14	175,876	6	357,491	9	\$	(13.74)	18	\$	(10.44)	20
Entergy Arkansas	\$	0.0024	18	\$	124.98	18	316,826	5	(149,446)	16	\$	(5.92)	11	\$	(8.69)	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	0.0012	19	\$	39.98	23	72	11	(2,098)	13	\$	(6.49)	12	\$	(5.61)	16
Southwestern Public Service	\$	(0.0041)	20	\$	131.73	17	1,453,838	3	1,111,430	3	\$	(21.37)	22	\$	(16.28)	21
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	(0.0050)	21	\$	81.16	20	117,722	7	272,835	10	\$	(19.05)	21	\$	(10.32)	19
El Paso Electric	\$	(0.0057)	22	\$	162.45	13	(56,958)	15	809,605	5	\$	(14.89)	20	\$	(17.09)	22
Entergy Texas	\$	(0.0231)	23	\$	53.24	22	1,572,562	2	2,524,958	2	\$	(28.88)	23	\$	(36.41)	23
Average	\$	0.0167		\$	170.64		(2,650)		(66,196)		\$	(5.51)		\$	(1.19)	
High	\$	0.0473		\$	283.08		3,852,707		3,633,022		\$	13.14		\$	19.67	
Low	\$	(0.0231)		\$	39.98		(4,790,959)		(6,383,388)		\$	(28.88)		\$	(36.41)	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	0.0204		\$	84.08		(77,190)		(355,097)		\$	4.80		\$	2.54	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	0.0306		\$	72.04		(243,676)		(657,834)		\$	18.65		\$	8.69	

Exhibit 72nd Tier Explanatory Factors Vs. Change in Retail Revenue Per kWh (Sorted by Change in															
	Retail Revenue per kWh 2017-2008)   Change in 2017-2008 2017-2008 2017-2008														
	Cł	nange in		20	17-2008		20	017-2008					201	.7-2008	
	Reta	il Revenue	Ranking	Tran	smission	Ranking	Dis	stribution	Ranking	20	17-2008 A&G	Ranking	Sa	laries	Ranking
	perl	kWh (2017-	(High to	Exp	ense Per	(High to	Exp	pense Per	(High to	E	xpense per	(High to	and	Wages	(High to
		2008)	Low)		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)	Pe	r MWh	Low)
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	0.0473	1	\$	2.81	13	\$	0.52	12	\$	1.59	15	\$	1.52	11
Black Hills Power	\$	0.0425	2	\$	5.88	3	\$	2.58	3	\$	2.28	11	\$	1.81	10
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	0.0389	3	\$	(1.38)	23	\$	4.35	2	\$	1.84	14	\$	1.47	13
Westar Energy	\$	0.0371	4	\$	5.17	7	\$	0.10	19	\$	1.51	16	\$	1.33	14
Union Electric	\$	0.0360	5	\$	1.49	16	\$	0.31	16	\$	1.84	13	\$	2.70	8
Empire District	\$	0.0329	6	\$	4.10	11	\$	1.79	4	\$	6.74	1	\$	13.25	1
Interstate Power and Light	\$	0.0266	7	\$	12.84	1	\$	0.42	13	\$	3.31	6	\$	1.51	12
Northern States Power	\$	0.0251	8	\$	5.52	4	\$	0.25	18	\$	3.20	7	\$	3.60	4
MDU Resources Group	\$	0.0215	9	\$	8.47	2	\$	0.68	11	\$	1.29	18	\$	0.07	20
Minnesota Power	\$	0.0213	10	\$	4.65	10	\$	0.09	20	\$	0.08	22	\$	(0.05)	21
KCPL GMO	\$	0.0178	11	\$	2.10	15	\$	0.73	9	\$	5.29	3	\$	(0.43)	23
Northwestern Corporation	\$	0.0163	12	\$	2.49	14	\$	1.63	5	\$	5.05	4	\$	5.47	3
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	0.0148	13	\$	3.29	12	\$	0.72	10	\$	0.03	23	\$	0.89	15
Mid American Energy	\$	0.0137	14	\$	0.99	17	\$	(0.47)	22	\$	1.45	17	\$	0.84	16
Ottertail Power	\$	0.0105	15	\$	4.73	9	\$	1.21	7	\$	5.37	2	\$	6.73	2
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	0.0081	16	\$	5.02	8	\$	1.32	6	\$	2.53	10	\$	2.95	7
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	0.0081	17	\$	0.48	19	\$	0.78	8	\$	3.07	8	\$	2.48	9
Entergy Arkansas	\$	0.0024	18	\$	0.34	21	\$	(0.74)	23	\$	3.94	5	\$	0.26	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	0.0012	19	\$	0.27	22	\$	(0.44)	21	\$	0.96	19	\$	0.10	19
Southwestern Public Service	\$	(0.0041)	20	\$	5.50	5	\$	0.39	14	\$	2.01	12	\$	3.07	6
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	(0.0050)	21	\$	5.34	6	\$	4.98	1	\$	0.85	20	\$	0.70	17
El Paso Electric	\$	(0.0057)	22	\$	0.42	20	\$	0.28	17	\$	2.76	9	\$	3.60	5
Entergy Texas	\$	(0.0231)	23	\$	0.62	18	\$	0.34	15	\$	0.54	21	\$	(0.18)	22
Average	\$	0.0167		\$	3.53		\$	0.95		\$	2.50		\$	2.33	
High	\$	0.0473		\$	12.84		\$	4.98		\$	6.74		\$	13.25	
Low	\$	(0.0231)		\$	(1.38)		\$	(0.74)		\$	0.03		\$	(0.43)	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	0.0204		\$	1.64		\$	(0.85)		\$	(0.99)		\$	(1.00)	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	0.0306		\$	(0.71)		\$	(0.43)		\$	(0.91)		\$	(0.81)	













Exhibit 14Power F	Produ	iction	Expen	se Less Sa	les for	Re	sale Per	Retai	MWh(Sort	ed by Ch	ange in Net Pov	ver
			Produ	iction Expense I	Per Retail	MM	Vh 2017-200	8)				
	2008 Po Prod Expen SFR Pe	3 Total ower uction ose Less er Retail Wh	Ranking	2017 Total Power Production Expense Less SFR Per Retail MWh	Ranking	201 P Ex SF	7-2008 Total Power roduction pense Less R Per Retail MWh	Ranking	% Change in Net Power Production Expense Per Retail MWh 2017-2008	Ranking (High to Low)	CAGR Net Power Production Expense Per Retail MWh 2017/2008	Ranking (High to Low)
Konces City Dower and Light	¢	20.06	20	¢ 22.20	12	ć	10.14	1	CE 40%/	2	F 7C9/	2
Nid Amorican Energy	ې د	20.06	20	\$ 33.20 \$ 18.00	12	<b>\$</b>	11.22	1	148.020/	2 1	5.76%	2 1
	ې د	17.14	23	\$ 18.92 \$ 27.02	23 10	ې د	11.32	2	148.92%	1 2	10.00% E 10%	1
Black Hills Power	ာ င	20.05	22	\$ 27.05	20	ာ င	6.33	5	31.58%	5	3.19%	5
Northern States Power	ې د	/0.05	21 Q	\$ 51 11	20	ې د	2.27	4 5	4.62%	4 5	0.50%	4
Black Hills Colorado Electric	с С	58 53	3	\$ 60.18	2	ې د	1.65	6	2 82%	8	0.30%	8
Ottertail Power	Ś	30.12	17	\$ 31.46	14	Ś	1 34	7	4 45%	6	0.55%	5
MDU Resources Group	Ś	33.32	16	\$ 34.64	11	Ś	1.31	8	3.94%	7	0.43%	7
Westar Energy	Ś	25.07	18	\$ 24.35	21	Ś	(0.71)	9	-2.84%	9	-0.32%	9
Minnesota Power	\$	22.24	19	\$ 19.31	22	\$	(2.93)	10	-13.16%	11	-1.56%	11
Entergy Arkansas	\$	42.32	11	\$ 36.40	9	\$	(5.92)	11	-13.99%	12	-1.66%	12
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	66.98	2	\$ 60.49	1	\$	(6.49)	12	-9.69%	10	-1.13%	10
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	46.23	10	\$ 38.74	8	\$	(7.50)	13	-16.21%	13	-1.95%	13
Interstate Power and Light	\$	36.14	15	\$ 27.86	18	\$	(8.28)	14	-22.92%	15	-2.85%	15
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	41.51	13	\$ 32.96	13	\$	(8.54)	15	-20.58%	14	-2.53%	14
Empire District	\$	37.46	14	\$ 27.97	17	\$	(9.50)	16	-25.35%	16	-3.20%	16
KCPL GMO	\$	42.31	12	\$ 30.81	15	\$	(11.50)	17	-27.17%	18	-3.46%	18
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	52.75	6	\$ 39.00	7	\$	(13.74)	18	-26.06%	17	-3.30%	17
Northwestern Corporation	\$	50.58	8	\$ 35.85	10	\$	(14.73)	19	-29.12%	20	-3.75%	20
El Paso Electric	\$	53.94	5	\$ 39.05	6	\$	(14.89)	20	-27.60%	19	-3.52%	19
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	58.50	4	\$ 39.45	5	\$	(19.05)	21	-32.56%	21	-4.28%	21
Southwestern Public Service	\$	51.55	7	\$ 30.18	16	\$	(21.37)	22	-41.45%	23	-5.77%	23
Entergy Texas	\$	73.73	1	\$ 44.84	4	\$	(28.88)	23	-39.18%	22	-5.37%	22
Average	Ş	40.75		\$ 35.24		Ş	(5.51)		-1.23%		-0.79%	
High	Ş	73.73		\$ 60.49		Ş	13.14		148.92%		10.66%	
Low	Ş	7.60		\$ 18.92		Ş	(28.88)		-41.45%		-5.77%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	(15.69)		\$ (10.89)	)	\$	4.80		-1.60%		0.47%	
KCP&LVs. Average	\$	(20.69)		\$ (2.04)		\$	18.65		66.73%		6.54%	









Exhibit 19	Total Elect	ric O&I	M Per MW	h (Sorte	d by Change in <sup>-</sup>	Total Elec	tric O&M Per N	/Wh 201	7-2008)	
							% Change in		CAGR Change in A&G	
	2008 Total	Ranking	2017 Total	Ranking	2017-2008 Total	Ranking	A&G Expense	Danking	Expense Per	Danking
	Electric O&M	(High to	Electric O&M	(High to	Electric O&M	(High to	Per MWh 2017-	(High to	MWh	(High to
	Per MWh	Low)	Per MWh	Low)	Per MWh	Low)	2008	Low)	2017/2008	Low)
Ottertail Power	\$ 34.84	21	\$ 54.50	11	\$ 19.67	1	56.46%	1	5.75%	1
MDU Resources Group	\$ 47.09	) 17	\$ 59.66	6	\$ 12.57	2	26.69%	2	2.66%	2
Empire District	\$ 50.49	14	\$ 60.80	5	\$ 10.31	3	20.43%	4	2.09%	4
Interstate Power and Light	\$ 51.5	5 13	\$ 61.50	4	\$ 9.94	4	19.28%	6	1.98%	6
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$ 72.9	3	\$ 82.69	2	\$ 9.71	5	13.30%	8	1.57%	8
Union Electric	\$ 34.5	22	\$ 43.49	21	\$ 8.90	6	25.74%	3	2.58%	3
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 38.2	20	\$ 45.72	18	\$ 7.50	7	19.62%	5	2.01%	5
Minnesota Power	\$ 38.84	19	\$ 45.60	19	\$ 6.76	8	17.41%	7	1.80%	7
Black Hills Power	\$ 48.7	l 16	\$ 53.59	12	\$ 4.88	9	10.02%	9	1.07%	9
Northern States Power	\$ 63.2	6	\$ 68.04	3	\$ 4.75	10	7.51%	10	0.81%	10
Westar Energy	\$ 44.6	) 18	\$ 45.95	17	\$ 1.35	11	3.02%	11	0.33%	11
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 54.9	12	\$ 54.59	10	\$ (0.32)	12	-0.58%	12	-0.06%	12
Mid American Energy	\$ 34.13	23	\$ 31.11	23	\$ (3.01)	13	-8.82%	16	-1.02%	16
KCPL GMO	\$ 61.7	8	\$ 57.12	7	\$ (4.63)	14	-7.50%	14	-0.86%	14
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 60.3	9	\$ 55.20	9	\$ (5.11)	15	-8.47%	15	-0.98%	15
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 89.42	2 1	\$ 83.81	1	\$ (5.61)	16	-6.28%	13	-0.72%	13
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 49.6	5 15	\$ 43.84	20	\$ (5.81)	17	-11.69%	17	-1.37%	17
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 57.24	11	\$ 48.56	16	\$ (8.69)	18	-15.17%	18	-1.81%	18
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ 67.2	5 5	\$ 56.93	8	\$ (10.32)	19	-15.35%	19	-1.83%	19
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 62.22	2 7	\$ 51.78	14	\$ (10.44)	20	-16.78%	20	-2.02%	20
Southwestern Public Service	\$ 58.72	2 10	\$ 42.44	22	\$ (16.28)	21	-27.72%	22	-3.54%	22
El Paso Electric	\$ 67.5	5 4	\$ 50.46	15	\$ (17.09)	22	-25.30%	21	-3.19%	21
Entergy Texas	\$ 88.82	2 2	\$ 52.41	13	\$ (36.41)	23	-41.00%	23	-5.69%	23
Average	\$ 55.53	3	\$ 54.34		\$ (1.19)		1.51%		-0.02%	
High	\$ 89.42	2	\$ 83.81		\$ 19.67		56.46%		5.75%	
Low	\$ 34.1	3	\$ 31.11		\$ (36.41)		-41.00%		-5.69%	
Westar Vs Average	\$ (10.93	3)	<u>५</u> (८.२०)		\$ 2.54		1 51%		በ	
KCP&I Vs Average	\$ (17.3)	))	\$ (8.61)		\$ 8.69		18 10%		2 03%	





Exhibit 2	2Net Pla	nt Per	Retail MW	h (Sorte	d by	Change in	Net Plant	Per Retail MW	/h 2017-2	2008)	
	2008 Net Plant Per Retail MWh	Ranking	2017 Net Plant Per Retail MWh	Ranking	Cha Plai M	ange in Net nt Per Retail IWh (2017- 2008)	Ranking	% Change in Net Plant Per Retail MWh 2017-2008	Ranking (High to Low)	CAGR Net Plant Per Retail MWh 2017/2008	Ranking (High to Low)
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$ 94.90	11	\$ 377.98	6	Ċ	283.08	1	208 20%	1	18 86%	1
Black Hills Power	\$ 239.15	2	\$ 503.26	1	с с	264.10	2	110 43%	<u> </u>	8.62%	12
Westar Energy	\$ 209.20	3	\$ 463.92	3	Ś	254.71	3	121.75%	9	9.25%	9
Kansas City Power and Light	\$ 198.81	5	\$ 441.48	4	Ś	242.67	4	122.07%	8	9.27%	8
MDU Resources Group	\$ 125.21	18	\$ 355.71	7	Ś	230.50	5	184.09%	3	12.30%	3
Empire District	\$ 195.19	6	\$ 420.12	5	\$	224.93	6	115.24%	11	8.89%	11
Southwestern Electric Power	\$ 132.71	17	\$ 351.05	8	\$	218.34	7	164.53%	4	11.41%	4
Minnesota Power	\$ 112.26	22	\$ 330.48	10	\$	218.21	8	194.38%	2	12.75%	2
Mid American Energy	\$ 269.28	1	\$ 477.08	2	\$	207.80	9	77.17%	17	6.56%	17
Interstate Power and Light	\$ 121.83	20	\$ 317.38	13	\$	195.55	10	160.50%	5	11.22%	5
Northwestern Corporation	\$ 135.72	16	\$ 321.86	12	\$	186.14	11	137.15%	6	10.07%	6
Northern States Power	\$ 137.28	15	\$ 306.64	16	\$	169.36	12	123.37%	7	9.34%	7
El Paso Electric	\$ 186.07	9	\$ 348.52	9	\$	162.45	13	87.30%	16	7.22%	16
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$ 161.39	12	\$ 317.07	14	\$	155.68	14	96.46%	15	7.79%	15
KCPL GMO	\$ 150.99	13	\$ 304.53	17	\$	153.54	15	101.69%	13	8.11%	13
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$ 137.31	14	\$ 274.54	18	\$	137.23	16	99.94%	14	8.00%	14
Southwestern Public Service	\$ 109.50	23	\$ 241.23	20	\$	131.73	17	120.30%	10	9.17%	10
Entergy Arkansas	\$ 202.02	4	\$ 327.00	11	\$	124.98	18	61.86%	20	5.50%	20
Union Electric	\$ 186.88	8	\$ 311.80	15	\$	124.91	19	66.84%	18	5.85%	18
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$ 122.18	19	\$ 203.34	22	\$	81.16	20	66.42%	19	5.82%	19
Ottertail Power	\$ 193.59	7	\$ 257.95	19	\$	64.36	21	33.25%	22	3.65%	22
Entergy Texas	\$ 121.31	21	\$ 174.55	23	\$	53.24	22	43.89%	21	4.13%	21
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$ 180.40	10	\$ 220.38	21	\$	39.98	23	22.16%	23	2.25%	23
Average	\$ 161.88		\$ 332.52		\$	170.64		113.44%		8.52%	
High	\$ 269.28		\$ 503.26		\$	283.08		298.29%		18.86%	
Low	\$ 94.90		\$ 174.55		\$	39.98		22.16%		2.25%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$ 47.32		\$ 131.40		Ś	84.08		8.32%		0.73%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$ 36.93		\$ 108.96		\$	72.04		8.63%		0.75%	





Exhibit 25Deprec	iation	Expe	nse Pe	er F	Retail M	Wh (so	orted	by Change	in Depre	ciation Expense	e Per Ret	ail MWh 2017-2	2008)
							C	hange in		% Change in		CAGR	
	200	8			2017		De	preciation		Depreciation		Depreciation	
	Depreci	iation		De	epreciation		Ex	pense Per		Expense Per	Ranking	Expense Per	Ranking
	Expens	e Per		E۶	kpense Per		M	Wh (2017-		Retail MWh	(High to	Retail MWh	(High to
	MW	/h	Ranking		MWh	Ranking		2008)	Ranking	2017-2008	Low)	2017/2008	Low)
Minnesota Power	\$	5.18	21	\$	14.25	13	\$	9.07	1	175.01%	1	11.90%	1
Westar Energy	\$	8.98	10	\$	17.70	5	\$	8.72	2	97.13%	4	7.83%	4
Northern States Power	\$	10.08	7	\$	18.31	4	\$	8.22	3	81.55%	6	6.85%	6
Mid American Energy	\$	11.62	3	\$	19.64	2	\$	8.02	4	69.00%	12	6.00%	12
Black Hills Power	\$	12.42	2	\$	20.32	1	\$	7.90	5	63.64%	15	5.62%	15
Union Electric	\$	8.31	13	\$	16.11	8	\$	7.80	6	93.93%	5	7.64%	5
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	7.83	15	\$	15.47	9	\$	7.64	7	97.52%	3	8.88%	2
Northwestern Corporation	\$	9.24	9	\$	16.70	7	\$	7.46	8	80.71%	7	6.80%	7
Interstate Power and Light	\$	7.22	17	\$	14.57	11	\$	7.35	9	101.82%	2	8.11%	3
Empire District	\$	10.48	6	\$	17.52	6	\$	7.03	10	67.11%	14	5.87%	14
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	13.46	1	\$	19.56	3	\$	6.10	11	45.33%	18	4.24%	18
KCPL GMO	\$	7.81	16	\$	13.83	14	\$	6.01	12	76.98%	8	6.55%	8
MDU Resources Group	\$	8.83	11	\$	14.75	10	\$	5.92	13	67.13%	13	5.87%	13
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	6.68	18	\$	11.46	17	\$	4.78	14	71.59%	11	6.18%	11
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	8.14	14	\$	12.67	16	\$	4.53	15	55.65%	16	5.04%	16
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	5.88	19	\$	10.28	20	\$	4.40	16	74.91%	10	6.41%	10
Southwestern Public Service	\$	5.23	20	\$	9.23	21	\$	4.00	17	76.51%	9	6.52%	9
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	11.21	5	\$	14.26	12	\$	3.05	18	27.20%	21	2.71%	21
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	5.06	22	\$	7.49	22	\$	2.42	19	47.84%	17	4.44%	17
Ottertail Power	\$	8.38	12	\$	10.71	19	\$	2.33	20	27.83%	20	3.12%	20
Entergy Arkansas	\$	11.25	4	\$	13.19	15	\$	1.93	21	17.18%	23	1.78%	23
El Paso Electric	\$	9.49	8	\$	11.40	18	\$	1.91	22	20.10%	22	2.06%	22
Entergy Texas	\$	4.84	23	\$	6.49	23	\$	1.65	23	34.19%	19	3.32%	19
Average	\$	8.59		\$	14.17		\$	5.58		68.25%		5.81%	
High	\$	13.46		\$	20.32		\$	9.07		175.01%		11.90%	
Low	\$	4.84		\$	6.49		\$	1.65		17.18%		1.78%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	0.39		\$	3.53		\$	3.15		28.88%		2.02%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	4.86		\$	5.39		\$	0.52		-22.92%		-1.57%	


Exhibit 27Net Pro	od	uction P	lant Pe	er	Retail M	Wh (so	orte	d by Change	in Net Pr	oduction Plant	Per Reta	il MWh 2017-20	008)
	2008 Net Production Plant Per Retail MWh		Ranking	l Pla	2017 Net Production Int Per Retail MWh	Ranking	Ch F Pla N	ange in Net Production Int Per Retail /Wh (2017- 2008)	Ranking	% Change in Net Production Plant Per Retail MWh 2017-2008	Ranking (High to Low)	CAGR Net Production Plant Per Retail MWh 2017/2008	Ranking (High to Low)
Black Hills Colorado Electric	Ş	9.10	23	Ş	189.93	8	Ş	180.83	1	1987.10%	1	46.20%	1
Kansas City Power and Light	Ş	100.69	4	\$	265.71	2	Ş	165.02	2	163.89%	10	11.38%	10
Mid American Energy	Ş	175.22	1	Ş	334.28	1	Ş	159.06	3	90.78%	15	7.44%	15
Minnesota Power	Ş	59.80	9	Ş	216.34	6	Ş	156.54	4	261.78%	5	15.36%	5
MDU Resources Group	Ş	55.57	10	Ş	209.32	/	Ş	153.74	5	276.66%	4	15.88%	4
Southwestern Electric Power	Ş	40.04	16	Ş	189.33	9	Ş	149.30	6	372.92%	3	18.84%	3
Empire District	Ş	80.59	7	Ş	226.37	5	Ş	145.78	7	180.90%	7	12.16%	7
Westar Energy	Ş	120.10	18	Ş	262.61	3	Ş	142.50	8	118.65%	13	9.08%	13
Black Hills Power	Ş	99.12	5	Ş	227.62	4	Ş	128.50	9	129.65%	12	9.68%	12
Interstate Power and Light	Ş	46.48	15	Ş	163.09	12	Ş	116.61	10	250.90%	6	14.97%	6
Northwestern Corporation	Ş	11.56	21	Ş	120.22	16	Ş	108.66	11	940.04%	2	29.72%	2
KCPL GMO	\$	53.72	12	\$	144.69	13	\$	90.97	12	169.33%	9	11.64%	9
El Paso Electric	\$	81.20	6	\$	169.37	10	\$	88.17	13	108.59%	14	8.51%	14
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	47.37	13	\$	129.61	15	\$	82.25	14	173.64%	8	11.83%	8
Northern States Power	\$	55.48	11	\$	135.84	14	\$	80.37	15	144.87%	11	10.46%	11
Union Electric	\$	110.71	2	\$	166.95	11	\$	56.24	16	50.80%	19	4.67%	19
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	46.91	14	\$	78.60	19	\$	31.68	17	67.53%	16	5.90%	16
Entergy Arkansas	\$	76.80	8	\$	108.18	18	\$	31.38	18	40.86%	20	3.88%	20
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	32.12	19	\$	52.36	20	\$	20.24	19	63.02%	17	5.58%	17
Southwestern Public Service	\$	37.02	17	\$	50.24	21	\$	13.22	20	35.71%	21	3.45%	21
Entergy Texas	\$	19.54	20	\$	31.10	22	\$	11.56	21	59.18%	18	5.30%	18
Ottertail Power	\$	101.93	3	\$	109.50	17	\$	7.57	22	7.42%	22	0.90%	22
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	11.33	22	\$	2.03	23	\$	(9.30)	23	-82.05%	23	-17.37%	23
Average	\$	64.02		\$	155.80		\$	91.78		244.01%		10.67%	
High	\$	175.22		\$	334.28		\$	180.83		1987.10%		46.20%	
Low	\$	9.10		\$	2.03		\$	(9.30)		-82.05%		-17.37%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	56.09		\$	106.81		\$	50.73		-125.36%		-1.59%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	36.67		\$	109.92		\$	73.24		-80.12%		0.71%	



Exhibit 29Net Tran	sn	nission P	lant P	erl	Retail M	Wh (so	orte	ed by Change	in Net Tr	ansmission Pla	ant Per R	etail MWh 2017	-2008)
	2008 Net Transmission Plant Per Retail MWh Banking		Tr. Pla	2017 Net ansmission nt Per Retail		Cl T Pla	hange in Net ransmission ant Per Retail WWh (2017-		% Change in Net Transmission Plant Per Retail MWh	Ranking	CAGR Net Transmission Plant Per Retail MWh	Ranking (High to	
		MWh	Ranking		MWh	Ranking		2008)	Ranking	2017-2008	Low)	2017/2008	Low)
Southwastern Dublic Convice	ځ	21 76	F	<u> </u>	117 70	1	-	96.02	1	270 990/	4	15 690/	1
Black Hills Colorado Electric	ې د	51.70	20	ې د	24.14	1 2	ج ح	70.05	1	270.88%	4	15.08%	4
	ې د	15.41	20	ې د	04.14	3	ې خ	70.73	2	217.32%	-	25.60%	
Oklahama Cas and Electric	<b>ې</b> د	19 72	10	ې د	77.65	2 0	ې د	<b>50.37</b>	5	217.23%	<b>5</b>	17 120/	<b>5</b>
	ې د	10.72	10	ې د	77.05	0 6	ې ح	50.95	4 F	514.61% 106 FF%	5	17.13%	5 6
Northorn States Dower	ې د	27.02	12	ې د	00.14	о Б	ې خ	55.12	5	174 01%	0	11 200/	0
Ottortail Power	၃ င	29.24	6	ာ င	00.30	7	ာ င	J1.14 17.19	7	174.91%	0 10	12.05%	9
Minnosota Rower	ې خ	12 22	21	ې خ	50.70	12	ှ င	47.48	/ 0	284 67%	2	10 17%	0 2
Entergy Arkansas	ې د	35 01	21	ې د	81 /1	12	ې د	47.39	0 0	126 68%	2 13	9.52%	2 13
Southwestern Electric Power	ې د	28.21	8	ې د	68 66	4 10	ہ خ	45.50	10	1/13 30%	12	10.38%	12
Mid American Energy	ې د	18.82	17	¢ ¢	54.45	17	¢ ¢	35.63	11	189 34%	7	12 53%	7
MDU Resources Group	ې د	22 91	14	¢	57.92	15	¢ ¢	35.00	12	152 74%	, 9	10.85%	, 10
Northwestern Corporation	ې د	42.74	2	Ś	74 12	9	Ś	31.38	12	73 41%	17	6 31%	10
Empire District	Ś	27.83	10	Ś	58.69	13	Ś	30.86	14	110 90%	14	8 64%	14
Public Service Co. of Colorado	Ś	28.12	9	Ś	58.46	14	Ś	30.34	15	107.92%	15	8.47%	15
Entergy Texas	Ś	34.62	4	Ś	55.71	16	Ś	21.09	16	60.91%	19	5.43%	19
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	Ś	49.79	1	Ś	68.45	11	Ś	18.66	17	37.48%	21	3.60%	21
Union Electric	Ś	10.92	22	Ś	27.02	21	Ś	16.10	18	147.41%	11	10.59%	11
KCPL GMO	\$	19.54	16	\$	35.21	19	\$	15.67	19	80.21%	16	6.76%	16
El Paso Electric	\$	20.99	15	\$	34.06	20	\$	13.07	20	62.27%	18	5.53%	18
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	23.70	13	\$	36.30	18	\$	12.60	21	53.17%	20	4.85%	20
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	15.64	19	\$	20.09	22	\$	4.45	22	28.45%	22	2.82%	22
Interstate Power and Light	\$	-	23	\$	-	23	\$	-	23	\$-	23	\$-	23
Average	\$	24.84		\$	60.75		\$	35.91		157.04%		10.20%	
High	\$	49.79		\$	117.79		\$	86.03		527.32%		25.80%	
Low	\$	-		\$	-		\$	-		0.00%		0.00%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	2.95		\$	27.41		\$	24.46		60.18%		3.48%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	(9.20)		\$	(40.66)		\$	(31.46)		-128.59%		-7.38%	

Exhibit 30Net Dis	Exhibit 30Net Distribution Plant Per Retail MWh (Sorted by Change in Net Distribution Plant Per Retail MWh 2017-2008)													
	П	2008 Net		Г	2017 Net		Cł C	nange in Net Distribution		% Change in Net Distribution		CAGR Net Distribution		
	Pla	nt Per Retail MWh	Ranking	Pla	ant Per Retail MWh	Ranking	N	/Wh (2017- 2008)	Ranking	Retail MWh 2017-2008	Ranking (High to Low)	MWh 2017/2008	Ranking (High to Low)	
Interstate Power and Light	\$	67.62	8	\$	139.55	1	\$	71.92	1	106.36%	1	8.38%	1	
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	58.61	14	\$	103.01	11	\$	44.40	2	75.75%	4	6.47%	4	
KCPL GMO	\$	64.90	10	\$	107.58	8	\$	42.69	3	65.78%	6	5.78%	6	
Westar Energy	\$	52.38	17	\$	94.88	14	\$	42.50	4	81.13%	3	6.82%	3	
MDU Resources Group	\$	40.47	21	\$	80.64	16	\$	40.17	5	99.26%	2	7.96%	2	
Union Electric	\$	56.94	16	\$	96.83	13	\$	39.89	6	70.07%	5	6.08%	5	
Northwestern Corporation	\$	76.17	5	\$	115.49	6	\$	39.32	7	51.62%	13	4.73%	13	
El Paso Electric	\$	64.03	11	\$	103.24	10	\$	39.21	8	61.25%	7	5.45%	7	
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	68.80	7	\$	107.50	9	\$	38.70	9	56.25%	9	5.08%	9	
Black Hills Power	\$	99.86	2	\$	137.79	3	\$	37.92	10	37.97%	18	3.64%	18	
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	82.15	3	\$	119.87	4	\$	37.72	11	45.91%	15	4.29%	16	
Entergy Arkansas	\$	70.53	6	\$	107.97	7	\$	37.44	12	53.09%	12	4.85%	12	
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	65.73	9	\$	102.43	12	\$	36.70	13	55.84%	10	5.05%	10	
Empire District	\$	80.62	4	\$	117.21	5	\$	36.60	14	45.40%	16	4.25%	17	
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	50.35	18	\$	80.43	17	\$	30.07	15	59.72%	8	5.34%	8	
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	109.53	1	\$	138.12	2	\$	28.59	16	26.10%	20	2.61%	20	
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	64.02	12	\$	91.84	15	\$	27.82	17	43.46%	17	4.61%	14	
Northern States Power	\$	47.44	20	\$	70.92	19	\$	23.49	18	49.51%	14	4.57%	15	
Southwestern Public Service	\$	31.49	22	\$	48.75	22	\$	17.26	19	54.82%	11	4.98%	11	
Entergy Texas	\$	56.98	15	\$	71.70	18	\$	14.72	20	25.83%	21	2.59%	21	
Mid American Energy	\$	60.46	13	\$	69.82	20	\$	9.36	21	15.48%	23	1.61%	23	
Ottertail Power	\$	48.93	19	\$	56.59	21	\$	7.66	22	15.66%	22	1.84%	22	
Minnesota Power	\$	27.76	23	\$	35.17	23	\$	7.40	23	26.67%	19	2.66%	19	
Average	\$	62.86		\$	95.54		\$	32.68		53.17%		4.77%		
High	\$	109.53		\$	139.55		\$	71.92		106.36%		8.38%		
Low	\$	27.76		\$	35.17		\$	7.40		15.48%		1.61%		
Westar Vs. Average	\$	(10.48)		\$	(0.66)		\$	9.82		27.96%		2.06%		
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	5.94		\$	11.96		\$	6.02		3.08%		0.32%		













Exhibit 37Change in Total Retail Sales MWhs (Sorted by % Change in Total Retail MWhs)													
					Change in		% Change in						
			2017 Total		Total Retail		Total Retail		Retail Sales				
	2008 Total Retail		Retail Sales		Sales MWhs		MWhs (2017-		CAGR 2008-				
	Sales MWhs	Ranking	MWhs	Ranking	(2017-2008)	Ranking	2008)	Ranking	2017	Ranking			
Mid American Energy	20,928,957	6	24,561,979	5	3,633,022	1	17.36%	2	1.79%	2			
Entergy Texas	15,533,487	12	18,058,445	9	2,524,958	2	16.25%	3	1.69%	3			
Southwestern Public Service	18,193,871	8	19,305,301	7	1,111,430	3	6.11%	7	0.56%	11			
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	25,406,180	4	26,277,891	4	871,711	4	3.43%	10	0.38%	13			
El Paso Electric	7,034,354	17	7,843,959	16	809,605	5	11.51%	5	1.22%	5			
MDU Resources Group	2,663,452	20	3,306,470	20	643,018	6	24.14%	1	2.43%	1			
Ottertail Power	4,244,377	19	4,814,984	18	570,607	7	13.44%	4	1.59%	4			
Northwestern Corporation	7,329,632	16	7,705,578	17	375,946	8	5.13%	9	0.56%	12			
Public Service Co. of Colorado	28,271,321	3	28,628,812	3	357,491	9	1.26%	12	0.61%	9			
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	17,753,458	9	18,026,293	10	272,835	10	1.54%	11	0.77%	8			
Black Hills Colorado Electric	1,745,915	21	1,901,235	21	155,320	11	8.90%	6	1.07%	6			
Black Hills Power	1,672,933	22	1,759,765	22	86,832	12	5.19%	8	0.56%	10			
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	170,214	23	168,116	23	(2,098)	13	-1.23%	15	-0.14%	16			
Southwestern Electric Power	17,171,790	10	17,147,210	11	(24,580)	14	-0.14%	13	0.80%	7			
Minnesota Power	9,138,389	14	8,997,352	14	(141,037)	15	-1.54%	16	-0.17%	17			
Entergy Arkansas	21,037,902	5	20,888,456	6	(149,446)	16	-0.71%	14	-0.08%	15			
Empire District	4,771,977	18	4,515,535	19	(256,442)	17	-5.37%	19	-0.61%	19			
Westar Energy	19,714,477	7	19,293,184	8	(421,293)	18	-2.14%	17	0.28%	14			
Kansas City Power and Light	15,258,512	13	14,534,482	12	(724,030)	19	-4.75%	18	-0.54%	18			
KCPL GMO	9,057,067	15	7,931,919	15	(1,125,148)	20	-12.42%	22	-1.46%	23			
Interstate Power and Light	15,961,349	11	14,393,847	13	(1,567,502)	21	-9.82%	21	-1.14%	21			
Northern States Power	36,205,989	2	34,065,667	1	(2,140,322)	22	-5.91%	20	-0.67%	20			
Union Electric	37,980,626	1	31,597,238	2	(6,383,388)	23	-16.81%	23	-1.30%	22			
Average	14,662,880		14,596,683		(66,196)		2.32%		0.36%				
High	37,980,626		34,065,667		3,633,022		24.14%		2.43%				
Low	170,214		168,116		(6,383,388)		-16.81%		-1.46%				
Westar Vs. Average	5,051,597		4,696,501		(355,097)		-4.46%		-0.08%				
KCP&LVs. Average	595,632		(62,201)		(657,834)		-7.07%		-0.89%				



Exhibit 39C	hange in Re	esiden	tial Retail	Sales I	<b>NWhs</b> (Sort	ed by Inc	rease in Reside	ential Ret	tail MWhs)	
									2017	
					Change in				Residential	
		Ranking	2017	Ranking	Residential	Ranking	Residential	Ranking	Sales as % of	
	2008 Residential	(High to	Residential	(High to	MWhs (2017-	(High to	MWhs CAGR	(High to	Total Retail	
	MWhs	Low)	MWhs	Low)	2008)	Low)	2008-2017	Low)	Sales	Ranking
El Paso Electric	2,227,838	16	2,823,260	16	595,422	1	2.67%	1	35.99%	6
Entergy Texas	5,244,889	11	5,716,452	10	471,563	2	0.96%	4	31.66%	16
Northwestern Corporation	2,797,544	15	3,084,779	15	287,235	4	1.09%	3	40.03%	3
Southwestern Electric Power	5,693,880	9	5,902,979	9	209,099	5	0.40%	5	34.43%	10
MDU Resources Group	945,501	20	1,153,484	19	207,983	6	2.23%	2	34.89%	9
Public Service Co. of Coloado	8,905,338	4	9,107,102	3	201,764	7	0.25%	8	31.81%	15
Mid Amercian Energy	6,048,254	7	6,207,289	6	159,035	8	0.29%	7	25.27%	20
Black Hills Colorado Electric	589,524	21	607,593	21	18,069	9	0.38%	6	31.96%	13
Black Hills Power	524,411	22	526,730	22	2,319	10	0.05%	9	29.93%	17
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	79,124	23	77,115	23	(2,009)	11	-0.29%	13	45.87%	1
Ottertail Power	1,296,779	18	1,243,194	18	(53,585)	12	-0.53%	16	25.82%	19
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	5,996,759	8	5,943,163	8	(53,596)	13	-0.10%	10	32.97%	12
Minnesota Power	1,079,837	19	1,010,955	20	(68,882)	14	-0.73%	19	11.24%	23
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	8,962,158	3	8,823,492	4	(138,666)	15	-0.17%	11	33.58%	11
Southwestern Public Service	3,505,586	14	3,355,918	14	(149,668)	16	-0.48%	15	17.38%	22
Northern States Power	10,098,859	2	9,899,976	2	(198,883)	17	-0.22%	12	29.06%	18
Empire District	1,952,869	17	1,745,673	17	(207,196)	18	-1.24%	21	38.66%	5
Kansas City Power and Light	5,412,990	10	5,181,975	11	(231,015)	19	-0.48%	14	35.65%	7
Westar Energy	6,493,776	6	6,163,262	7	(330,514)	20	-0.58%	18	31.95%	14
Entergy Arkansas	7,678,130	5	7,298,416	5	(379,714)	21	-0.56%	17	34.94%	8
KCPL GMO	3,841,297	13	3,382,264	13	(459,033)	22	-1.40%	22	42.64%	2
Interestate Power and Light	4,218,254	12	3,507,789	12	(710,465)	23	-2.03%	23	24.37%	21
Union Electric	13,903,713	1	12,643,985	1	(1,259,728)	24	-1.05%	20	40.02%	4
Average	4,673,796		4,582,906		(90,890)		-0.07%		32.18%	
High	13,903,713		12,643,985		595,422		2.67%		45.87%	
Low	79,124		77,115		(1,259,728)		-2.03%		11.24%	
Westar Vs. Average	1,819,980		1,580,356		(239,624)		-0.51%		-0.23%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	739,194		599,069		(140,125)		-0.42%		3.47%	



Exhibit 41Ch	ange in Co	mmer	cial Retail	Sales	<b>NWhs</b> (Sort	ed by Inc	rease in Comm	nercial Re	etail MWhs)	
									2017	
					Change in				Commercial	
	2008		2017		Commercial		Commercial		Sales as % of	
	Commercial		Commercial		MWhs (2017-		MWhs CAGR		Total Retail	
	MWhs	Ranking	MWhs	Ranking	2008)	Ranking	2008-2017	Ranking	Sales	Ranking
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	6,471,249	6	7,592,586	4	1,121,337	1	1.79%	2	28.89%	15
Entergy Texas	4,091,845	12	4,547,744	11	455,899	2	1.18%	4	25.18%	20
MDU Resources Group	1,149,921	20	1,513,068	19	363,147	3	3.10%	1	45.76%	3
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	4,890,418	9	5,175,227	9	284,809	4	0.63%	7	28.71%	16
Interstate Power and Light	3,910,654	13	4,114,282	12	203,628	5	0.57%	8	28.58%	17
El Paso Electric	2,255,585	16	2,410,710	16	155,125	6	0.74%	6	30.73%	14
Northwestern Corporation	3,733,620	14	3,877,468	13	143,848	7	0.42%	9	50.32%	2
Black Hills Colorado Electric	666,563	22	741,439	22	74,876	8	1.34%	3	39.00%	9
Black Hills Power	699,733	21	769,463	21	69,730	9	1.06%	5	43.73%	7
Westar Energy	7,362,559	5	7,368,239	6	5,680	10	0.01%	10	38.19%	10
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	47,766	23	47,736	23	(30)	11	-0.01%	11	28.39%	18
Minnesota Power	1,240,324	19	1,223,786	20	(16,538)	12	-0.15%	14	13.60%	23
Ottertail Power	1,593,811	18	1,568,284	17	(25,527)	13	-0.20%	16	32.57%	13
Entergy Arkansas	5,875,401	8	5,824,752	8	(50,649)	14	-0.10%	13	27.89%	19
Empire District	1,622,049	17	1,560,479	18	(61,570)	15	-0.43%	20	34.56%	11
Public Service Co. of Colorado	12,863,661	3	12,795,573	3	(68,088)	16	-0.06%	12	44.69%	5
Southwestern Electric Power	5,993,544	7	5,895,676	7	(97,868)	17	-0.18%	15	34.38%	12
Southwestern Public Service	4,866,439	10	4,700,920	10	(165,519)	18	-0.38%	19	24.35%	21
Kansas City Power and Light	7,704,357	4	7,465,807	5	(238,550)	19	-0.35%	18	51.37%	1
KCPL GMO	3,514,219	15	3,228,902	15	(285,317)	20	-0.94%	22	40.71%	8
Union Electric	14,690,267	2	14,371,382	2	(318,885)	21	-0.24%	17	45.48%	4
Mid American Energy	4,195,211	11	3,812,882	14	(382,329)	22	-1.06%	23	15.52%	22
Northern States Power	15,703,207	1	15,104,083	1	(599,124)	23	-0.43%	21	44.34%	6
Average	5,006,191		5,030,891		24,699		0.27%		34.65%	
High	15,703,207		15,104,083		1,121,337		3.10%		51.37%	
Low	47,766		47,736		(599,124)		-1.06%		13.60%	
Westar Vs. Average	2,356,368		2,337,348		(19,019)		-0.27%		3.54%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	2,698,166		2,434,916		(263,249)		-0.62%		16.72%	



Exhibit 43-0	Change in I	ndusti	rial Retail S	ales N	/Whs (Sorte	d by Incr	ease in Industr	ial Retail	MWhs)	
					Change in				2017 Industrial	
					Industrial		Industrial		Sales as % of	
	2008 Industrial		2017 Industrial		MWHs (2017-		MWHs CAGR		Iotal Retail	
	MWHs	Ranking	MWHs	Ranking	2008)	Ranking	2008-2017	Ranking	Sales	Ranking
Mid American Energy	9,111,341	4	12,964,048	1	3,852,707	1	4.00%	2	52.78%	3
Entergy Texas	5,948,393	10	7,520,955	5	1,572,562	2	2.64%	3	41.65%	5
Southwestern Public Service	9,267,225	2	10,721,063	2	1,453,838	3	1.63%	4	55.53%	2
Ottertail Power	1,285,151	16	1,938,423	14	653,272	4	5.27%	1	40.26%	6
Entergy Arkansas	7,211,475	6	7,528,301	4	316,826	5	0.48%	6	36.04%	7
Public Service Co. of Colorado	6,273,297	9	6,449,173	9	175,876	6	0.31%	8	22.53%	17
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	5,551,168	12	5,668,890	11	117,722	7	0.23%	9	31.45%	8
MDU Resources Group	482,412	20	539,877	20	57,465	8	1.26%	5	16.33%	18
Black Hills Power	414,421	22	430,300	22	15,879	9	0.42%	7	24.45%	14
Empire District	1,073,250	18	1,080,150	17	6,900	10	0.07%	10	23.92%	15
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	42,306	23	42,378	23	72	11	0.02%	11	25.21%	13
Black Hills Colorado Electric	452,585	21	433,761	21	(18,824)	12	-0.53%	16	22.81%	16
Minnesota Power	6,737,333	8	6,697,793	8	(39,540)	13	-0.07%	12	74.44%	1
Northwestern Corporation	708,904	19	659,409	19	(49,495)	14	-0.80%	18	8.56%	23
El Paso Electric	1,102,277	17	1,045,319	18	(56,958)	15	-0.59%	17	13.33%	21
Westar Energy	5,768,670	11	5,688,830	10	(79,840)	16	-0.15%	13	29.49%	10
Southwestern Electric Power	5,401,921	13	5,267,845	12	(134,076)	17	-0.28%	14	30.72%	9
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	6,966,677	7	6,777,520	6	(189,157)	18	-0.31%	15	25.79%	12
Kansas City Power and Light	2,061,106	14	1,814,780	15	(246,326)	19	-1.40%	19	12.49%	22
KCPL GMO	1,645,420	15	1,289,913	16	(355,507)	20	-2.67%	22	16.26%	19
Interstate Power and Light	7,742,187	5	6,733,293	7	(1,008,894)	21	-1.54%	21	46.78%	4
Northern States Power	10,143,576	1	8,829,073	3	(1,314,503)	22	-1.53%	20	25.92%	11
Union Electric	9,255,510	3	4,464,551	13	(4,790,959)	23	-7.78%	23	14.13%	20
Average	4,549,852		4,547,202		(2,650)		-0.06%		30.04%	
High	10,143,576		12,964,048		3,852,707		5.27%		74.44%	
Low	42,306		42,378		(4,790,959)		-7.78%		8.56%	
	1 242 252		4 4 4 4 6 6 6						0 5534	
Westar Vs. Average	1,218,818		1,141,628		(77,190)		-0.10%		-0.55%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	(2,488,746)		(2,732,422)		(243,676)		-1.35%		-17.55%	



	2008 Number of Customers	Ranking	2017 Number of Customers	Ranking	2017-2008 Number of Customers	Ranking	Customers CAGR 2008- 2017	Ranking
MDU Resources Group	121.124	20	142.901	19	21.777	12	1.85%	1
El Paso Electric	361,063	16	415,629	14	54,566	5	1.58%	2
Southwestern Electric Power	469,278	11	534,632	10	65,354	4	1.46%	3
Entergy Texas	396,887	14	446,771	12	49,884	6	1.32%	4
Northwestern Corporation	391,049	15	431,099	13	40,050	8	1.09%	5
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	766,935	4	838,252	4	71,317	3	0.99%	6
Black Hills Power	65,989	22	72,026	22	6,037	15	0.98%	7
Northern States Power	1,344,989	2	1,466,398	1	121,409	1	0.96%	8
Public Service Co. of Colorado	1,358,070	1	1,459,191	2	101,121	2	0.80%	9
Mid American Energy	720,692	5	770,335	5	49,643	7	0.74%	10
Kansas City Power and Light	509,317	10	539,416	9	30,099	9	0.64%	11
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	13,216	23	13,898	23	682	20	0.56%	12
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	525,804	9	550,023	8	24,219	11	0.50%	13
Westar Energy	677,884	7	706,505	7	28,621	10	0.46%	14
Minnesota Power	141,555	18	146,370	18	4,815	16	0.37%	15
Black Hills Colorado Electric	93,541	21	96,126	21	2,585	19	0.34%	16
Entergy Arkansas	688,984	6	708,864	6	19,880	13	0.32%	17
Empire District	167,669	17	171,839	17	4,170	17	0.27%	18
Ottertail Power	129,267	19	131,852	20	2,585	18	0.25%	19
Union Electric	1,196,124	3	1,215,799	3	19,675	14	0.18%	20
Southwestern Public Service	400,064	13	389,818	15	(10,246)	21	-0.29%	21
Interstate Power and Light	526,612	8	489,611	11	(37,001)	22	-0.81%	22
KCPL GMO	403,931	12	323,476	16	(80,455)	23	-2.44%	23
Average	498,698		524,384		25,686		0.53%	
High	1,358,070		1,466,398		121,409		1.85%	
Low	13,216		13,898		(80,455)		-2.44%	
Westar Vs. Average	179,186		182,121		2,935		-0.07%	
KCP&LVs. Average	10.619		15.032		4.413		0.11%	







Exhibit 49Cus	stome	er and	A&G	Expense Pe	er MW	/h	(Sorted by Cl	nange in	A&G Expense F	Per MWh	2017-2008)	
									% Change in		CAGR Change in A&G	
	2008	3 A&G	Ranking	2017 A&G	Ranking	20	17-2008 A&G	Ranking	A&G Expense	Ranking	Expense Per	Ranking
	Exper	nse per	(High to	Expense per	(High to	E	xpense per	(High to	Per MWh 2017-	(High to	MWh	(High to
	M	Wh	Low)	MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)	2008	Low)	2017/2008	Low)
Empire District	\$	6.84	13	\$ 13.57	3	\$	6.74	1	98.53%	1	7.92%	1
Ottertail Power	\$	8.16	6	\$ 13.53	4	\$	5.37	2	65.76%	4	6.52%	4
KCPL GMO	\$	11.34	2	\$ 16.64	1	\$	5.29	3	46.66%	8	4.35%	8
Northwestern Corporation	\$	6.41	14	\$ 11.46	7	\$	5.05	4	78.71%	2	6.66%	2
Entergy Arkansas	\$	5.57	17	\$ 9.52	12	\$	3.94	5	70.71%	3	6.12%	3
Interstate Power and Light	\$	7.31	10	\$ 10.62	8	\$	3.31	6	45.37%	9	4.24%	9
Northern States Power	\$	7.41	9	\$ 10.61	9	\$	3.20	7	43.13%	10	4.06%	10
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	5.85	16	\$ 8.93	14	\$	3.07	8	52.53%	6	4.80%	6
El Paso Electric	\$	9.85	4	\$ 12.61	5	\$	2.76	9	28.06%	13	2.79%	13
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	5.17	18	\$ 7.70	16	\$	2.53	10	48.91%	7	4.52%	7
Black Hills Power	\$	7.47	8	\$ 9.74	11	\$	2.28	11	30.52%	12	3.00%	12
Southwestern Public Service	\$	3.25	23	\$ 5.26	22	\$	2.01	12	62.00%	5	5.51%	5
Union Electric	\$	6.92	12	\$ 8.76	15	\$	1.84	13	26.61%	14	2.66%	14
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	10.33	3	\$ 12.17	6	\$	1.84	14	17.78%	18	2.07%	18
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	8.76	5	\$ 10.35	10	\$	1.59	15	18.20%	16	1.87%	16
Westar Energy	\$	6.16	15	\$ 7.67	17	\$	1.51	16	24.53%	15	2.47%	15
Mid American Energy	\$	4.44	21	\$ 5.89	19	\$	1.45	17	32.57%	11	3.18%	11
MDU Resources Group	\$	8.15	7	\$ 9.44	13	\$	1.29	18	15.87%	19	1.65%	19
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	12.70	1	\$ 13.66	2	\$	0.96	19	7.53%	21	0.81%	21
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	4.72	20	\$ 5.57	20	\$	0.85	20	17.97%	17	1.85%	17
Entergy Texas	\$	4.75	19	\$ 5.29	21	\$	0.54	21	11.28%	20	1.20%	20
Minnesota Power	\$	7.12	11	\$ 7.19	18	\$	0.08	22	1.09%	22	0.12%	22
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	3.93	22	\$ 3.96	23	\$	0.03	23	0.64%	23	0.07%	23
Average	\$	7.07		\$ 9.57		\$	2.50		36.74%		3.41%	
High	\$	12.70		\$ 16.64		\$	6.74		98.53%		7.92%	
Low	\$	3.25		\$ 3.96		\$	0.03		0.64%		0.07%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	(0.91)		\$ (1.90)		\$	(0.99)		-12.21%		-0.94%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	1.69		\$ 0.78		\$	(0.91)		-18.54%		-1.54%	







Exhibit 53Total	Sala	ries an	d Wag	ges Per MW	/h (Sorte	ed k	by Change in	Total Sal	aries and Wag	es Per M	Wh 2017-2008)	
	200 and V	2008 Salaries and Wages Per MWh		2017 Salaries and Wages Per	Ranking (High to	s	2017-2008 alaries and Wages Per	Ranking (High to	% Change in Salaries and Wages Per MWh 2017-	Ranking (High to	CAGR Change in Salaries and Wages Per MWh	Ranking (High to
			LOW)		LOW)			LOW)	2008	LOW)	2017/2008	LOW)
Empire District	Ś	8.60	9	\$ 21.85	1	Ś	13.25	1	154.00%	1	10.91%	1
Ottertail Power	\$	11.97	4	\$ 18.70	2	\$	6.73	2	56.18%	5	5.73%	4
Northwestern Corporation	\$	6.30	14	\$ 11.77	8	\$	5.47	3	86.79%	2	7.19%	2
Northern States Power	\$	11.20	5	\$ 14.80	5	\$	3.60	4	32.18%	8	3.15%	8
El Paso Electric	\$	6.10	15	\$ 9.70	11	\$	3.60	5	58.93%	4	5.28%	5
Southwestern Public Service	\$	3.78	21	\$ 6.85	19	\$	3.07	6	81.16%	3	6.83%	3
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	5.44	18	\$ 8.39	14	\$	2.95	7	54.28%	6	4.94%	6
Union Electric	\$	9.06	8	\$ 11.76	9	\$	2.70	8	29.80%	9	2.94%	9
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	5.56	17	\$ 8.03	16	\$	2.48	9	44.55%	7	4.18%	7
Black Hills Power	\$	6.96	12	\$ 8.77	13	\$	1.81	10	25.99%	10	2.60%	10
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	10.31	6	\$ 11.84	7	\$	1.52	11	14.79%	14	1.54%	15
Interstate Power and Light	\$	8.00	11	\$ 9.51	12	\$	1.51	12	18.83%	13	1.93%	13
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	9.99	7	\$ 11.46	10	\$	1.47	13	14.72%	15	1.73%	14
Westar Energy	\$	6.59	13	\$ 7.92	17	\$	1.33	14	20.18%	12	2.06%	12
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	4.42	20	\$ 5.31	21	\$	0.89	15	20.24%	11	2.07%	11
Mid American Energy	\$	6.08	16	\$ 6.92	18	\$	0.84	16	13.86%	17	1.45%	17
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	4.92	19	\$ 5.62	20	\$	0.70	17	14.21%	16	1.49%	16
Entergy Arkansas	\$	3.67	22	\$ 3.93	22	\$	0.26	18	7.14%	18	0.77%	18
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	15.92	2	\$ 16.02	4	\$	0.10	19	0.61%	19	0.07%	19
MDU Resources Group	\$	16.28	1	\$ 16.35	3	\$	0.07	20	0.42%	20	0.05%	20
Minnesota Power	\$	8.10	10	\$ 8.05	15	\$	(0.05)	21	-0.65%	21	-0.07%	21
Entergy Texas	\$	3.56	23	\$ 3.38	23	\$	(0.18)	22	-4.92%	23	-0.56%	23
KCPL GMO	\$	12.35	3	\$ 11.92	6	\$	(0.43)	23	-3.49%	22	-0.39%	22
Average	\$	8.05		\$ 10.38		\$	2.33		32.16%		2.86%	
High	\$	16.28		\$ 21.85		\$	13.25		154.00%		10.91%	
Low	\$	3.56		\$ 3.38		\$	(0.43)		-4.92%		-0.56%	
Westar Vs. Average	Ś	(1.46)		\$ (2.46)		Ś	(1.00)		-11,98%		-0.80%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	2.26		\$ 1.45		\$	(0.81)		-17.37%		-1.32%	





Exhibit 56Di	istrik	oution	Expen	se l	Per MW	h (Sorte	d b	y Change in I	Distributi	on Expense Pe	r MWh 20	017-2008)	
										% Change in		CAGR Change	
		2008			2017			2017-2008		Distribution		in Distribution	
	Dist	tribution	Ranking	Di	stribution	Ranking	0	Distribution	Ranking	Expense Per	Ranking	Expense Per	Ranking
	Exp	ense Per	(High to	Ex	pense Per	(High to	E	Expense Per	(High to	MWh 2017-	(High to	MWh	(High to
		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)		MWh	Low)	2008	Low)	2017/2008	Low)
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	0.14	23	\$	5.12	4	\$	4.98	1	3479.95%	1	48.82%	1
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	3.27	7	\$	7.62	2	\$	4.35	2	133.24%	3	11.17%	2
Black Hills Power	\$	1.66	18	\$	4.23	7	\$	2.58	3	155.33%	2	10.98%	3
Empire District	\$	3.35	6	\$	5.14	3	\$	1.79	4	53.39%	5	4.87%	6
Northwestern Corporation	\$	3.37	5	\$	5.00	5	\$	1.63	5	48.30%	7	4.48%	7
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	2.12	14	\$	3.44	10	\$	1.32	6	62.28%	4	5.53%	4
Ottertail Power	\$	2.31	13	\$	3.52	9	\$	1.21	7	52.46%	6	5.41%	5
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	1.90	16	\$	2.68	16	\$	0.78	8	41.17%	9	3.91%	9
KCPL GMO	\$	3.45	4	\$	4.18	8	\$	0.73	9	21.16%	14	2.16%	14
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	2.55	11	\$	3.27	12	\$	0.72	10	28.35%	10	2.81%	10
MDU Resources Group	\$	3.91	2	\$	4.59	6	\$	0.68	11	17.31%	15	1.79%	15
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	2.11	15	\$	2.63	17	\$	0.52	12	24.70%	12	2.48%	12
Interstate Power and Light	\$	1.55	20	\$	1.98	20	\$	0.42	13	27.37%	11	2.72%	11
Southwestern Public Service	\$	0.94	22	\$	1.33	23	\$	0.39	14	42.04%	8	3.98%	8
Entergy Texas	\$	1.52	21	\$	1.86	21	\$	0.34	15	22.27%	13	2.26%	13
Union Electric	\$	3.00	9	\$	3.31	11	\$	0.31	16	10.34%	17	1.10%	17
El Paso Electric	\$	1.75	17	\$	2.04	19	\$	0.28	17	16.24%	16	1.69%	16
Northern States Power	\$	2.48	12	\$	2.73	14	\$	0.25	18	9.94%	18	1.06%	18
Westar Energy	\$	2.61	10	\$	2.71	15	\$	0.10	19	3.73%	20	0.41%	20
Minnesota Power	\$	1.65	19	\$	1.74	22	\$	0.09	20	5.62%	19	0.61%	19
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	8.59	1	\$	8.15	1	\$	(0.44)	21	-5.15%	21	-0.59%	21
Mid American Energy	\$	3.10	8	\$	2.63	18	\$	(0.47)	22	-15.27%	22	-1.82%	22
Entergy Arkansas	\$	3.65	3	\$	2.92	13	\$	(0.74)	23	-20.21%	23	-2.48%	23
Average	\$	2.65		\$	3.60		\$	0.95		183.24%		4.93%	
High	\$	8.59		\$	8.15		\$	4.98		3479.95%		48.82%	
Low	\$	0.14		\$	1.33		\$	(0.74)		-20.21%		-2.48%	
								. ,					
Westar Vs. Average	\$	(0.04)		\$	(0.89)		\$	(0.85)		-179.51%		-4.52%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	(0.54)		\$	(0.97)		\$	(0.43)		-158.54%		-2.44%	







Exhibit 60Tra	nsn	nission I	Expen	se Per MW	h (Sorte	d b	y Change in <sup>-</sup>	Transmis	sion Expense P	er MWh	2017-2008)	
	2008 Transmission Expense Per MWh		Ranking (High to Low)	2017 Transmission Expense Per MWh	Ranking (High to Low)	Ti	2017-2008 ransmission xpense Per MWh	Ranking (High to Low)	% Change in Transmission Expense Per MWh 2017- 2008	Ranking (High to Low)	CAGR Change in Transmission Expense Per MWh 2017/2008	Ranking (High to Low)
Interstate Power and Light	\$	5.16	1	\$ 18.01	1	\$	12.84	1	248.70%	9	14.89%	9
MDU Resources Group	\$	2.55	7	\$ 11.01	2	\$	8.47	2	332.09%	4	17.66%	5
Black Hills Power	\$	3.27	6	\$ 9.15	3	\$	5.88	3	179.97%	12	12.12%	12
Northern States Power	\$	3.55	4	\$ 9.07	4	\$	5.52	4	155.64%	13	10.99%	13
Southwestern Public Service	\$	1.56	11	\$ 7.06	7	\$	5.50	5	352.64%	3	18.27%	4
Public Service Co. of Oklahoma	\$	1.90	9	\$ 7.23	6	\$	5.34	6	281.10%	7	16.03%	7
Westar Energy	\$	3.50	5	\$ 8.67	5	\$	5.17	7	147.77%	14	10.61%	14
Oklahoma Gas and Electric	\$	0.98	20	\$ 6.01	10	\$	5.02	8	510.49%	1	22.26%	1
Ottertail Power	\$	1.45	13	\$ 6.18	9	\$	4.73	9	326.91%	5	19.89%	2
Minnesota Power	\$	1.63	10	\$ 6.28	8	\$	4.65	10	285.74%	6	16.18%	6
Empire District	\$	1.07	18	\$ 5.17	12	\$	4.10	11	382.95%	2	19.12%	3
Southwestern Electric Power	\$	1.27	15	\$ 4.56	14	\$	3.29	12	258.81%	8	15.25%	8
Kansas City Power and Light	\$	1.21	16	\$ 4.03	15	\$	2.81	13	231.61%	10	14.25%	10
Northwestern Corporation	\$	2.38	8	\$ 4.87	13	\$	2.49	14	104.38%	15	8.27%	15
KCPL GMO	\$	3.55	3	\$ 5.65	11	\$	2.10	15	59.06%	18	5.29%	18
Union Electric	\$	0.79	21	\$ 2.28	18	\$	1.49	16	189.38%	11	12.53%	11
Mid American Energy	\$	1.30	14	\$ 2.29	17	\$	0.99	17	76.52%	17	6.52%	17
Entergy Texas	\$	0.74	22	\$ 1.36	22	\$	0.62	18	84.42%	16	7.04%	16
Public Service Co. of Colorado	\$	1.02	19	\$ 1.50	20	\$	0.48	19	47.02%	19	4.38%	19
El Paso Electric	\$	1.51	12	\$ 1.93	19	\$	0.42	20	27.97%	22	2.78%	22
Entergy Arkansas	\$	1.10	17	\$ 1.44	21	\$	0.34	21	30.65%	21	3.02%	21
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric	\$	0.62	23	\$ 0.89	23	\$	0.27	22	43.82%	20	4.12%	20
Black Hills Colorado Electric	\$	4.56	2	\$ 3.18	16	\$	(1.38)	23	-30.35%	23	-4.42%	23
Average	Ś	2.03		\$ 5.56		Ś	3.53		188.14%		11.18%	
High	\$	5.16		\$ 18.01		Ś	12.84		510.49%		22.26%	
Low	\$	0.62		\$ 0.89		\$	(1.38)		-30.35%		-4.42%	
Westar Vs. Average	\$	1.47		\$ 3.11		\$	1.64		-40.37%		-0.57%	
KCP&L Vs. Average	\$	(0.81)		\$ (1.53)		\$	(0.71)		43.46%		3.07%	


Case Revenue Rec	luirements	vesta
Environmental Cost Recovery Rider	Approved Increase (Decrease	1
08-WSEE-849-TAR	\$ 22.010	0.509
09-WSEE-737-TAR	\$ 32,453	3,180
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2010)	\$ 13,836	5,675
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2011)	\$ 10,439	,281
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2012)	\$ 19,459	9,267
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2013)	\$ 27,475	5,678
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2014)	\$ 11,025	5,963
09-WSEE-737-TAR (2015)	\$ 10,819	9,176
Total ECRR	\$ 147,519	9,730
Environmental Portion of General Rate Cases		
12-WSEE-112-RTS	\$ 987	,892
13-WSEE-629-RTS	\$ 40,071	,831
15-WSEE-115-RTS	\$ 54,219	,360
17-WSEE-147-RTS (LaCygne)	\$ 6,983	,387
17-WSEE-147-RTS (ECRR)	\$ 2,997	,048
Total Base Rate Cases	\$ 105,259	,518
Total ECRR and General Rate Cases	\$ 252.779	247
	+	
Support for Above Rate Case Amounts		
12-WSEE-112-RTS		
Increase in RB	\$ 8,315	,732
* Pretax ROR of 11.8798% Equals:	\$ 987	,892
13-WSEE-629-RTS		
Increase in RB	\$ 326,257	,895
* Pretax ROR of 11.8798% Equals:	\$ 38,758	, 785
Plus Increase in Depreciation Expense	\$ 1,313	,046
Equals Total Increase in Revenue Requirement	\$ 40,071	,831
15-WSEE-115-RTS		
Increase in RB	\$ 230,827	,290
* Pretax ROR of 10.9263% Equals:	\$ 25,220	,882
Plus Increase in Depreciation Expense	\$ 27,920	,280
Plus Annual Amortization of AAO on LaCygne	\$ 1,078	,198
Equals Total Increase in Revenue Requirement	\$ 54,219	,360
17-WSEE-147-RTS (LaCygne)		
Increase in RB	\$ 47,050	,033
* Pretax ROR of 10.9263% Equals:	\$ 5,140	,828
Plus Increase in Depreciation Expense	\$ 1,842	,559
Equals Total Increase in Revenue Requirement	\$ 6,983	,387
17-WSEE-147-RTS (ECRR ROIT III)	¢ 22.590	427
* Drotov DOD of 10 0262% Equals	\$ 22,585	190
Pretax KUK OF 10.9263% Equals:	> 2,468	0,109
Fills Increase in Depreciation EXPENSE	> 528	0/0
Equals Total increase in Revenue Requirement	ې 2,997	,048
Total Environmental Increase from Base Rates	\$ 105,259	<mark>,518</mark>

Exhibit 63Analysis of Environmental Impacts on KCPL General Rate Case Revenue Requirements													
							•					•	
			G	Gross Plant	Accu	mulated Dep.	ADIT	Pre-Tax ROR	Re	eturn on RB	Depreciation Rate	Depreciation Expense	Total Revenue Requiremen
07-KCPE-905-RTS		\$	19,462,535				11.99%	\$	2,333,558	4.30%	\$ 836,889	\$ 3,170,44	
09-KCPE-246-RTS		\$	178,017,515				12.52%	\$	22,287,793	4.50%	\$ 8,010,788	\$ 30,298,58	
10-KCPE-415-RTS		\$	151,169,811				11.64%	\$	17,603,573	2.12%	\$ 3,204,800	\$ 20,808,37	
12-KCPE-764-RTS		\$	79,959,891				11.24%	\$	8,990,290	2.63%	\$ 196,965	\$ 9,187,25	
14-KCPE-272-RTS		\$	123,886,612	\$	532,111	\$ 7,830,423	11.24%	\$	12,988,950	2.44%	\$ 428,217	\$ 13,417,16	
15-KCPE-116-RTS		\$	80,223,803	\$	6,082,824	\$-	10.53%	\$	7,803,560	2.96%	\$ 8,189,845	\$ 15,993,40	
17-KCPE-201-RTS		RTS	\$	(15,455,244)	\$	-	\$-	10.53%	\$	(1,626,711)		\$ (1,722,742)	\$ (3,349,45
												Total	\$ 89,525,77
Notes:													
07-905: Little to no ADIT or Accumulated Depreciation reflected in this Revenue Requirement calculation due to in-service date of LaCygne 1 SCR being very close to Audit Cut Off Date of September 30, 2017 (Actual in Service Date of LaCygne 1 SCR. May 2017)Pre-Tax ROR Based on 8.3% ROR for AFUDC in S&A.													
09-246: Little to No ADIT or Accumulated Depreciation due to in-service date of latan 1 AQCS being very close to Rates Effective Date of July 4, 2009. S&A identified Rate Base for latan 1 of \$178.017 million, Pre-Tax ROR Based on Staff's Filed Position													
10-415: Little to No ADIT or Accumulated Depreciation due to in-service date of latan 2 ACQS being very close to Rates Effective Date of December 1, 2010. Pretax ROR based on Commission Order.													
12-764: No Depreciation Expense on LaCygne Environmental (Only CWIP in this Case)Depreciation Expense on Montrose Low Nox Burners. Pretax ROR based on Commission Order.													
14-272: Depreciation Expense in 14-272 Docket based on Actual Calculated Depreciation Expense in the Docket per: Andria Jackson's Testimony. Most of LaCvone was CWIP													
15-116: Accumulated Depreciation balance for LaCygne Environmental taken from Projected Accumulated Depreciation Balances per Staff and Company workpapers. No ADIT because in service date was timed to coincide with rates effective. Pre-Tax ROR taken from Commission Order.													

17-201: Reduction in Gross Plant reflects changes in Accumulated Dep. and ADIT, Depreciation Expense from Direct Staff Exhibits in Docket No. 17-KCPE-201-RTS.

Line No. Notes: 1 2	Plant in Service Accumulated Depreciation	08-1041*											
No.         Notes:           1         2           2         2	Plant in Service Accumulated Depreciation	08-1041*											
1 2 2	Plant in Service       Accumulated Depreciation	08-1041*							Change from	% of Total			
1 2 2	Plant in Service           Accumulated Depreciation	1010 001 100	09-925**	12-112***	13-329	15-115	17-147	18-328	2007-2018	Revenue In			
2	Accumulated Depreciation	6,048,334,199	6,136,163,750	6,854,742,909	7,609,040,220	9,098,906,194	9,271,198,489	10,332,199,008					
		(2,535,308,425)	(2,535,308,424)	(2,843,658,525)	(2,8/8,121,256)	(3,161,582,155)	(3,205,861,636)	(3,344,584,493)					
3 Line 1	Working Capital	(354,682,824)	(354,682,825)	(611,812,305)	(639,130,318)	(8/4,519,127)	(963,609,684)	(1,234,609,303)					
4 (Line 2 + 2	3) Total Rate Base	3,158,342,950	3,246,172,501	3,399,272,079	4,091,788,646	5,062,804,912	5,101,727,169	5,753,005,212					
5	Requested Rate of Return	8.6874%	8.4949%	8.6809%	8.4049%	7.9929%	7.6454%	7.3340%					
5 Line 4*	Required Operating Income (Return on Rate Base)	274,377,506	275,759,108	295,087,410	343,910,744	404,664,934	390,047,449	421,925,402	147,547,896	33.63%			
										100.000			
	Total Revenue	1,538,993,835	1,565,480,694	1,778,166,895	1,875,188,971	2,029,474,448	2,218,749,937	2,027,992,297	438,686,569	100.00%			
	Production Steam	493,556,276	493,556,276	544,687,055	555,198,469	574,735,105	574,128,611	398,711,429	(94,844,847)	-21.62%			
	Production Nuclear	79,144,117	79,144,118	116,342,758	116,342,758	(97,555,312)	132,307,101	108,890,399	29,746,282	6.78%			
0	Production Other	23,466,996	31,099,460	46,983,327	176,161,268	46,133,336	46,133,336	47,614,300	24,147,304	5.50%			
1	Production Purchased Power	150,777,027	150,777,027	129,177,941	-	212,980,598	212,980,598	218,661,487	67,884,460	15.47%			
2	Transmission	18,913,459	18,913,458	7,836,442	7,836,442	236,103,151	8,863,368	4,426,644	(14,486,815)	-3.30%			
.3	Distribution	103,864,573	103,864,571	106,176,787	88,910,911	99,673,901	99,736,578	90,029,395	(13,835,178)	-3.15%			
4	Customer Accounts	24,264,246	24,264,246	26,257,373	26,515,418	30,225,694	30,196,323	29,582,778	5,318,532	1.21%			
5	Customer Service and Information	2,340,896	2,340,896	3,786,066	3,786,066	3,954,075	3,918,467	3,774,476	1,433,580	0.33%			
6	Sales	48,466	48,466	2,317	2,317	26	26	-	(48,466)	-0.01%			
7	Administrative and General	165,698,233	165,797,900	222,912,288	205,577,023	200,643,556	187,709,130	202,917,479	37,219,246	8.48%			
8	Depreciation & Amortization	195,994,184	220,759,435	184,207,063	182,181,456	280,347,624	271,951,038	373,549,024	177,554,840	40.47%			
9	Taxes Other Than Income Taxes	79,018,602	79,044,232	75,566,225	75,566,225	120,509,309	120,673,329	135,457,939	56,439,337	12.87%			
0	Gains From Dispositions of Allowances	(7,174,215)	(7,174,215)	(459,123)	(459,123)	(665,523)	(665,523)	223,504	7,397,719	1.69%			
1	Income Taxes - Current	11,901,433	(28,606,719)	55,357,494	71,329,002	(174,671,054)	(90,693,441)	9,564,077	(2,337,356)	-0.53%			
22	Provision for Deferred Income Taxes	32,006,355	48,584,155	21,420,573	43,788,497	246,476,873	244,420,037	34,811,198	2,804,843	0.64%			
3	Investment Tax Credit - Net	(2,235,078)	(2,235,077)	(2,266,688)	(2,266,688)	(2,415,660)	(2,415,660)	(2,040,217)	194,861	0.04%			
Sum of 4 Lines 8-2	<sup>3</sup> Total Operating Expenses	1,371,585,570	1,380,178,229	1,537,987,898	1,550,470,041	1,776,475,699	1,839,243,318	1,656,173,912	284,588,342	98.51%			
5 Line 7 - Line 24	Operating Income	167,408,265	185,302,465	240,178,997	324,718,930	252,998,749	379,506,619	371,818,385					
Line 6 Les	<sup>38</sup> Operating Income Needed:	106 969 241	90 456 643	54 908 413	19 191 814	151 666 185	10 540 830	50 107 017					
27	Income Tax Factor	0.6022	0.6042	0.6045	0.6045	0.6045	0.6045	0.7347					
Line 26 28 Line 27	Revenue Requirement Change Request	177,623,377	19,719,270	90,832,776	31,748,245	250,895,260	17,437,270	68,200,650					
20	Revenue Requirement Change Granted	157 198 729	17 116 219	106 700 000	30 687 487	185 095 416	16 366 511	(50 311 893)					
	Revenue Requirement Change Granted	-137,170,749	17,110,219	100,700,000	-30,007,407	100,070,410	10,500,511	(30,311,073)					
0	Net Base Revenue Increase	130,000,000	17,116,219	50,000,000	30,687,487	78,000,000	16,366,511	(66,000,000)					
31	Rebased Riders (Property Tax and ECRR)	27,198,729	-	56,700,000	-	107,095,416	-	15,688,107					
32	Total Base Rate Increase	157,198,729	17,116,219	106,700,000	30,687,487	185,095,416	16,366,511	(50,311,893)					
*N	ote: In the 08-1041 Docket, Westar requested to continue proceeding. Therefore, the \$157.2 million gra tre: The 09-925 Docket was an abbreviated proceeding w	recovering \$27.2 m nted in this proceed hich added to the co	illion of Environm ing is properly cor	ental Revenue Re npared to \$204.8 the 08-1041 Rate	equirement in the I million in requeste	ECRR. Ultimately d additional reven t the cost column	this amount was a ues by Westar.	rebased in this					
***_	**Note: The 09-925 Docket was an abbreviated proceeding, which added to the cost amounts from the 08-1041 Rate Case. As a result, the cost column above supports a requested rate increase of \$149,719,270 in additional revenue, but \$130 million in additional revenue was granted in the 08-1041 Docket. The difference is the \$19.7 million request in this case.												

Exhibit 65KCPL Rate Case Details (All Cost Data Based on Company Filed Amounts)												
Line									<b>J</b>			
No.	Notes:										Change from	% of Total
			07-905	09-246	10-415	12-764	14-272	15-116	17-201	18-480	2007-2018	<b>Revenue Inc.</b>
1		Plant in Service	2,443,802,774	2,699,422,992	3,392,695,693	3,580,662,063	3,541,441,537	4,003,308,479	4,079,488,429	4,586,347,518		
2		Accumulated Depreciation	(1,134,883,564)	(1,211,304,742)	(1,375,952,618)	(1,475,959,584)	(1,453,619,341)	(1,515,104,344)	(1,515,706,054)	(1,764,056,647)		
3		Working Capital	(201,097,827)	(233,969,639)	(221,954,577)	(283,913,099)	(166,792,574)	(400,723,802)	(459,154,279)	(493,272,581)		
4	Line 1 - (Line 2 + 3)	Total Rate Base	1,107,821,383	1,254,148,611	1,794,788,498	1,820,789,380	1,921,029,622	2,087,480,333	2,104,628,096	2,329,018,290		
5		Requested Rate of Return	8.82%	8.75%	9.17%	8.57%	8.01%	7.94%	7.44%	7.38%		
6	Line 4* Line 5	Required Operating Income (Return on Rate Base)	97,750,458	109,712,423	164,538,083	156,063,504	153,786,105	165,812,744	156,548,552	171,963,071	74,212,612	39.75%
7		Total Revenue	30/ 210 /14	126 626 022	501 021 409	516 102 005	540 125 260	5/3 1/9 025	584 516 717	584 842 007	186 715 176	100.00%
10		Steam Bower Constantion	25 161 969	420,020,922	45 111 270	45 292 202	349,133,308	345,146,923	20 149 222	42 500 071	8 420 102	4.510/
10		Nuclear Power Generation	33,101,608	20,721,010	43,111,370	43,283,303	42,945,118	41,518,505	39,140,323	45,590,971	0,429,103	4.31%
11		Other Bower Concration	21,110,524	39,721,019	33,303,305	42,085,471	40,700,439	49,402,506	49,242,505	37,012,862	9,842,338	5.27%
12		Other Power Generation	2,293,882	15,524,410	2,591,385	2,698,214	2,544,554	3,036,593	3,030,186	2,307,025	13,143	0.01%
13		Other Power Supply	3,883,804	3,/50,340	3,030,261	4,293,635	4,187,183	4,888,130	4,888,130	4,653,409	769,605	0.41%
14		Transmission	10,688,133	13,130,165	11,020,243	21,754,585	21,573,933	9,967,982	9,926,037	10,321,267	(366,866)	-0.20%
15		Distribution	20,439,293	23,834,112	21,205,932	22,865,637	22,109,668	26,034,534	24,156,680	24,464,592	4,025,299	2.16%
16		Customer Accounts	11,122,987	10,326,808	11,664,862	12,184,281	11,870,309	12,290,424	11,844,463	13,435,205	2,312,218	1.24%
17		Customer Service and Information	1,569,203	5,488,944	9,578,316	7,736,904	1,123,577	2,016,285	1,598,614	863,818	(705,385)	-0.38%
18		Sales	383,959	461,884	489,031	227,597	218,293	163,634	149,036	249,867	(134,092)	-0.07%
19		Administrative and General	71,628,630	72,128,102	77,177,597	78,677,755	72,143,164	70,395,317	71,106,270	66,822,298	(4,806,332)	-2.57%
20		Depreciation	67,876,849	76,728,909	77,279,987	77,695,499	75,949,571	88,265,694	89,461,230	130,439,716	62,562,867	33.51%
21		Amortization	7,535,184	20,626,074	8,426,235	8,346,888	7,891,760	15,919,597	16,421,478	21,798,762	14,263,578	7.64%
22		Taxes Other Than Income Taxes	32,483,161	33,900,398	36,970,189	39,786,029	38,943,525	43,382,850	45,548,478	52,432,608	19,949,447	10.68%
23		Income Taxes - Current	24,151,822	19,990,909	31,787,825	34,819,987	53,804,520	44,274,876	59,736,489	28,094,123	3,942,301	2.11%
24	Error of	Interest on Customer Deposits - KS	78,796	90,512	20,441	-	-	-	-	-	(78,796)	-0.04%
25	Lines 8-24	Total Operating Expenses	317,068,095	353,424,794	369,858,979	398,455,785	402,671,614	411,356,725	426,257,919	437,086,523	120,018,428	104.03%
26	Line 7 Less Line 25	Operating Income	77,142,319	73,202,128	131,172,519	117,647,210	146,463,754	131,792,200	158,258,798	147,755,484		
27	Line 26 Less Line 6	Operating Income Needed:	20,608,139	36,510,295	33,365,564	38,416,294	7,322,351	34,020,544	(1,710,246)	24,207,587		
28		Income Tax Factor	0.6022	0.6042	0.6042	0.6045	0.6045	0.6045	0.6045	0.7347		
29	Line 27 / Line 28	Revenue Requirement Change Request	34,220,000	60,430,000	55,225,000	63,550,528	12,113,071	56,278,815	(2,829,191)	32,948,941		
30		Net Revenue Requirement Increase Requested	47,060,873	71,630,000	55,225,000	63,550,528	12,113,071	52,350,957	(2,829,191)	26,165,358		
31		CIAC / Rider Revenue Rebasing Requested	12,840,873	11,200,000				3,927,858		6,783,583		
32		Revenue Requirement Change Granted	28,000,000	<mark>59,000,000</mark>	21,930,575	33,156,017	11,535,857	40,125,968	(3,557,588)	(3,916,417)		
33		Net Base Revenue Increase	17,000,000	41,000,000	21,930,575	33,156,017	11,535,857	33,747,858	(3,557,588)	(10,700,000)		
34		CIAC / Rider Rebasing Revenue	11,000,000	18,000,000				6,378,110		6,783,583		
35		Total Base Rate Increase	28,000,000	59,000,000	21,930,575	33,156,017	11,535,857	40,125,968	(3,557,588)	(3,916,417)		

#### 18-KCPE-095-MER

I, the undersigned, certify that a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing Rate Study of KCP&L and Westar Energy for the years 2008 to 2018 was served via electronic service this 14th day of January, 2019, to the following:

MICHAEL E. AMASH, ATTORNEY BLAKE & UHLIG PA SUITE 475 NEW BROTHERHOOD BLDG 753 STATE AVE. KANSAS CITY, KS 66101 Fax: 913-321-2396 mea@blake-uhlig.com

ANDREW J ZELLERS, GEN COUNSEL/VP REGULATORY AFFAIRS BRIGHTERGY, LLC 1712 MAIN ST 6TH FLR KANSAS CITY, MO 64108 Fax: 816-511-0822 andy.zellers@brightergy.com

TERRI PEMBERTON, ATTORNEY CAFER PEMBERTON LLC 3321 SW 6TH ST TOPEKA, KS 66606 Fax: 785-233-3040 terri@caferlaw.com

THOMAS J. CONNORS, ATTORNEY AT LAW CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 tj.connors@curb.kansas.gov

DAVID W. NICKEL, CONSUMER COUNSEL CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 d.nickel@curb.kansas.gov MARTIN J. BREGMAN BREGMAN LAW OFFICE, L.L.C. 311 PARKER CIRCLE LAWRENCE, KS 66049 mjb@mjbregmanlaw.com

GLENDA CAFER, ATTORNEY CAFER PEMBERTON LLC 3321 SW 6TH ST TOPEKA, KS 66606 Fax: 785-233-3040 glenda@caferlaw.com

CARY CATCHPOLE, ACCOUNTANT/ECONOMIST CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 c.catchpole@curb.kansas.gov

TODD E. LOVE, ATTORNEY CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 t.love@curb.kansas.gov

SHONDA RABB CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 s.rabb@curb.kansas.gov

18-KCPE-095-MER

DELLA SMITH CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3116 d.smith@curb.kansas.gov

JONATHAN LESSER CONTINENTAL ECONOMICS, INC. 6 REAL PLACE SCANDIA PARK, NM 87047 jlesser@continentalecon.com

SHANNON FISK, ATTORNEY EARTHJUSTICE 1617 JOHN F KENNEDY BLVD SUITE 1675 PHILADELPHIA, PA 19103 sfisk@earthjustice.org

DARRELL MCCUBBINS, BUSINESS MANAGER IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 1464 1760 UNIVERSAL AVENUE KANSAS CITY, MO 64120 Fax: 816-483-4239 kwhiteman@ibew1464.org

JASON IANACONE IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 225 IBEW Local 225 PO Box 404 Burlington, KS 66839 jason.ianacone@gmail.com

BRAD MILLER, EAST END ASST. BUS. MGR. IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 304 IBEW Local Union No. 304 3906 NW 16th Street Topeka, KS 66615 bradm@ibew304.org DOROTHY BARNETT CLIMATE & ENERGY PROJECT PO BOX 1858 HUTCHINSON, KS 67504-1858 barnett@climateandenergy.org

DANIEL R. ZMIJEWSKI DRZ LAW FIRM 9229 WARD PARKWAY STE 370 KANSAS CITY, MO 64114 Fax: 816-523-5667 dan@drzlawfirm.com

SARAH STEELE GILMORE & BELL, P.C. ONE MAIN PLACE 100 NORTH MAIN, STE. 800 WICHITA, KS 67202 ssteele@gilmorebell.com

DAVID PINON, BUSINESS MANAGER IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 1613 6900 EXECUTIVE DR SUITE 180 KANSAS CITY, MO 64120 local1613@earthlink.net

JOHN GARRETSON, BUSINESS MANAGER IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 304 3906 NW 16TH STREET TOPEKA, KS 66615 Fax: 785-235-3345 johng@ibew304.org

RANDY ADAMS, BUSINESS MANAGER IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 412 1760 UNIVERSAL AVENUE KANSAS CITY, MO 64120 Fax: 816-231-5515 business.manager@ibew412.org

#### 18-KCPE-095-MER

JOHN KRAJEWSKI, PRESIDENT J K ENERGY CONSULTING LLC 650 J STREET STE 108 LINCOLN, NE 68508 Fax: 402-438-4322 jk@jkenergyconsulting.com

DEBRA D. ROBY, ATTORNEY JENNINGS, STROUSS & SALMON, P.L.C 1350 I Street, NW Suite 810 WASHINGTON, DC 20005 Fax: 202-371-9025 droby@jsslaw.com

SUSAN ALIG, ASSISTANT COUNSEL KANSAS CITY KANSAS BOARD OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 701N 7TH STREET KANSAS CITY, KS 66101 Fax: 913-573-5243 salig@wycokck.org

ROBERT J. HACK, LEAD REGULATORY COUNSEL KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ONE KANSAS CITY PL, 1200 MAIN ST 19TH FLOOR (64105 PO BOX 418679 KANSAS CITY, MO 64141-9679 Fax: 816-556-2787 rob.hack@kcpl.com

ROGER W. STEINER, CORPORATE COUNSEL KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ONE KANSAS CITY PL, 1200 MAIN ST 19TH FLOOR (64105 PO BOX 418679 KANSAS CITY, MO 64141-9679 Fax: 816-556-2787 roger.steiner@kcpl.com

ANTHONY WESTENKIRCHNER, SENIOR PARALEGAL KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ONE KANSAS CITY PL, 1200 MAIN ST 19TH FLOOR (64105 PO BOX 418679 KANSAS CITY, MO 64141-9679 Fax: 816-556-2787 anthony.westenkirchner@kcpl.com ALAN I. ROBBINS, ATTORNEY JENNINGS, STROUSS & SALMON, P.L.C 1350 I Street, NW Suite 810 WASHINGTON, DC 20005 Fax: 202-408-5406 arobbins@jsslaw.com

ANDREA I. SARMENTERO GARZON JENNINGS, STROUSS & SALMON, P.L.C 1350 I Street, NW Suite 810 WASHINGTON, DC 20005 Fax: 202-371-9025 asarmentero@jsslaw.com

ANGELA LAWSON, SENIOR COUNSEL KANSAS CITY KANSAS BOARD OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 540 MINNESOTA AVENUE KANSAS CITY, KS 66101-2930 alawson@bpu.com

DARRIN R. IVES, VICE PRESIDENT, REGULATORY AFFAIRS KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ONE KANSAS CITY PL, 1200 MAIN ST 19TH FLOOR (64105 PO BOX 418679 KANSAS CITY, MO 64141-9679 Fax: 816-556-2110 darrin.ives@kcpl.com

NICOLE A. WEHRY, SENIOR REGULTORY COMMUNICATIONS SPECIALIST KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY ONE KANSAS CITY PL, 1200 MAIN ST 19TH FLOOR (64105 PO BOX 418679 KANSAS CITY, MO 64141-9679 Fax: 816-556-2787 nicole.wehry@kcpl.com

BRIAN G. FEDOTIN, DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL KANSAS CORPORATION COMMISSION 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3354 b.fedotin@kcc.ks.gov

18-KCPE-095-MER

MICHAEL NEELEY, LITIGATION COUNSEL KANSAS CORPORATION COMMISSION 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3167 m.neeley@kcc.ks.gov

SUSAN B. CUNNINGHAM, SVP, REGULATORY AND GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS, GENERAL COUNSEL KANSAS ELECTRIC POWER CO-OP, INC. 600 SW CORPORATE VIEW (66615) PO BOX 4877 TOPEKA, KS 66604-0877 Fax: 785-271-4888 scunningham@kepco.org

JAMES GING, DIRECTOR ENGINEERING SERVICES KANSAS POWER POOL 100 N BROADWAY STE L110 WICHITA, KS 67202 Fax: 888-431-4943 jging@kansaspowerpool.org

ROBERT V. EYE, ATTORNEY AT LAW KAUFFMAN & EYE 4840 Bob Billings Pkwy, Ste. 1010 Lawrence, KS 66049-3862 Fax: 785-749-1202 bob@kauffmaneye.com

KENNETH M. HOLMBOE, ATTORNEY AT LAW KENNETH HOLMBOE 1730 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE NW SUITE 700 WASHINGTON, DC 20036-3155 Fax: 202-289-8450 kh@duncanallen.com

JOHN MICHAEL ADRAGNA ESQ. MCCARTER ENGLISH, LLP 1301K Street, NW Suite 1000 West WASHINGTON, DC 20005 Fax: 202-296-0166 jadragna@mccarter.com AMBER SMITH, CHIEF LITIGATION COUNSEL KANSAS CORPORATION COMMISSION 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 Fax: 785-271-3167 a.smith@kcc.ks.gov

MARK DOLJAC, DIR RATES AND REGULATION KANSAS ELECTRIC POWER CO-OP, INC. 600 SW CORPORATE VIEW (66615) PO BOX 4877 TOPEKA, KS 66604-0877 Fax: 785-271-4888 mdoljac@kepco.org

LARRY HOLLOWAY, ASST GEN MGR OPERATIONS KANSAS POWER POOL 100 N BROADWAY STE L110 WICHITA, KS 67202 Fax: 888-431-4943 Iholloway@kansaspowerpool.org

ASHLEY M. BOND, ATTORNEY KENNETH HOLMBOE 1730 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE NW SUITE 700 WASHINGTON, DC 20036-3155 Fax: 202-289-8450 amb@duncanallen.com

GREGG D. OTTINGER, ATTORNEY KENNETH HOLMBOE 1730 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE NW SUITE 700 WASHINGTON, DC 20036-3155 Fax: 202-289-8450 gdo@duncanallen.com

KIMBERLY BRICKELL FRANK ESQ. MCCARTER ENGLISH, LLP 1301K Street, NW Suite 1000 West WASHINGTON, DC 20005 Fax: 202-296-0166 kfrank@mccarter.com

18-KCPE-095-MER

WILLIAM DOWLING, VP ENGINEERING & ENERGY SUPPLY MIDWEST ENERGY, INC. 1330 CANTERBURY ROAD PO BOX 898 HAYS, KS 67601-0898 Fax: 785-625-1487 bdowling@mwenergy.com

ANNE E. CALLENBACH, ATTORNEY POLSINELLI PC 900 W 48TH PLACE STE 900 KANSAS CITY, MO 64112 Fax: 913-451-6205 acallenbach@polsinelli.com

BORIS STEFFEN RMS US LLP 1861 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE SUITE 400 MCLEAN, VA 22102 boris.steffen@rsmus.com

ANDREW J. FRENCH, ATTORNEY AT LAW SMITHYMAN & ZAKOURA, CHTD. 7400 W 110TH ST STE 750 OVERLAND PARK, KS 66210-2362 Fax: 913-661-9863 andrew@smizak-law.com

RENEE BRAUN, CORPORATE PARALEGAL & CONTRACTS SUPERVISOR SUNFLOWER ELECTRIC POWER CORPORATION 301W. 13TH PO BOX 1020 (67601-1020) HAYS, KS 67601 Fax: 785-623-3395 rbraun@sunflower.net

H. DAVIS ROONEY, VICE PRESIDENT AND CFO SUNFLOWER ELECTRIC POWER CORPORATION 301W. 13TH PO BOX 1020 (67601-1020) HAYS, KS 67601 Fax: 785-623-3395 hrooney@sunflower.net ROBERT MUIRHEAD, REGULATORY-VICE-PRES CUSTOMER SERVICE MIDWEST ENERGY, INC. 1330 Canterbury Rd PO Box 898 Hays, KS 67601-0898 bmuirhead@mwenergy.com

FRANK A. CARO, JR., ATTORNEY POLSINELLI PC 900 W 48TH PLACE STE 900 KANSAS CITY, MO 64112 Fax: 816-753-1536 fcaro@polsinelli.com

SUNIL BECTOR, ATTORNEY SIERRA CLUB 2101 WEBSTER, SUITE 1300 OAKLAND, CA 94312-3011 Fax: 510-208-3140 sunil.bector@sierraclub.org

JAMES P. ZAKOURA, ATTORNEY SMITHYMAN & ZAKOURA, CHTD. 7400 W 110TH ST STE 750 OVERLAND PARK, KS 66210-2362 Fax: 913-661-9863 jim@smizak-law.com

JAMES BRUNGARDT, MANAGER, REGULATORY RELATIONS SUNFLOWER ELECTRIC POWER CORPORATION 301W. 13TH PO BOX 1020 (67601-1020) HAYS, KS 67601 Fax: 785-623-3395 jbrungardt@sunflower.net

AL TAMIMI, VICE PRESIDENT, TRANSMISSION PLANNING AND POLICY SUNFLOWER ELECTRIC POWER CORPORATION 301W. 13TH PO BOX 1020 (67601-1020) HAYS, KS 67601 Fax: 785-623-3395 atamimi@sunflower.net

18-KCPE-095-MER

AMY FELLOWS CLINE, ATTORNEY TRIPLETT, WOOLF & GARRETSON, LLC 2959 N ROCK RD STE 300 WICHITA, KS 67226 Fax: 316-630-8101 amycline@twgfirm.com

MARK D. CALCARA, ATTORNEY WATKINS CALCARA CHTD. 1321 MAIN ST STE 300 PO DRAWER 1110 GREAT BEND, KS 67530 Fax: 620-792-2775 mcalcara@wcrf.com

CATHRYN J. DINGES, CORPORATE COUNSEL WESTAR ENERGY, INC. 818 S KANSAS AVE PO BOX 889 TOPEKA, KS 66601-0889 Fax: 785-575-8136 cathy.dinges@westarenergy.com TIMOTHY E. MCKEE, ATTORNEY TRIPLETT, WOOLF & GARRETSON, LLC 2959 N ROCK RD STE 300 WICHITA, KS 67226 Fax: 316-630-8101 temckee@twgfirm.com

TAYLOR P. CALCARA, ATTORNEY WATKINS CALCARA CHTD. 1321 MAIN ST STE 300 PO DRAWER 1110 GREAT BEND, KS 67530 Fax: 620-792-2775 tcalcara@wcrf.com

DAVID L. WOODSMALL WOODSMALL LAW OFFICE 308 E HIGH ST STE 204 JEFFERSON CITY, MO 65101 Fax: 573-635-7523 david.woodsmall@woodsmalllaw.com